
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code : 8325)

Annual  Report

2017



China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

1

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET 
(“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED 
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment 
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be 
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after 
due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a 
market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be 
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange 
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this 
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any 
loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving 
information with regard to the Company. The Directors having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of 
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and 
not misleading or deceptive; and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or 
this report misleading.
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To all shareholders,

I am pleased to present the annual report of China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017 to the shareholders of the 
Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, we recorded a net loss of approximately HK$17.72 million. A large proportion of 
such loss was due to factors and items such as the share-based compensation cost, fair value loss on contingent 
consideration, fair value loss in relation to our investment in Zhi Cheng Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8130), operating 
loss in relation to the newly established Chongqing-based internet micro-credit company and interest expense related 
to bonds and convertible bonds. If we are to disregard such factors and items from the financial accounts, the net profit 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 recorded is approximately HK$9.93 million and we recorded a net profit of 
approximately HK$20.20 million for the three months ended 31 March 2017.

On the operational side, several positive developments took place. For instance, we have witnessed rapid expansion 
of our internet payment operation. Total internet payment transaction for this year has surpassed RMB13 billion as at 
the date of this report, representing a 7-fold growth compared with the internet payment volume for the entire 2016. 
Transaction volumes for both our healthcare and corporate benefits payment solutions have also surpassed their 2016 
full-year levels by April of this year. The total revenue in our prestige benefits segment for the year ended 31 March 2017 
was approximately HK$180 million, representing a year-over-year growth of 133%.

We adjusted our strategies for the credit business by introducing strong strategic partners. As set out in the 
announcement of the Company dated 14 June 2017, we intends to sell part of our stakes in the Chongqing-based 
micro-credit company to China Minsheng Financial Holding Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 245), a company listed on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and controlled by China Minsheng Investment Group. 

We are in a very competitive sector dominated by big players. To deal with such competitive environment, we must make 
changes to our operating and management structure in order to instill a sense urgency in our team. We must also team 
up with stronger partners in order to bring our operation to a higher level.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all shareholders, investors, 
customers and business partners for your strong support.

Zhang Hauqiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2017
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BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group offers a wide range of value-added and internet payment services to its customers and controls one of the 
only six payment service licences for nationwide prepaid cards and internet payment services in the People’s Republic of 
China (the “PRC”). It has always been the Company’s intention to provide its users with a one-stop solution combining 
payment, benefits and credit services.

For prepaid cards and internet payment services business, the Group has witnessed a rapid growth in our key strategic 
businesses. A highlight of the year is the rapid expansion of the Group’s internet payment operation. Total internet 
payment transaction for the year has surpassed RMB13 billion as at the date of this report, representing a whopping 
7 times growth compared with the internet payment volume for the year of 2016. Transaction volumes for both our 
healthcare and corporate benefits payment solutions have also surpassed their 2016 annual levels in as early as April 
2017.

For prestige benefits business, the Company designs, sells, and manages prepaid benefits packages to banks and 
card issuing organisations which will in turn offer the packages to their own premium members of cardholders. The total 
revenue for this segment for the year ended 31 March 2017 stands at HK$180 million, representing a year-over-year 
growth of 133%.

The Company is adjusting the strategies for the e-commerce and trade financing business by co-operating with strong 
strategic partners. As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 14 June 2017, the Group is selling part of our 

stakes in Massnet Microcredit Company (Chongqing) Limited (重慶市眾網小額貸款有限公司), a company incorporated 
in the PRC with limited liability to China Minsheng Financial Holding Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 245), a company 
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and controlled by China Minsheng Investment Group (“CMIG”). CMIG is 
a leading international private investment group founded in Shanghai with registered capital of RMB50 billion. The joint 
establishment of CMIG by 59 renowned private enterprises was initiated by the All-China Federation of Industry and 
Commerce (ACFIC) and approved by the State Council of the PRC.

For third party card acquiring business in Thailand, transactions volume handled by the Group during the year slightly 
decreased 5.4% to approximately Thai Baht (“Baht”) 26,555 million. The Group is currently working on a promotion 
campaign with King Power Duty Free Co., Ltd., the largest duty free operator and also one of the largest merchants for 
the Group in Thailand, to promote the UnionPay branding. The Group has signed several key new merchants during the 
year, including Show DC Corp. Ltd., a newly developed key shopping centre in Bangkok, for continuing expansion of 
our business in Thailand. Further, the set-up of the Indirect System Host Connection with UnionPay International (“UPI”) 
for our UnionPay third party card acquiring business in Thailand required by UPI was completed in December 2016. The 
indirect system host connection is proposed by UPI and developed to enhance the existing direct system connection 
established earlier between the Group and UPI.

For the investment business, our pre-IPO investment in Nexion Technologies Limited (Stock Code: 8420), an internet 
security specialist, has contributed to its successful initial public offering on 16 June 2017.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK
For payment and benefits business, the Group focuses on business areas with rapid growth potentials to consolidate 
its market position. For credit business, the Group will continue to expand its internet-based credit services that can 
complement with the payment and benefits businesses.
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For third party card acquiring business in Thailand, during the mourning period following the passing of King Bhumibol 
Adulyadej in October 2016, the Group had deployed additional resources to strengthen promotion and marketing 
campaigns in order to boost up the revenue generated from this sector. Moreover, we have been working with UPI 
to launch UnionPay Quickpass/Contactless payment services to both domestic and visiting UnionPay cardholders 
in early 2017, and will endeavor to further simplify the payment process for Chinese tourists in Thailand with a more 
comprehensive servicing approach. The Group is also examining the feasibility to implement the UnionPay Online 
Payment for the Thai market, in order to further strengthen its local market leadership with diversified payment platforms 
offered by UnionPay. With the migration from traditional third party card acquiring business mode to innovative financial 
technology business platform, the Group is currently seeking for funding as the Group projects a need of a significant 
investment in information technology relating to transaction management system and the connection with UPI, for 
deployment of smarter and technically sophisticated point-of-sales (“POS”) terminals for ease of payment and for building 
a quality team of Information Technology (IT) professionals.

To minimize the Group’s reliance of a few major business partners and customers during the past years, namely, UPI and 
King Power, the Group has been expanding global partnership in third party card acquiring services by teaming up with 
global payment networks such as Visa International and Mastercard International in order to render eventual one-stop 
quality payment solution and services to merchants throughout Thailand so as to service diversified international tourists/
cardholders in addition to Chinese tourists.

To exploit the business opportunities under the One Belt One Road national policy of the PRC government, the Group is 
also expanding its UPI business across a network of franchises in the key markets along the Silk Road Economic Belt. 
The Group chooses to tap into Cambodia as the next international market of the Group after Thailand so as to leverage 
on Cambodia’s close economic relationship with the PRC and her development direction which is similar to that of 
Thailand in order to further expand its payment platform experience. The Group envisages that the tourism market and 
investment opportunities of China and Cambodia will continue to grow significantly in the coming years.

For investment business, the Group will continue to capitalise on financial investment opportunities in the Company’s 
related industries or markets to enhance capital returns and to facilitate future growth and development of our core 
business segments.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
The e-commerce and trading financing services, the card acquiring transaction fee income and the foreign exchange 
rate discount income generated from the third party card acquiring business in Thailand, the prepaid cards and internet 
payment business and the prestige benefits business all contributed to the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 
31 March 2017. Total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 amounted to approximately HK$489 
million, of which approximately HK$92 million was attributed to the e-commerce and trading financing services business, 
approximately HK$120 million was attributed to the prepaid cards and internet payment business; approximately HK$97 
million was attributed to the third party card acquiring business in Thailand; and approximately HK$180 was attributed to 
the prestige benefits business respectively.

The income generated from the prepaid cards and internet payment business and prestige benefits business was driven 
by the increasing volume of prepaid cards and internet payment activities. The revenue of prepaid cards and internet 
payment business and prestige benefits business for the year amounted to approximately HK$300 million, representing 
61% of total revenue of the Group.

For the third party card acquiring business, throughout the year under review, total transaction volume handled by the 
Group in Thailand was amounted to approximately Baht26,555 million (equivalent to approximately HK$5,967 million), 
with a slightly decrease of approximately 5% as compared with the same recorded in last year. The decrease was mainly 
due to devaluation of Baht during the year under review.
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Cost of Goods Sold/Cost of Services Rendered
Total cost of goods sold and cost of services rendered was amounted to approximately HK$268 million, represented an 
decrease of approximately 32% as compared with the same recorded in last year. Cost of goods sold for the e-commerce 
and trading financing services business represent the cost for goods traded. The cost of service rendered comprised the 
information network cost and costs of licence fee of the third party card acquiring business in Thailand.

General Administrative Expenses
The general administrative expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 were approximately HK$235 
million, representing an increase of approximately 33% from that of last year. The increase was primarily attributable to 
an increase in overall staff costs, as well as the newly acquired/incorporated subsidiaries.

Selling and Distribution Costs
The selling and distribution costs for the year ended 31 March 2017 amounted to approximately HK$52 million, 
representing an increase of approximately 37% from last year. The increase was mainly due to the higher selling and 
distribution costs at newly acquired/incorporated subsidiaries and also the promotion campaigns for our third party card 
acquiring business in Thailand.

Finance Costs
The finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2017 amounted to approximately HK$31 million, representing an increase 
of approximately 193% from last year. The increase was mainly due to the increase in interest expense on convertible 
bonds and interest expense on bonds.

Loss for the Year
During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group reported a net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company 
amounted to approximately HK$174 million. Basic loss per share was approximately 12.07 HK cents compared with 
basic earnings per share of 5.06 HK cents recorded in last year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
The Group financed its operation through internally generated cash flows, public fund raising (as mentioned in “Fund 
Raising Activities and Use to Proceeds”) and other borrowings.

On 29 July 2016, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with the subscribers to (i) subscribe for the bonds 
in the aggregate principal amount of US$32,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$248,000,000) which are due on 
1 August 2019 (the bonds bear interest at a rate of 9% per annum); and (ii) subscribe for the convertible bonds in the 
aggregate principal amount of US$8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$62,000,000) which are due on 1 August 
2019 and could convert into a maximum of 32,631,578 ordinary shares. The convertible bonds bear interest at a rate 
of 4% per annum. The conversion price at which the Company shall issue ordinary shares to the holder of convertible 
bonds upon conversion will initially be HK$1.90 per Share but will be subject to adjustment in the circumstances, among 
others. The subscription of the bonds and convertible bonds was completed on 1 August 2016 and 12 August 2016, 
respectively. Details of the subscription including the major terms are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 
31 July 2016.

On 2 August 2016, the Company entered into a further subscription agreement with the subscribers to (i) subscribe for 
the further bonds in the aggregate principal amount of US$16,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$124,000,000) 
which are due on 4 August 2019 (the further bonds bear interest at a rate of 9% per annum); and (ii) subscribe 
for the further convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of US$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$31,000,000) which are due on 12 August 2019 and could convert into a maximum 16,315,789 ordinary shares. 
The further convertible bonds bear interest at a rate of 4% per annum. The conversion price at which the Company shall 
issue ordinary shares to the holder of convertible bonds upon conversion will initially be HK$1.90 per Share but will be 
subject to adjustment in the circumstances, among others. The subscription of the further bonds and further convertible 
bonds was completed on 4 August 2016 and 12 August 2016, respectively. Details of the subscription including the 
major terms are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 31 July 2016, 2 August 2016 and 12 August 2016.
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At 31 March 2017, the Group’s other long-term borrowings amounted to Baht7,650,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$1,714,000) (31 March 2016: Baht7,650,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,690,000)) due to a non-controlling 
shareholder, represented the issued and paid up preference share capital of OCG Thailand, which carries cumulative 
dividend at 9.5% per annum and such dividend was recorded as finance costs.

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as a ratio of total borrowings to total assets, for the years ended 31 March 
2017 and 31 March 2016 were approximately 19% and 1% respectively.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$629.80 million (2016: HK$579.34 million). 
Current ratio as at 31 March 2017 was 2.06 (2016: 1.80). The cash and cash equivalents of the Group as at 31 March 
2017 were approximately HK$264.57 million (2016: approximately HK$243.06 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to approximately HK$1,235.26 million as at 31 
March 2017 (2016: approximately HK$1,367.26 million).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND PERFORMANCE
As at 31 March 2017, the Group had investments in securities in Hong Kong with a market value of approximately 
HK$139.70 million, representing a listed equity in Hong Kong. The Group recorded an unrealised fair value gain of 
approximately HK$71.12 million in respect of investment in listed securities as at 31 March 2017. The details of the 
investments as at 31 March 2017 are as follows:

Company
name

Stock 
code 

Number of 
shares held 

 % of 
shareholdings 

 in equity 
investment

 Cost of 
 acquisition 

Unrealised 
 gain on 

 fair value 
since 

acquisition

 Fair value 
 as at 

31 March 
2017

 % of
net assets Principal activities

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Zhi Cheng Holdings Limited 8130 508,000,000 18.29% 68,580 71,120 139,700 10.78% Provision of consultancy services, advertising and 
media related services, project management 
services, travel agency and related operations, 
financial leasing and other financial services. 

During the year, there were no dividend received from the securities held.

Since the share price of the listed securities as set out above dropped from HK$0.41 as at 31 March 2016 to HK$0.275 
as at 31 March 2017, the Group recorded an unrealised fair value loss of approximately HK$68.58 million (2016: fair 
value gain of approximately HK$139.70 million) in respect of investment in listed securities for the year ended 31 March 
2017.

The Board acknowledges that the performance of the equities may be affected by the degree of volatility in the Hong 
Kong stock market and susceptible to other external factors that may affect their values. Accordingly, in order to mitigate 
possible financial risks related to the equities, the Board closely monitors the performance of its investment.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC and Thailand with majority of business transactions being 
denominated and settled in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminbi (“RMB”) and Baht, which are the functional currencies 
of the relevant subsidiaries. The Group’s trade receivables arising from the operation of the third party card acquiring 
business in Thailand are mainly denominated in United States dollars (“US$”). The Directors and senior management 
have monitored the related foreign currency risk exposure closely during the year under review. Pursuant to a written 
foreign currency hedging policy approved by the Directors, the Group will enter into foreign currency forward contracts 
should the needs arise. As at 31 March 2017, the Group has outstanding foreign currency forward contracts for the 
exchange of US$ with Baht of US$3,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$27,974,000) (2016: US$1,500,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$11,631,000)). The Directors and senior management will continue to monitor the foreign 
exchange exposure and will consider other applicable derivatives when necessary. Save as disclosed above, the Group 
did not have other derivatives for hedging against the foreign exchange rate risk as 31 March 2017.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$489.12 million (2016: 
approximately HK$598.30 million) and a loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately HK$174.40 
million as compared with profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately HK$63.82 million for the 
previous year. The basic loss per share was 12.07 HK cents (2016: basic earnings per share 5.06 HK cents).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 March 2017, the Group had a total staff of 443 (2016: 387) of whom 31 (2016: 32) were based in Hong 
Kong, 401 (2016: 330) were based in the PRC, 10 (2016: 13) were based in Thailand and 1 (2016: 12) were based in 
Singapore. The Group develops its human resources policies and procedures based on performance, merit and market 
conditions. The benefits provided by the Group to its employees include discretionary bonuses, medical schemes and 
share options. Discretionary bonus is linked to the performance of the Group as well as individual performance. The 
Group also arranges its staff for training to enhance their skills and knowledge.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT
Save as disclosed in this report, the Group has made no other material acquisitions, disposals or any significant 
investments during the year ended 31 March 2017.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Date of 
announcement

Fund raising 
activities Net Proceeds

Intended use of 
proceeds

Actual use of 
proceeds

31 July 2016 and  
2 August 2016

(i)	 Issuance of bonds 
in the aggregate 
principal amount  
of US$48,000,000.

(ii)	 Subscription 
of 48,947,367 
convertible shares 
in the aggregate 
US$12,000,000 
under general 
mandate at the 
conversion price of 
HK$1.90 per share.

Approximately  
US$59.1 million

As the capital of the 
microcredit capital of 
the Group and business 
expansion and other 
acquisitions of the 
Group.

(i)	 Approximately 
US$45.1 million 
was used as 
the capital of 
the microcredit 
company in the 
PRC.

(ii)	 the remaining was 
used for investment 
in China Union 
Loyalty Co. Limited.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Saved as disclosed in the annual report, as at 31 March 2017, the Group had commitments contracted for but not 
provided in the consolidated financial statements amounting to HK$38.33 million in respect of the acquisition of equity 
interests in subsidiaries/associates (2016: HK$0.52 million in respect of the acquisition of intangible assets).

CHARGES ON ASSETS
At at 31 March 2016, the Group’s leasehold land and buildings with net carrying amount of approximately 
HK$31,816,000 was pledged to a financial institution in the PRC for securing a loan facility of RMB22,400,000 (equivalent 
to HK$26,941,000) granted to Open Union. No charges on asset noted as at 31 March 2017.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Saved as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 March 2017, the Group did not have any significant contingent 
liabilities.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after the reporting period are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

INFORMATION ON THE STRUCTURED AGREEMENTS
(i)	 The Colourful Structured Agreements

On 20 April 2015, the Group entered into sale and purchase agreements (the “Agreements”) with certain 
independent third parties (the “Vendors”) pursuant to which the Group/the Vendors both agree to acquire/sell the 
entire equity interests of AE Investment Consulting Limited (“AE Investment”) and its subsidiaries (together the “AE 
Group”) (the “AE Acquisition”). The AE Group is primarily engaged in the issuance of prestige benefits cards to 
premium consumers and financial institutions. Details of the AE Acquisition are set out in the Company’s circular 
dated 12 June 2015.

The completion of the AE Acquisition is conditional upon, inter alias, satisfaction of the approval of the AE Share 
Subscription contemplated thereunder in a general meeting of the Company which shall not be waived in any 
event. Accordingly, the AE Acquisition and the AE Share Subscription was considered as a single transaction.

On 8 July 2015, the AE Acquisition was completed.

On 17 July 2015, the Company also completed a subscription agreement with the Vendors to issue and 
subscribe 63,953,488 ordinary shares of the Company at the subscription price of HK$2.15 per share, amounting 
to proceeds of approximately HK$137.5 million (the “AE First Tranche Share Subscription”). Upon the completion 
of the AE First Tranche Share Subscription, the first tranche consideration of the AE Acquisition was deemed to 
be satisfied.

63,953,488 ordinary shares issued under the AE First Tranche Share Subscription were deemed as part of the 
consideration transferred for the AE Acquisition. The fair value of the shares issued was measured in accordance 
with the published share price at the date of acquisition (i.e. 8 July 2015).

The second tranche consideration and the third tranche consideration of the AE Acquisition shall be a maximum 
of HK$125 million which shall be settled by the allotment and issue of a maximum of 58,139,534 new ordinary 
shares of the Company at an issue price of HK$2.15 per share to the Vendors. The second tranche consideration 
and the third tranche consideration of the AE Acquisition is subject to adjustments on the basis of the 
performance targets as stated in the Agreements in respect of the AE Acquisition.
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On 11 January 2017, an aggregate of 25,116,279 ordinary shares of the Company was allotted and issued at 
the subscription price of HK$2.15 per Share (the “AE Second Tranche Share Subscription”) as settlement of the 
second tranche consideration of the AE Acquisition.

By implementation of a series of structured agreements entered between an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of 

the Company, 客樂芙信息技術(上海)有限公司 (Colourful Message Technology (Shanghai) Limited*, “Colourful” 
upon completion of the AE Acquisition), Shanghai Jingyuan and the legal owners of Shanghai Jingyuan (the 
“Colourful Structured Agreements”), Colourful had obtained control over Shanghai Jingyuan and Colourful is 
entitled, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with Shanghai Jingyuan and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over Shanghai Jingyuan.

A summary of the information of AE Group, Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan, Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders and the 
Colourful Structured Agreements entered into between Colourful and Shanghai Jingyuan is set out below.

1.1	 Particulars of AE Investment, AE Group, Colourful and Shanghai Jingyuan
AE Investment is an investment holding company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. AE Group is 
principally engaged in the issuance of prestige benefits cards to premium consumers and financial institutions.

Colourful is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability. The entire interest of Colourful is wholly 
owned by AE Investment and indirectly held by the Group upon completion of the AE Acquisition. It has 
an approved business scope of provision of computer software development, design, production; sales of 
self-developed products; provision of related information technology consultation and technical support services; 
the wholesaling of similar computer software products; conducting import and export business; and provision of 
agency service for commission (other than auction).

Shanghai Jingyuan is a limited liability company incorporated in PRC.

The registered shareholders of the Shanghai Jingyuan are Mr. Lin Xiaofeng (林曉峰) (“Mr. Lin”) and Mr. Sun Yixin 
(孫懿鑫) (“Mr. Sun”). Each of Mr. Lin and Mr. Sun owns 50% of the equity interests of the Shanghai Jingyuan as at 
the date of this report.

Mr. Lin is a PRC citizen. He is a registered shareholder of the Shanghai Jingyuan holding, as at the date of this 
report, 50% of the equity interests of the Shanghai Jingyuan and is an employee of the Group.

Mr. Sun is a PRC citizen. He is a registered shareholder of the Shanghai Jingyuan holding, as at the date of this 
report, 50% of the equity interests of the Shanghai Jingyuan and is an employee of the Group.

It is primarily engaged in the issuance and sales of the benefit cards to premium consumers and financial 
institutions. Colourful entered into the Colourful Structured Agreements with Shanghai Jingyuan in order to gain 
control over financing and business operations of Shanghai Jingyuan, and to be entitled to the economic interest 
and benefits of Shanghai Jingyuan.
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1.2	 Description of the business of AE Group
A substantial portion of revenue and profit of AE Group was derived from its issuance and sales of the benefits 
card business. AE Group generates revenue through its benefit cards via (i) telemarketing of benefit cards by 
the call center of its partner banks; and (ii) the bulk purchase of the benefit cards by banks and card issuing 
companies.

1.3	 Summary of the major terms of the Colourful Structured Agreements
The Colourful Structured Agreements have been entered into among the parties to facilitate the contractual 
arrangement among AE Group, Colourful and Shanghai Jingyuan. Through the Colourful Structured Agreements 
and the AE Acquisition, the Group is able to exercise full and effective control over the finance and operation of 
Shanghai Jingyuan and in effect obtain the entire economic interest and benefits in Shanghai Jingyuan.

The Colourful Structured Agreements include (i) the Business Cooperation Agreement; (ii) the Technical 
Consultation and Services Agreement; (iii) the Pledge Agreements; (iv) the Share Disposal Agreements; (v) the 
Voting Rights Proxy Agreements; (vi) the Spouse Consent; and (vii) the Undertaking Letters entered into by the 
relevant parties. A summary of the principal terms of the Colourful Structured Agreements is set out below:

A.	 Business Cooperation Agreement
Parties: (i)	 Colourful; and

(ii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan.

Term: The Business Cooperation Agreement shall take effect from the date of its 
execution and shall remain effective unless it is terminated by Colourful by 
giving 30 days’ prior written notice to Shanghai Jingyuan or is required to be 
terminated under applicable PRC laws and regulations.

Services: Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement, Shanghai Jingyuan 
appointed Colourful as its exclusive service provider to provide complete 
technical support, business support and related consulting services during 
the term of the Business Cooperation Agreement in accordance with its 
terms and conditions, which may include all necessary services within the 
scope of Shanghai Jingyuan’s business as may be determined from time to 
time by Shanghai Jingyuan and consented by Colourful, such as technical 
services, business consultations, equipment or property leasing, marketing 
consultancy, system integration, product research and development, system 
maintenance. Under the approved business scope of Colourful, Colourful is 
allowed to (i) provide computer software development, design and production; 
(ii) sell self-developed products; (iii) provide related information technology 
consultation and technical support services; (iv) conduct wholesale of similar 
computer software products; (v) conduct import and export business; and 
(vi) provide agency service for commission (other than auction). Accordingly, 
these services are provided within the approved business scope of Colourful.

Fees: Details of the services to be provided by Colourful to Shanghai Jingyuan, the 
service fees and the payment terms are set out in the Technical Consultation 
and Services Agreement.
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B.	 Technical Consultation and Services Agreement
Parties: (i)	 Colourful; and

(ii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan.

Term: The Technical Consultation and Services Agreement shall be effective 
perpetually from the date of its execution until Colourful agrees in writing to its 
termination.

Services: Pursuant to the Technical Consultation and Services Agreement, Colourful 
is the exclusive consultation and service provider of Shanghai Jingyuan and 
shall provide consultation and services to Shanghai Jingyuan in the areas 
of funding, human resources, technology and intellectual properties. The 
consultation and services to be provided by Colourful include (i) research and 
development of the relevant software and technology according to the needs 
of Shanghai Jingyuan’s business and granting of the right to use the relevant 
software and technology to Shanghai Jingyuan; (ii) development, design, 
monitoring, testing and troubleshooting of the computer network equipment 
and website(s) of Shanghai Jingyuan; (iii) providing training and technical 
support to the staff of Shanghai Jingyuan; and (iv) providing consultation 
services regarding the marketing of Shanghai Jingyuan. Under the approved 
business scope of Colourful, Colourful is allowed to (i) provide computer 
software development, design and production; (ii) sell self-developed 
products; (iii) provide related information technology consultation and 
technical support services; (iv) conduct wholesale of similar computer software 
products; (v) conduct import and export business; and (vi) provide agency 
service for commission (other than auction). Accordingly, these services are 
provided within the approved business scope of Colourful.

Fees: Shanghai Jingyuan shall pay an annual service fee of RMB1 million to Colourful 
for the technical consultation services under the Technical Consultation and 
Services Agreement. Such fees will be payable on quarterly basis and shall 
be settled within 15 business days after the beginning of the relevant quarter. 
Nevertheless, in the event that Shanghai Jingyuan does not have sufficient 
working capital to settle the service fees, Shanghai Jingyuan has the right not 
to settle such fees.

Apart from the abovementioned annual service fees, Shanghai Jingyuan 
shall also, based on the actual amount of technical consultation and services 
provided by Colourful under the Technical Consultation and Services 
Agreement in the relevant quarter, pay a quarterly floating service fee to 
Colourful. Such floating fees shall be in the amount equivalent to the net 
income of Shanghai Jingyuan in the relevant quarter, including but not limited 
to, its revenue in each quarter or to be determined after taking into account, 
among other things, the number and qualification of the staff deployed to 
provide services and the time spent to provide the services for the relevant 
quarter.
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C.	 Pledge Agreements
Parties: (i)	 Colourful (as pledgee);

(ii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders (each of them entered into a Pledge 
Agreement separately)(as pledgor); and

(iii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan.

Pledge: Pursuant to the Pledge Agreements, each of Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders 
pledged to Colourful his/her respective equity interests in Shanghai Jingyuan 
as security for the full performance by Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders 
and Shanghai Jingyuan of their obligations under the Colourful Structured 
Agreements and the timely and full payment of fees payable to Colourful 
under the Colourful Structured Agreements (including but not limited to the 
consultation and service fees).

The pledge shall take effect from the date of registration of the same with the 
relevant Industrial and Commercial Administration Bureau in the PRC and 
shall remain effective until the abovementioned registration is discharged or 
released. The parties agreed that within three business days following the 
execution of the Pledge Agreements, Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders and 
Shanghai Jingyuan shall register the pledge in the shareholders’ register of 
Shanghai Jingyuan.

Prior to the full payment of the consultation and service fees under the 
Colourful Structured Agreements, Colourful shall have the right to dispose of 
the pledge under the Pledge Agreements.

Termination: If (i) the Colourful Structured Agreements (other than the Pledge Agreements) 
are terminated in accordance with their respective terms; (ii) Shanghai 
Jingyuan shall no longer be held responsible for any obligations under 
the Colourful Structured Agreements; and (iii) Colourful agrees in writing 
to terminate the Pledge Agreements, the Pledge Agreements shall be 
terminated and Colourful shall then release the equity pledge under the Pledge 
Agreements as soon as reasonably practicable.

Undertakings: Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders and Shanghai Jingyuan undertake to 
Colourful, among other things, that:

(i)	 unless with the prior written consent of Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan 
shall not commence any operation activities (other than its ordinary and 
usual business) and shall not incur, inherit, provide guarantee for, or 
allow the existence of, any liability;

(ii)	 they shall maintain the asset value of Shanghai Jingyuan and shall not 
conduct any act or omission which will affect the operating conditions 
and asset value of Shanghai Jingyuan;
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(iii)	 unless with the prior written consent of Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan 
shall not enter into any agreements with other party (other than those 
entered into in its ordinary and usual course of business); and

(iv)	 without the prior written consent of Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan 
Shareholders and Shanghai Jingyuan shall not, from the date of 
the Pledge Agreement, dispose of, transfer, pledge, or through any 
other means to dispose of any of the legal or beneficial interests of 
Shanghai Jingyuan over its assets, business or income, or creating any 
encumbrances over such interests.

Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders (as the pledgors) undertakes to Colourful (as 
the pledge), among the other things, that:

(i)	 saved in respect of the performance of the obligations of the 
parties under the Share Disposal Agreements, Shanghai Jingyuan 
Shareholders shall not, without the prior written consent of Colourful, 
transfer their equity interests in Shanghai Jingyuan, or create or 
allow the creation of any encumbrances over their equity interests in 
Shanghai Jingyuan during the term of the Pledge Agreements.

D.	 Share Disposal Agreements
Parties: (i)	 Colourful;

(ii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan; and

(iii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders (each of them entered into a Share 
Disposal Agreement separately).

Option: In consideration of the payment of RMB1 by Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan 
Shareholders irrevocably agreed that on the condition that it is permitted 
by the PRC laws, Colourful has the right to require Shanghai Jingyuan 
Shareholders to fulfill and complete all approval and registration procedures 
as required under the PRC laws so as to allow Colourful to purchase, or 
designate one or more persons (each, a “Designee”) to purchase, the entire 
equity interests of Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders in Shanghai Jingyuan or 
any part thereof, at one or multiple time(s) at any time at Colourful’s sole and 
absolute discretion and at the lowest price as permitted by the laws of PRC 
at the relevant time (such right being the “Equity Interest Purchase Option”). 
Colourful’s Equity Interest Purchase Option shall be exclusive. Shanghai 
Jingyuan agrees to the grant by Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders of the Equity 
Interest Purchase Option to Colourful.

Without the prior written consent of Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan 
Shareholders shall not assign or delegate its rights and obligations under the 
Share Disposal Agreements.
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Term: The Share Disposal Agreements shall take effect from the date of its execution 
and shall remain effective until all the equity interests in Shanghai Jingyuan 
owned by Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders have been legally transferred to 
Colourful or its designee(s) in accordance with the terms of the Share Disposal 
Agreements.

Undertakings: Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders and Shanghai Jingyuan undertake to 
Colourful, among other things, that:

(i)	 unless with the prior written consent of Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan 
shall not commence any operation activities (other than its ordinary and 
usual business) and shall not incur, inherit, provide guarantee for or 
allow the existence of, any liability;

(ii)	 they shall maintain the asset value of Shanghai Jingyuan and shall not 
conduct any act or omission which will affect the business operations 
and asset value of Shanghai Jingyuan; and

(iii)	 unless with the prior written consent of Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan 
shall not enter into any agreements with other party (other than those 
entered into in its ordinary and usual course of business).

Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders further undertake to Colourful, among other 
things, that:

(i)	 without the prior written consent of Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan 
Shareholders shall not dispose of, transfer, pledge, or through any 
other means to dispose of any of their legal or beneficial interests of 
Shanghai Jingyuan, or creating any encumbrances over the legal or 
beneficial interests of Shanghai Jingyuan, save in respect of the pledge 
of equity interest to Colourful in accordance with the terms of the 
Pledge Agreements;

(ii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders shall procure the board of directors of 
Shanghai Jingyuan not to approve any sale, transfer, pledge, disposal 
or creation of any encumbrances over the legal or beneficial interests of 
Shanghai Jingyuan without the prior written consent of Colourful, save 
in respect of the pledge of equity interest to Colourful in accordance 
with the terms of the Pledge Agreements; and

(iii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders shall procure the board of directors of 
Shanghai Jingyuan not to approve any acquisition or investment from 
any person, either individually by Shanghai Jingyuan or jointly with any 
other person, without the prior written consent of Colourful.
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E.	 Voting Rights Proxy Agreements
Parties: (i)	 Colourful;

(ii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan; and

(iii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders (each of them entered into a Voting 
Rights Proxy Agreement separately)

Proxy of voting rights: Pursuant to the Voting Rights Proxy Agreements, Colourful (or its designee, 
which/who can be a director or successor of the direct or indirect shareholder 
of Colourful (including a liquidator replacing such director and/or his/her 
successor)) will have the power to, inter alia, exercise all shareholder’s 
voting rights with respect to all matters to be discussed and voted in the 
shareholders’ meeting of Shanghai Jingyuan, including but not limited to 
designation and appointment of, among others, director, chief executive 
officer and other senior management members of Shanghai Jingyuan, and 
execution of all necessary documents to be signed by the shareholders of 
Shanghai Jingyuan, minutes of Shanghai Jingyuan and any documents for 
registration to be lodged with relevant authority for and on behalf of Shanghai 
Jingyuan Shareholders.

Term: The Voting Rights Proxy Agreements shall be effective perpetually from the 
date of its execution until Colourful agrees in writing to its termination.

Undertakings: Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders and Shanghai Jingyuan undertake to 
Colourful, among other things, that:

(i)	 unless with the prior written consent of Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan 
shall not commence any operation activities (other than its those 
ordinary and usual business) and shall not incur, inherit, provide 
guarantee for, or allow the existence of, any liability;

(ii)	 they shall maintain the asset value of Shanghai Jingyuan and shall not 
conduct any act or omission which will affect the operating conditions 
and asset value of Shanghai Jingyuan; and

(iii)	 unless with the prior written consent of Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan 
shall not enter into any agreements with other party (other than those 
entered into in its ordinary and usual course of business).
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F.	 Spouse Consent
Parties: Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders (as the spouse of each other).

Particulars: Pursuant to the Spouse Consent, the spouse of each of Shanghai Jingyuan 
Shareholders confirmed, inter alia, (i) that he/she does not have any interests 
in the equity interests in Shanghai Jingyuan held by his/her spouse and 
undertakes not to make any claim in relation to such interests in Shanghai 
Jingyuan; (ii) confirms that the Pledge Agreement, the Share Disposal 
Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement entered into by each 
of Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders and any amendment or termination of 
such documents do not require his/her consent; (iii) undertakes to sign all 
the necessary documentation and do all necessary acts to ensure the proper 
performance of the aforesaid documents; and (iv) undertakes that if he/she 
is, due to whatsoever reason, entitled to any equity interests in Shanghai 
Jingyuan held by his/her spouse, he/she will be bound by the obligations 
as its shareholder under those documents (as amended from time to time), 
and to notify Colourful immediately of any breach of such documents or any 
material change of Shanghai Jingyuan and to assist Colourful in protecting its 
legitimate rights and obligations under those documents.

G.	 Undertaking Letters
Parties: (i)	 Colourful; and

(ii)	 Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders (each of them entered into a 
Undertaking Letter separately).

Undertaking: The undertakings of Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders under the Undertaking 
Letters are as follows:

(i)	 to follow the instructions of Colourful in relation to the amendments to 
or termination of the Colourful Structured Agreements for compliance 
with (i) the laws, regulations and rules in the PRC (as amended from 
time to time); (ii) the GEM Listing Rules and the relevant rules and 
requirements as promulgated or amended from time to time; and (iii) 
the approval of Shareholders (other than those required to abstain 
from voting under the GEM Listing Rules) at the general meeting of 
the Company in respect of amendments to and/or termination of the 
Colourful Structured Agreements. Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders 
shall also agree with such amendments to or termination of the 
Colourful Structured Agreements and procure Shanghai Jingyuan to 
agree to the same;
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(ii)	 after termination of the Colourful Structured Agreements, Shanghai 
Jingyuan Shareholders shall immediately and unconditionally return 
to Colourful the consideration received in any form pursuant to 
the Colourful Structured Agreements. Each of Shanghai Jingyuan 
Shareholders further undertakes that he/she would procure Shanghai 
Jingyuan to do the same;

(iii)	 necessary arrangements have been made to protect the rights of 
Colourful under the Colourful Structured Agreements in case of death, 
bankruptcy or divorce of Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders;

(iv)	 to transfer his/her interest in Shanghai Jingyuan and all the rights 
attached thereto at the lowest price as permitted by the PRC laws 
to the individual or entity as designated by Colourful in accordance 
with the applicable PRC laws in the event that any one of Shanghai 
Jingyuan Shareholders (as the case may be) becomes incapable of 
performing the normal duty as a shareholder of Shanghai Jingyuan due 
to death, bankruptcy, divorce or any other incident; and

(v)	 not to incur any unsecured personal loan (either one-off or 
accumulated) in an aggregate amount of more than RMB100,000 
without written consent of Colourful or its direct or indirect 
shareholders.

2.	 Revenue and assets subject to the Colourful Structured Agreements
The revenue attributable to Shanghai Jingyuan (i.e. the Colourful Structured Agreements) amounted to 
approximately RMB151,261,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$180,232,000) for the year ended 31 March 
2017 (2016: approximately RMB61,422,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$75,420,000)). The total assets and 
net assets attributable to Shanghai Jingyuan (i.e. the Colourful Structured Agreements) amounted to approximately 
RMB68,374,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$77,084,000) (2016: approximately RMB21,971,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$26,426,000)) and RMB29,836,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$33,637,000) (2016: 
RMB7,506,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,028,000)) as at 31 March 2017.

3.	 Reasons for using the Colourful Structured Agreements
Shanghai Jingyuan is principally engaged in the issue and sale of prestige benefits card and it has commissioned 
its partner banks and credit card centers to sell its benefit cards via telemarketing. The sales of the benefit cards 
through telemarketing represented over 70% of Shanghai Jingyuan’s total revenue. Telemarketing of Shanghai 
Jingyuan is mainly done through two channels, namely the third party call center and the call centers of the 
partner banks. However, the partner banks are aware of the privacy issues in respect of customers’ data being 
handled by third party call center and are seeking to separate its sales and marketing functions of the benefit 
cards from its own call center business. As a result, the partner banks have requested Shanghai Jingyuan to set 
up its own call center and gradually shift all telemarketing activities to Shanghai Jingyuan’s call center.

Shanghai Jingyuan currently possesses the licence for value-added telecommunications business operation 

(增值電信業務經營許可證) (the “Licence”) issued by 中華人民共和國工業和信息化部(the Ministry of Industry and 
Information Technology of the PRC) (“MIIT”) which permits Shanghai Jingyuan’s operation of call center business 
in the PRC.



China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

21

Management Discussion and Analysis
 

According to the PRC legal adviser of the Group, the call center business operated by Shanghai Jingyuan is 
regulated by the relevant telecommunications regulatory departments of the PRC and is a type of value-added 
telecommunications business in which foreign investment is restricted. Foreign investment in such business 

is subject to the pre-approval by the MIIT. According to 外商投資電信企業管理規定 (the Provisions on the 
Administration of Foreign-funded Telecommunications Enterprises), the ultimate proportion of contribution of the 
foreign investors of a foreign-funded telecommunications enterprise that is engaged in the value-added services 
(including the radio paging business in the basic telecommunications services) shall not be more than 50%. In 

addition, according to 外商投資產業指導目錄（2015年修訂）(the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign 
Investment (2015 Amended)), value-added telecommunications business is a business with restricted foreign 
investment and foreign ownership in such business cannot exceed 50% (except for e-commerce business).

In 2015, Shanghai Jingyuan has obtained the licence for value-added telecommunications business operation 

issued by 中華人民共和國工業和信息化部 (the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC) which 
allows it to operate the call center business in the PRC and it is expected that the call center of Shanghai Jingyuan 
will begin operation in mid-2015. Therefore, having considered that the call center operation is an essential sales 
channel of the benefits card issued by Shanghai Jingyuan, Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan and Shanghai Jingyuan 
Shareholders have entered into a series of the Colourful Structured Agreements to enable Colourful to be entitled 
to the entire economic benefits and to bear the risks of the businesses of Shanghai Jingyuan and to gain control 
over Shanghai Jingyuan. Each of Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders has also entered into an Undertaking Letter to 
safeguard the interest of Colourful and its direct or indirect shareholders.

4.	 Risks relating to the Colourful Structured Agreements
The PRC government may determine that the Colourful Structured Agreements do not comply with the applicable 
laws and regulations:
The PRC legal adviser of the Group is of the opinion that the Colourful Structured Agreements do not violate the 
mandatory laws and regulations in the PRC and are not considered to be in violation of Article 52 of the PRC 
Contract Law, which renders void any contracts deemed to be“concealing illegal intentions with a lawful form”, 
and the related rules of the General Principle of Civil Law of the PRC, and therefore they are valid, binding and 
enforceable among relevant parties. However, the PRC legal adviser of the Group is also of the view that there 
can be no assurance that the Colourful Structured Agreements will be deemed by the relevant governmental or 
judicial authorities to be in compliance with the existing or future applicable PRC laws and regulations, or the 
relevant governmental or judicial authorities may in the future interpret the existing laws or regulations in the way 
that the Colourful Structured Agreements will be deemed to be in compliance of the PRC laws and regulations.

The Colourful Structured Agreements may not be as effective as direct ownership in providing control over 
Shanghai Jingyuan:
The Group relies on contractual arrangements under the Colourful Structured Agreements with Shanghai Jingyuan 
to operate the benefits card business in the PRC. These contractual arrangements may not be as effective in 
providing the Group with control over Shanghai Jingyuan as direct ownership in rare circumstances. If the Group 
had direct ownership of Shanghai Jingyuan, the Group would be able to deal with the equity interests in and the 
assets of Shanghai Jingyuan under any winding up situation.

Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders may have potential conflict of interests with the Group:
The Group’s control over Shanghai Jingyuan is based on the contractual arrangement under the Colourful 
Structured Agreements. Therefore, conflict of interests of Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders will adversely affect 
the interests of the Company.
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The contractual arrangements under the Colourful Structured Agreements may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC 
tax authorities and transfer pricing adjustments and additional tax may be imposed:
The Group could face material adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax authorities determine that the contractual 
arrangements under the Colourful Structured Agreements were not entered into based on arm’s length 
negotiations. If the PRC tax authorities determine that the Colourful Structured Agreements were not entered into 
on an arm’s length basis, they may adjust the Group’s income and expenses for PRC tax purposes in the form of 
a transfer pricing adjustment. A transfer pricing adjustment could adversely affect the Group’s financial position 
by increasing the relevant tax liability without reducing the tax liabilities of Shanghai Jingyuan, and this could 
further result in late payment fees and other penalties to Shanghai Jingyuan for under-paid taxes. As a result, any 
transfer pricing adjustment could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position and results of 
operations.

The Company does not have any insurance which covers the risks relating to the Colourful Structured Agreements 
and the transactions contemplated thereunder:
The insurance of the Group does not cover the risks relating to the Colourful Structured Agreements and the 
transactions contemplated thereunder and the Company has no intention to purchase any new insurance in 
this regard. If any risk arises from the Colourful Structured Agreements in the future, such as those affecting 
the enforceability of the Colourful Structured Agreements and the relevant agreements for the transactions 
contemplated thereunder and the operation of Shanghai Jingyuan, the results of the Group may be adversely 
affected.

Certain provisions in the Colourful Structured Agreements may not be enforceable under the PRC laws:
The Colourful Structured Agreements include a clause in relation to dispute resolution among the parties where 
upon request by a disputing party, the courts in the PRC, Hong Kong and Cayman Islands shall have the power 
to grant interim remedies, such as withholding or freezing of the assets or on the equity interests of the party in 
breach. Upon the coming into effect of the relevant arbitral award, any party shall have the right to apply to the 
courts in the abovementioned jurisdictions for execution of such award. However, due to restrictions of the PRC 
laws, the PRC legal adviser of the Group is of the view that, even though the Colourful Structured Agreements 
provide that overseas courts (i.e. courts in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands) shall have the power to grant 
interim remedies, such interim remedies (even if so granted by courts in Hong Kong or the Cayman Islands in 
favour of an aggrieved party) may not be recognised or enforced by the PRC courts. As a result, in the event that 
Shanghai Jingyuan or any of Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders breaches the terms of the Colourful Structured 
Agreements, the Company may not be able to obtain sufficient remedies in a timely manner, and its ability to exert 
effective control over Shanghai Jingyuan could be materially and adversely affected.

The Company may incur substantial costs when the equity interests in Shanghai Jingyuan are transferred from 
Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders to the Group:
As advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Group, under the current PRC laws, the legal or regulatory restriction in 

exercising the Equity Interest Purchase Option is 外商投資電信企業管理規定 (the Provisions on the Administration 
of Foreign-funded Telecommunications Enterprises) and 外商投資產業指導目錄（2015年修定）(the Catalogue 
of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment (2015 Amended)). The Company will unwind the Colourful Structured 
Agreements and procure Colourful to acquire the equity interests of Shanghai Jingyuan as soon as the relevant 
foreign investment restrictions in the PRC no longer exist. However, even if the foreign ownership restriction is 
relaxed, the transfer of the equity interests in Shanghai Jingyuan from Shanghai Jingyuan Shareholders to the 
Group may still be subject to substantial costs.
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5.	 Material change
Saved as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, there is no material change in the Colourful 
Structured Agreements entered between Shanghai Jingyuan and Colourful and/or the circumstances under which 
they were adopted.

6.	 Unwinding of the Colourful Structured Agreements
The Company has undertaken to unwind the Colourful Structured Agreements entered between Shanghai 
Jingyuan and Colourful as soon as the relevant foreign investment restrictions in the PRC no longer exist such 
that the Company is allowed to hold interests in Shanghai Jingyuan directly or indirectly.

However, as at the date of this annual report, there is no unwinding of any of the Colourful Structured Agreements 
entered between Shanghai Jingyuan and Colourful nor any changes to the relevant foreign investment restrictions 
in the PRC.

(ii)	 The Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements
On 25 May 2014, the Group entered into a framework agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) on the acquisition 
of 33% interests in Beijing Weike, which is a company established in the PRC with limited liability and holds 90% 
equity interests in Open Union. On 23 September 2014, upon completion of the acquisition of 33% interest in 
Beijing Weike and its 90%-owned subsidiary, Open Union (collectively referred as to the “Beijing Weike Group”), 
which are engaged in the issuance and acceptance of prepaid cards and the provision of internet payment 

service, through the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements (as defined below) with 上海雍勒信息技術有
限公司 (Shanghai Yongle Information Technology Company Limited*, “Shanghai Yongle”), at an aggregated 
cash consideration of RMB156,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$196,076,000) (the “Beijing Weike 
JV Transaction”), Beijing Weike is classified as a joint venture of the Group and accounted for in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements under the equity method. Details of the Beijing Weike JV Transaction are set out 
in the Company’s circular dated 1 September 2014.

On 15 October 2014, Beijing Weike, the shareholder of Beijing Weike, Shanghai Yongle, the shareholders of 

Shanghai Yongle (the “Shanghai Yongle Shareholders”) and 深圳前海雍勒信息技術服務有限公司 (Shenzhen 
Qianhai Yongle Information Services Limited*, “Shenzhen Yongle”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company, also entered into an option framework agreement on the proposed exercise of the call option to 
acquire the remaining 67% interest in Beijing Weike by Shanghai Yongle (the “Beijing Weike Acquisition”). Upon 
completion of the Beijing Weike Acquisition on 27 January 2015, Shenzhen Yongle, through Shanghai Yongle, 
acquired the remaining 67% interest in Beijing Weike at an aggregated consideration of RMB312,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$392,152,000) which was settled by cash. Upon completion of the Beijing Weike 
Acquisition, Shenzhen Yongle, through Shanghai Yongle, enjoys 100% interest in Beijing Weike and Beijing Weike 
is classified as a subsidiary of the Group. Details of the Beijing Weike Acquisition are set out in the Company’s 
circular dated 29 December 2014.

To facilitate the Beijing Weike JV Transaction and the Beijing Weike Acquisition, the Group’s indirect wholly 
owned subsidiary, Shenzhen Yongle entered into a series of structured agreements (the “Shenzhen Yongle 
Structured Agreements”) with Shanghai Yongle (which acquired 33% equity interests of Beijing Weike under the 
Beijing Weike JV Transaction and further acquired the remaining 67% equity interests in Beijing Weike under the 
Beijing Weike Acquisition), and the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders which enables Shenzhen Yongle to: (i) exercise 
effective financial and operational control over Shanghai Yongle; (ii) exercise the entire owners’ voting rights of 
Shanghai Yongle; (iii) receive and be exposed to substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by 
Shanghai Yongle; (iv) have an irrevocable option to purchase the entire equity interest in Shanghai Yongle when 
and to the extent permitted under the PRC laws; and (v) obtain pledges over the entire equity interest of Shanghai 
Yongle from the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders.

*   English translation for identification purpose only
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A summary of the information of Shenzhen Yongle, Shanghai Yongle, the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders, Beijing 
Weike, Open Union and the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements is set out below. 

1.1	 Particulars of Shenzhen Yongle, Shanghai Yongle, the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders, Beijing 
Weikie and Open Union
Shenzhen Yongle, a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC, is an indirect wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company. The business scope of Shenzhen Yongle includes (i) development and 
provision of consultancy of computer hardware and software and network technology; (ii) provision of 
relevant technological services in respect of marketing promotion of bank cards and payment platform 
related products; and (iii) provision of consultancy of economic information. 

Shanghai Yongle is a company established in the PRC with limited liability in accordance with the 
instruction of the Company for the investment in Open Union by the Group as contemplated under 
the Framework Agreement. The business scope of Shanghai Yongle includes provision of relevant 
technology development, technological services, technological consultation, technology transfer, 
software development and sales, graphic design, integration of computer system, sales and lease of 
hardware, consumable resources and office equipment (except finance lease) and network technology 
(excluding technology intermediary) within the scope of information technology (where the projects which 
require approval under laws shall only commence operating activities after the grant of approval by the 
relevant authority). Mr. Lin Xiaofeng (“Mr. Lin”) and Mr. Wu Mianqing (“Mr. Wu”) are the Shanghai Yongle 
Shareholders who owns 90% and 10% of the equity interests in Shanghai Yongle respectively. Mr. Lin and 
Mr. Wu are both the employees of the Company.

Beijing Weike is a company established in the PRC with limited liability and is wholly owned by Shanghai 
Yongle as at the date of this annual report. The principal businesses of Beijing Weike are research and 
development and provision of internet technology for e-commerce and mobile payment system such as 
prepaid cards. Open Union, which is owned by Beijing Weike as to 90% equity interests as at the date of 
this annual report, is a company established in the PRC with limited liability and is principally engaged in 
prepaid card business and internet payment services in the PRC.

1.2	 Description of the business of the Beijing Weike Group
A substantial portion of revenue and profit of the Beijing Weike Group was derived from its prepaid card 
and internet payment business.

1.3	 Summary of the major terms of the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements
	 The Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements have been entered into among the parties to facilitate the 

contractual arrangement among, Shenzhen Yongle, Shanghai Yongle, Beijing Weike and Open Union 
for the Beijing Weike JV Transaction and the Beijing Weike Acquisition. Through the Shenzhen Yongle 
Structured Agreements, the Group is able to exercise full and effective control over the finance and 
operation of Shanghai Yongle and in effect obtain the entire economic interest and benefits in Shanghai 
Yongle.

	 Shenzhen Yongle and Shanghai Yongle entered into certain loan agreements (the “Loan Agreements”) in 
order to facilitate the acquisition of equity interests in Beijing Weike by providing capital to Shanghai Yongle 
from Shenzhen Yongle.
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	 The Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements include (i) the Business Cooperation Agreement; (ii) the 
Technical Consultation and Services Agreement; (iii) the Pledge Agreements; (iv) the Share Disposal 
Agreements; (v) the Voting Rights Proxy Agreements; and (vi) the Spouse Consent entered into by the 
relevant parties on the completion of the Framework Agreement. A summary of the principal terms of the 
Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements is set out below:

A.	 Business Cooperation Agreement

Parties:	 (i)	 Shenzhen Yongle; and

	 (ii)	 Shanghai Yongle.

Services: 	 Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement, Shanghai Yongle will 
appoint Shenzhen Yongle as its exclusive service provider to provide 
complete technical support, business support and related consulting 
services during the term of the Business Cooperation Agreement in 
accordance with its terms and conditions, which may include all necessary 
services within the scope of Shanghai Yongle’s business as may be 
determined from time to time by Shanghai Yongle and consented by 
Shenzhen Yongle, such as technical services, business consultations, 
equipment or property leasing, marketing consultancy, system integration, 
product research and development, system maintenance and assisting 
Shanghai Yongle to provide necessary services to Beijing Weike and Open 
Union.

Fees:	 Details of the services to be provided by Shenzhen Yongle to Shanghai 
Yongle, the service fees and the payment terms are set out in the Technical 
Consultation and Services Agreement.

Term:	 The Business Cooperation Agreement shall take effect from the date of its 
execution and shall maintain effective unless it is terminated by Shenzhen 
Yongle by giving 30 days’ prior written notice to Shanghai Yongle or is 
required to be terminated under applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.

B.	 Technical Consultation and Services Agreement

Parties:	 (i)	 Shenzhen Yongle; and

	 (ii)	 Shanghai Yongle.
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Services:	 Pursuant to the Technical Consultation and Services Agreement, Shenzhen 
Yongle will be the exclusive consultation and service provider of Shanghai 
Yongle and shall provide consultation and services to Shanghai Yongle 
in the areas of funding, human resources, technology and intellectual 
properties and shall assist Shanghai Yongle in providing aforesaid services 
to Beijing Weike and Open Union, and Shanghai Yongle shall accept such 
consultation and services in accordance with the terms and conditions 
under the Technical Consultation and Services Agreement. The consultation 
and services to be provided by Shenzhen Yongle include (i) research and 
development of the relevant software and technology according to the 
needs of Shanghai Yongle’s business and shall grant Shanghai Yongle the 
right to use the relevant software and technology; (ii) development, design, 
monitoring, testing and troubleshooting of the computer network equipment 
and website(s) of Shanghai Yongle; (iii) providing training and technical 
support to the staff of Shanghai Yongle; (iv) providing consultation services 
regarding the marketing of Shanghai Yongle; and (v) assisting Shanghai 
Yongle in providing the services as required by Beijing Weike and Open 
Union.

Fees:	 Shanghai Yongle shall pay an annual service fees of RMB1 million to 
Shenzhen Yongle for the technical consultation services under the 
Technical Consultation and Services Agreement. Such fees will be payable 
on quarterly basis and shall be settled within 15 business days after the 
beginning of the relevant quarter. Nevertheless, in the event that Shanghai 
Yongle does not have sufficient working capital to settle the service fees, 
Shanghai Yongle has the right not to settle such fees.

	 Apart from the abovementioned annual service fees, Shanghai Yongle shall 
also, based on the actual amount of technical consultation and services 
provided by Shenzhen Yongle under the Technical Consultation and 
Services Agreement in the relevant quarter, pay a quarterly floating service 
fee to Shenzhen Yongle. Such floating fees shall be in the amount equivalent 
to the net income of Shanghai Yongle in the relevant quarter, including but 
not limited to, its revenue and all of the dividends derived from its interests 
in Beijing Weike in each quarter (provided that when Shanghai Yongle 
repays the loan amount to Shenzhen Yongle under the Loan Agreements), 
only 50% of the dividends derived from its interests in Beijing Weike will be 
used to settle the service fees) or to be determined after taking into account, 
among other things, the number and qualification of the staff deployed to 
provide services and the time spent to provide the services for the relevant 
quarter.

Term: 	 The Technical Consultation and Services Agreement shall be effective 
perpetually from the date of its execution until Shenzhen Yongle agrees in 
writing to its termination.
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C.	 Pledge Agreements

Parties:	 (i)	 Shenzhen Yongle (as pledgee);

	 (ii)	 the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders (each of them has entered into 
this Pledge Agreement separately) (as pledgor); and

	 (iii)	 Shanghai Yongle.

Pledge:	 Pursuant to the Pledge Agreements, each of the Shanghai Yongle 
Shareholders will pledge to Shenzhen Yongle his respective equity interests 
in Shanghai Yongle (the “Equity Interests”) as security for (A) the full 
performance by the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders and Shanghai Yongle 
of their obligations under the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and 
the timely and full payment of fees payable to Shenzhen Yongle under the 
Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements (including but not limited to the 
consultation and service fees); and (B) the full performance by Shanghai 
Yongle of its obligations under the Loan Agreements and the timely and full 
repayment of loans to Shenzhen Yongle under the Loan Agreements.

	 The pledge shall take effect from the date of registration of the same with 
the relevant Industrial and Commercial Administration Bureau in the PRC 
and shall remain effective until the abovementioned registration is discharged 
or released. The parties agree that within three business days following the 
execution of the Pledge Agreements, the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders 
and Shanghai Yongle shall register the pledge in the shareholders’ register 
of Shanghai Yongle.

	 Prior to the full payment of the consultation and service fees under the 
Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements or full repayment of loans under 
the Loan Agreements, the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders shall not assign 
the Equity Interests without the prior written consent of Shenzhen Yongle.

Termination:	 If (i) the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements (other than the Pledge 
Agreements) and the Loan Agreements are terminated in accordance 
with their respective terms; (ii) Shanghai Yongle shall no longer be held 
responsible for any obligations under the Shenzhen Yongle Structured 
Agreements and the Loan Agreements; and (iii) Shenzhen Yongle agrees in 
writing to terminate the Pledge Agreements, the Pledge Agreements shall be 
terminated and Shenzhen Yongle shall then release the equity pledge under 
the Pledge Agreements as soon as reasonably practicable.

Undertakings:	 The Shanghai Yongle Shareholders and Shanghai Yongle undertake to 
Shenzhen Yongle, among other things, that:

	 (i)	 unless with the prior written consent of Shenzhen Yongle, 
Shanghai Yongle shall not commence any operation activities 
(including but not limited to ordinary and usual business) and shall 
not incur, inherit, provide guarantee for, or allow the existence of, 
any liability;
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	 (ii)	 they shall maintain the asset value of Shanghai Yongle and shall 
not conduct any act or omission which will affect the operating 
conditions and asset value of Shanghai Yongle; and

	 (iii)	 unless with the prior written consent of Shenzhen Yongle, 
Shanghai Yongle shall not enter into any agreement with other 
party.

D.	 Share Disposal Agreements

Parties:	 (i)	 Shenzhen Yongle;

	 (ii)	 the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders (each of them will enter into this 
Share Disposal Agreement separately); and

	 (iii)	 Shanghai Yongle.

Option:	 In consideration of the payment of RMB1 by Shenzhen Yongle, the 
Shanghai Yongle Shareholders irrevocably agree that on the condition that 
it is permitted by the PRC laws, Shenzhen Yongle has the right to require 
the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders to fulfill and complete all approval 
and registration procedures as required under PRC laws so as to allow 
Shenzhen Yongle to purchase, or designate one or more persons (each, a 
“Designee”) to purchase, the entire equity interests of the Shanghai Yongle 
Shareholders in Shanghai Yongle or any part thereof, at one or multiple 
time(s) at any time at Shenzhen Yongle’s sole and absolute discretion and 
at the lowest price as permitted by the laws of PRC at the relevant time (such 
right being the “Equity Interest Purchase Option”). Shenzhen Yongle’s Equity 
Interest Purchase Option shall be exclusive. Shanghai Yongle agrees to the 
grant by the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders of the Equity Interest Purchase 
Option to Shenzhen Yongle.

	 Without the prior written consent of Shenzhen Yongle, the Shanghai Yongle 
Shareholders shall not assign or delegate its rights and obligations under 
the Share Disposal Agreements.

Term:	 The Share Disposal Agreements shall take effect from the date of its 
execution and shall remain effective until all the equity interests in Shanghai 
Yongle owned by the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders have been legally 
transferred to Shenzhen Yongle or the Designee(s) in accordance with the 
terms of the Share Disposal Agreements.

Undertakings:	 The Shanghai Yongle Shareholders and Shanghai Yongle undertake to 
Shenzhen Yongle, among other things, that:

(i)	 unless with the prior written consent of Shenzhen Yongle, 
Shanghai Yongle shall not commence any operation activities 
(including but not limited to ordinary and usual business) and shall 
not incur, inherit, provide guarantee for or allow the existence of, 
any liability;
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(ii)	 they shall maintain the asset value of Shanghai Yongle and shall 
not conduct any act or omission which will affect the business 
operations and asset value of Shanghai Yongle; and

(iii)	 unless with the prior written consent of Shenzhen Yongle, 
Shanghai Yongle shall not enter into any agreement with other 
party.

E.	 Voting Rights Proxy Agreements

Parties: 	 (i)	 The Shanghai Yongle Shareholders (each of them will enter into 
this Voting Rights Proxy Agreement separately) (as entrusting 
party);

	 (ii)	 Shenzhen Yongle; and

	 (iii)	 Shanghai Yongle.

Proxy of voting rights:	Pursuant to the Voting Rights Proxy Agreements, Shenzhen Yongle (or 
its designee, which can be a director or his/her successor of the direct or 
indirect shareholder of Shenzhen Yongle (including a liquidator replacing 
such director and his/her successor)) will have the power to, inter alia, 
exercise all shareholder’s voting rights with respect to all matters to be 
discussed and voted in the shareholders’ meeting of Shanghai Yongle, 
including but not limited to designation and appointment of, among others, 
the director, the chief executive officer and other senior management 
members of Shanghai Yongle, and execution of all necessary documents 
to be signed by the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders, minutes of Shanghai 
Yongle and any documents for registration to be lodged with relevant 
authority for and on behalf of the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders.

Term:	 The Voting Rights Proxy Agreements shall be effective perpetually from 
the date of its execution until Shenzhen Yongle agrees in writing to its 
termination.

Undertakings:	 The Shanghai Yongle Shareholders and Shanghai Yongle undertake to 
Shenzhen Yongle, among other things, that:

	 (i)	 unless with the prior written consent of Shenzhen Yongle, 
Shanghai Yongle shall not commence any operation activities 
(including but not limited to those ordinary and usual business) and 
shall not incur, inherit, provide guarantee for, or allow the existence 
of, any liability;

	 (ii)	 they shall maintain the asset value of Shanghai Yongle and shall 
not conduct any act or omission which will affect the operating 
conditions and asset value of Shanghai Yongle; and

	 (iii)	 unless with the prior written consent of Shenzhen Yongle, 
Shanghai Yongle shall not enter into any agreement with other 
party.
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F.	 Spouse Consent

Parties:	 The spouse of Mr. Lin

Particulars:	 Pursuant to the Spouse Consent, the spouse of Mr. Lin shall, inter alia, 
(i) confirms that she does not have any interests in the equity interests in 
Shanghai Yongle and undertakes not to make any claim in relation to the 
interests in Shanghai Yongle; (ii) confirms that the Pledge Agreement, the 
Share Disposal Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement entered 
into by Mr. Lin and any amendment or termination of such documents 
do not require her consent; (iii) undertakes to sign all the necessary 
documentation and do all necessary acts to ensure the proper performance 
of the aforesaid documents; and (iv) undertakes that if she is, due to 
whatsoever reason, entitled to any equity interests in Shanghai Yongle, she 
will be bound by the obligations as its shareholder under those documents 
(as amended from time to time), and to notify Shenzhen Yongle immediately 
of any breach of such documents or any material change of Shanghai 
Yongle and to assist Shenzhen Yongle in protecting its legitimate rights and 
obligations under those documents.

	 Further details of the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements are set out 
in the Company’s circulars dated 1 September 2014 and 29 December 
2014.

2.	 Revenue and assets subject to the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements

	 The revenue attributable to Shanghai Yongle (i.e. the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements) 
amounted to approximately RMB89,680,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$103,437,000) for 
the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: approximately RMB86,229,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$105,881,000)). The total assets and net assets attributable to Shanghai Yongle (i.e. the Shenzhen 
Yongle Structured Agreements) amounted to approximately RMB982,422,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$1,107,579,000) (2016: approximately RMB1,057,623,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$1,272,034,000)) and RMB516,410,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$582,199,000) (2016: 
RMB495,763,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$596,269,000)) as at 31 March 2017.

3.	 Reasons for using the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements

	 Open Union is engaged in the issuance and acceptance of prepaid cards and internet payment services in 
the PRC and it possesses a licence which allows it to issue and accept prepaid cards within the PRC on a 
nationwide basis. The payment service business currently engaged by Open Union is subject to regulations 
in accordance with, among others, the “Administrative Measures Relating to Payment Services by 

Non-financial Institutions (非金融機構支付服務管理辦法)” (hereinafter referred to as the “Payment Service 
Measures”) promulgated by the PBOC. The Payment Service Measures stipulates that non-financial 
institutions must not engage in the provision of payment services (such as online payments, the issue and 
acceptance of prepaid cards, and POS systems) without first obtaining an approval and a payment service 
licence from the PBOC. In accordance with Article 9 of the Payment Service Measures, regulations and 
rules addressing the scope of business and ownership restrictions for foreign investment in non-financial 
institutions engaged in payment services shall be separately stipulated by the PBOC and approved by the 
State Council of the PRC. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the PBOC has not yet stipulated any relevant 
rules and regulations nor granted any payment service licence to any foreign invested enterprise intending 
to be engaged in the provision of prepaid card business and internet payment services.
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	 Moreover, according to the Guidance of Foreign Enterprise Investments (2011 Amended) the internet 
payment service provided by Open Union is a type of value-added telecommunications business 
where foreign investment is restricted. According to the Administrative Provisions on Foreign-Invested 
Telecommunications Enterprises, the foreign investor of a foreign-invested telecommunications 
services provider needs to demonstrate a good track record and experience in providing value-added 
telecommunications services. Based on the consultation with the Ministry of Industry and Information 
Technology of the PRC (the “MIIT”) by the PRC Legal Adviser, it is understood that if the nature or 
substance of business run by a foreign enterprise is the same or similar to the value-added services in 

the telecommunications industry as described in 電信業務分類目錄 (“Category of Telecommunications 
Businesses”) of the PRC, such foreign enterprise can be deemed to have the required operating track 
records and operating experience in value added telecommunications industry. Since the Group has been 
conducting business of card acceptance using public telecommunications networks in Thailand, the PRC 
Legal Adviser considers that the industry experience requirements of the MIIT should be satisfied.

	 After consultation with the PBOC, the Company was advised by the PRC Legal Adviser that since no 
relevant administrative measures have been promulgated by the State Council of the PRC, the PBOC 
normally does not accept any application for foreign direct investment in (i) a PRC company holding 
a payment service licence (which allows the holder to engage in internet payment and issuance and 
acceptance of prepaid card businesses); and (ii) the parent company of such licensed company (irrespective 
of the proportion of interests to be invested). Therefore, the PRC Legal Adviser considers that the PBOC 
currently does not allow foreign investors to invest in the internet payment business either directly or 
indirectly and irrespective of the proportion of such investment. Thus, it is not possible for the Group to 
participate in prepaid card business and internet payment services in the PRC through direct or indirect 
acquisition of the equity interests in Open Union and the most feasible way in achieving this is to provide 
capital to Shanghai Yongle by way of loans to facilitate its acquisition of Beijing Weike, which holds 90% 
of the equity interests in Open Union, and to obtain effective control over and the rights to enjoy the 
economic benefits in the assets of Beijing Weike, including 90% of the equity interests in Open Union 
through the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and other arrangements under the New Framework 
Agreement.

4.	 Risks relating to the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements

	 The PRC government may determine that the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and the Loan 
Agreements do not comply with the applicable laws and regulations:

	 The PRC Legal Adviser is of the opinion that the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and the Loan 
Agreements do not violate the mandatory laws and regulations in the PRC and are not considered to be in 
violation of Article 52 of the PRC Contract Law, which renders void any contracts deemed to be “concealing 
illegal intentions with a lawful form”, and the related rules of the General Principle of Civil Law of the PRC, 
and therefore they are valid, binding and enforceable among relevant parties. However, the PRC Legal 
Adviser is also of the view that there can be no assurance that the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements 
and the Loan Agreements will be deemed by the relevant governmental or judicial authorities to be in 
compliance with the existing or future applicable PRC laws and regulations, or the relevant governmental or 
judicial authorities may in the future interpret the existing laws or regulations with the result that the Shenzhen 
Yongle Structured Agreements and the Loan Agreements will be deemed to be in compliance of the PRC 
laws and regulations. In particular, any future acquisition of rights, benefits or assets of or equity interests 
in Open Union pursuant to the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and the Loan Agreements will be 
subject to the laws and regulations then applicable.
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	 The Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements may not be as effective as direct ownership in providing 
control over Open Union:

	 The Group relies on the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements with Shanghai Yongle to operate the 
prepaid card business and internet payment services of Open Union (i.e. value-added telecommunications 
service) in the PRC. These Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements may not be as effective in providing 
the Group with control over Open Union as direct ownership in rare circumstance. If the Group had direct 
ownership of Open Union, the Group would be able to deal with the equity interests in and the assets of 
Open Union in winding up situation rather than acquiring such assets by exercising its exclusive acquisition 
right which are subject to the approval of the PBOC.

	 The Shanghai Yongle Shareholders may potentially have a conflict of interests with the Group:
	 The Group’s control over Open Union is based on the contractual arrangement under the Shenzhen Yongle 

Structured Agreements and the Loan Agreements with, among others, Shanghai Yongle. Therefore, conflict 
of interests of the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders will adversely affect the interests of the Company. Since the 
Shanghai Yongle Shareholders are employees of the Company, they are required to follow instructions of the 
Company. However, there is no absolute certainty that the Shanghai Yongle Shareholders will act in favour of 
the Group at all times and the Group may suffer from any potential conflict of interests.

	 The Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements under the Framework Agreement may be subject to scrutiny of 
the PRC tax authorities and transfer pricing adjustments and additional tax may be imposed:

	 The Group could face material adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax authorities determine that the 
arrangements under the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements, the Loan Agreements, the agreements 
in relation to the exclusive acquisition rights of the Company to acquire Open Union were not entered into 
based on arm’s length negotiations. If the PRC tax authorities determine that these agreements were not 
entered into on an arm’s length basis, they may adjust our income and expenses for PRC tax purposes in 
the form of a transfer pricing adjustment. A transfer pricing adjustment could adversely affect the Group’s 
financial position by increasing the relevant tax liability without reducing the tax liabilities of Shanghai Yongle, 
and this could further result in late payment fees and other penalties to Shanghai Yongle for under-paid 
taxes. As a result, any transfer pricing adjustment could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s 
financial position and results of operations.

	 The Company does not have any insurance which covers the risks relating to the Framework Agreement and 
the transactions contemplated thereunder:

	 The insurance of the Group does not cover the risks relating to the Framework Agreement and the 
transactions contemplated thereunder and the Company has no intention to purchase any new insurance 
in this regard. If any risk arises from the Framework Agreement in the future, such as those affecting 
the enforceability of the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and the relevant agreements for the 
transactions contemplated thereunder and the operation of Shanghai Yongle, Beijing Weike and Open Union, 
the results of the Group may be adversely affected.

	 Certain provisions in the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and the Loan Agreements may not be 
enforceable under PRC laws:

	 The Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and the Loan Agreements contain a provision for resolving 
disputes by arbitration at South China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission, Shenzhen 
in accordance with its then prevailing arbitration rules. The Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and the 
Loan Agreements include a clause in relation to dispute resolution among the parties where upon request 
by a disputing party, the courts in the PRC, Hong Kong and Cayman Islands shall have the power to grant 
interim remedies, such as withholding or freezing of the assets or on the equity interests of the party in 
breach. Upon the coming into effect of the relevant arbitral award, any party shall have the right to apply to 
the courts in the abovementioned jurisdictions for execution of such award.
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	 However, due to restrictions of the PRC laws, the PRC Legal Adviser is of the view that, even though the 
Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and the Loan Agreements provide that overseas courts (i.e. courts 
in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands) shall have the power to grant interim remedies, such interim remedies 
(even if so granted by courts in Hong Kong or the Cayman Islands in favour of an aggrieved party) may not 
be recognised or enforced by the PRC courts. As a result, in the event that Shanghai Yongle or any of the 
Shanghai Yongle Shareholders breaches the terms of the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and the 
Loan Agreements, the Company may not be able to obtain sufficient remedies in a timely manner, and its 
ability to exert effective control over Shanghai Yongle, Beijing Weike and Open Union could be materially and 
adversely affected.

	 The Company may incur substantial costs when the ownership of Shanghai Yongle is transferred to 
Shenzhen Yongle:

	 The Group does not currently hold any equity interest in Shanghai Yongle and the Group (through Shenzhen 
Yongle) maintains effective control over Shanghai Yongle under the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements. 
Pursuant to the Company’s undertaking in relation to the contractual arrangement under the Framework 
Agreement and the terms of the Framework Agreement and the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements, 
the Company will unwind the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements and the Loan Agreements and 
procure Shenzhen Yongle to acquire the equity interests of Shanghai Yongle as soon as the relevant foreign 
investment restrictions in the PRC no longer exist. As a result, the exact time for such acquisition is uncertain 
and it is possible that such acquisition may be subject to substantial costs which may materially affect the 
financial positions and results of the Company.

5.	 Material change

	 Saved as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, there is no material change in the Shenzhen 
Yongle Structured Agreements and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted.

6.	 Unwinding of the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements

	 The Company has undertaken to unwind the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements as soon as the 
relevant foreign investment restrictions in the PRC no longer exist such that the Company is allowed to 
hold interests in Open Union directly or indirectly.

	 However, as at the date of this annual report, there is no unwinding of any of the Shenzhen Yongle 
Structured Agreements or failure to unwind when the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Shenzhen 
Yongle Structure Agreements are removed.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Huaqiao (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 54, was appointed as the non-executive director and the chairman of the 
Company in September 2012 and March 2014 respectively and was re-designated as an executive Director of the 
Company with effect from 13 May 2015. He worked at the Equities Department of UBS AG, Hong Kong Branch from 
June 1999 to April 2006 with last capacity as the co-head of its China research team. From May 2006 to September 
2008, Mr. Zhang served as an executive director of Shenzhen Investment Limited, a company listed on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange. From September 2008 to June 2011, Mr. Zhang worked with UBS AG, Hong Kong 
with last capacity as the deputy head of China Investment Banking Department. Mr. Zhang then was and an executive 
director and chief executive officer of Man Sang International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange, between September 2011 and April 2012.

Currently, Mr. Zhang is an independent non-executive director of Fosun International Limited, Zhong An Real Estate 
Limited, China Huirong Financial Holdings Limited, Logan Property Holdings Company Limited, Luye Pharma Group 
Limited, Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited and Sinopec Oilfield Service Corporation and a non-executive 
director of Boer Power Holdings Limited, and the shares of the eight companies are listed on the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange. He was appointed as a director of Nanjing Central Emporium (Group) Stocks Co., Ltd. in March 2013, 
a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He resigned from it in June 2015. He was an 
independent non-executive director of Fuguiniao Co. Ltd., a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, 
between May 2013 and June 2014. He was an independent non-executive director of Ernest Borel Holdings Limited, a 
company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, from the period between June 2014 and November 2014. In 
April 2014, Mr. Zhang was appointed as an executive director of Yancoal Australia Limited (ASX: YAL), a company whose 
shares are listed on the stock exchange in Australia.

Mr. Zhang obtained a master’s degree in economics from the Financial Research Institute of the People’s Bank of China 
in 1986 and a master’s degree of economics of development from the Australian National University in 1991.

Dr. Cao Guoqi (“Dr. Cao”), aged 53, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in September 2013. Dr. 
Cao has a Ph.D. in Economics and graduated from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, the University 
of Hong Kong, and the Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences. He has over 20 years of experience in project financing 
and investment, finance, fund investment and management, mergers and acquisitions, and corporate advisory. Dr. Cao 
is the executive director and general manager of Probest Limited and Master Energy Inc. He is also the deputy president 
of Asian Economics Research Institute at Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, an EMBA professor of Hunan 
University, a MBA supervisor at Advanced Institute of Finance of Shanghai Jiaotong University, and a research fellow 
at Shanghai Institute of Development Strategy. Currently, he acts as an independent non-executive director of Century 
Ginwa Retail Holdings Ltd., whose shares are listed on Main Board and an independent non-executive director of 
Dongwu Cement International Ltd., whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From April 2014, 
he takes the position as the Chairman of SBI China Capital Group.

Dr. Cao was a probationary Economist in the International Currency Department of the Economic and Financial Affairs 
Councils, European Communities, as well as a Project Coordinator of the World Bank. From 1998 to 1999, he also 
acted as a CEO of Sui Chong Holdings Limited, whose shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. 
He co-founded Shanghai Jingcheng Internet Consulting Co. Ltd. with Shanghai Jiaotong University, and was elected as 
Chairman and CEO. In the early 2000s, Dr. Cao acted as the director and CEO of Shanghai Lingang New City Investment 
and Development Group Co., Ltd., and was in charge of the development of the Yangshan Deep Water Port and Lingang 
New City. He was also a director of Donghai Bridge Project Construction Co. Ltd., which built Donghai Bridge, the 
longest cross-sea bridges in the world with 32-kilometre cross-sea portion distance.
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Mr. Fung Weichang (“Mr. Fung”), aged 68, was appointed as an executive director and chief executive officer of the 
Company in September 2013 and November 2013 respectively. He obtained a master degree in business administration 
from the Santa Clara University in California in the United States in 1976. Mr. Fung had worked for MasterCard 
International from October 1992 to December 2008 and his last position was executive vice president and general 
manager of the Greater China region for MasterCard International, Asia Pacific Region. From January 2009 to December 
2010, Mr. Fung was the senior consultant of MasterCard International, Asia Pacific Region. Prior to joining the Company, 
Mr. Fung worked with a couple of friends to set up an mobile payment company in China and was the Chairman of that 
company for 2 years.

Mr. Xiong Wensen (“Mr. Xiong”), aged 49, was appointed as an executive director and president of the Company in June 
2014. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering (Computer Science and Technology) from Tsinghua University 
in July 1990 and a master’s degree in business administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 
December 2004.

Mr. Xiong joined China Merchants Bank from 1990 as the programmer of the computer department at the head office 
and the deputy general manager, and the general manager of Shenzhen Oaking Information Technology Company 

Limited held by China Merchants Bank. He was the general manager of 上海財大軟件 from 2004, the deputy general 
manager of Information executive of 上海銀商資訊有限公司 (China Union Loyalty Co. Ltd.*) from 2006 to initiate its 
development of prepaid card business in China; From 2007 Mr Xiong became the president of 開聯信息技術有限公司 
(Open Union Information Technology Co. Ltd.*) to carry out its prepaid card issuance and acceptance business. From 

2008, as a founding member of 通聯支付, Mr Xiong was appointed as the vice president and the senior vice president, 
and the director of 通聯支付網絡服務股份有限公司 (Allinpay Network Service Co., Ltd.*), responsible for its prepaid card 
and Internet and payment business, and lead its corporate strategy, research and development.

Mr. Song Xiangping (“Mr. Song”), aged 53, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in January 2015. 

He graduated from the Faculty of Electrification of 武漢鋼鐵學院 (Wuhan Institute of Iron and Steel Engineering*) in 
November 1983. He also obtained a degree of executive master of business administration from Cheung Kong Graduate 
School of Business in September 2013. Mr. Song joined the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China as engineering in 
August 1988. From October 2004 to June 2006, Mr. Song was the deputy general manager and overseas representative 

of the marketing department and the Hong Kong Branch of 上海銀商資訊有限公司 (China Union Loyalty Co. Ltd.*) 
and was promoted to the general manager of its Beijing and Hong Kong Branches from July 2006 to December 2007. 

From December 2007 to November 2010, Mr. Song joined 開聯信息技術有限公司 (Open Union Information Technology 
Co. Ltd.*) as the executive vice president and the general manager of the prepaid card business department. Since 
November 2010, Mr. Song has been the director and the president of Open Union.

Non-executive Director
Mr. Xie Zhichun (“Mr. Xie”), aged 59, was appointed as an non-executive director of the Company in April 2017. Mr. Xie 
graduated from Heilongjiang University in 1982 and received his bachelor’s degree in philosophy. In 1993, he graduated 
from Harbin Institute of Technology and received his master’s degree in economics. In 2004, Mr. Xie graduated from 
Nankai University and received his doctor of philosophy in economics. Mr. Xie is currently the vice chairman of the 
consultation committee of Shenzhen Qianhai Shekou Free Trade Zone and Qianhai Shenzhen Hong Kong Cooperation 
Zone. He is also a professor of China Center for Special Economic Zone Research at Shenzhen University and 
postgraduate supervisor of PBC School of Finance at Tsinghua University.

Mr. Xie currently serves as chairman and an executive director of China Fortune Financial Group Limited (Stock Code: 
290), a non-executive director of Elife Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 223) and an independent non-executive director of 
each of China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 966) and China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. 
(Stock Code: 1988).
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Yiming (“Mr. Wang”), aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company 
in August 2013. Mr. Wang is a member of the Company’s audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination 
committee, internal control committee and compliance committee. Mr. Wang holds a bachelor degree in electronic and a 
master degree in business administration from Shanghai Jiao Tong University. He was appointed as an executive director 
of Shanghai Jiaoda Withub Information Industrial Company Limited, a company listed on GEM, in September 2004. 
Mr. Wang was resigned as the chief executive officer and the executive director of Shanghai Jiaoda Withub Information 

Industrial Company Limited in June 2014. He is currently the general manager of 上海申廣科技發展有限公司 (Shanghai 
Shenguang Technology Development Ltd.*).

Mr. Lu Dongcheng (“Mr. Lu”), aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in 
August 2013. Mr. Lu is the chairman of the Company’s nomination committee and a member of the Company’s audit 
committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee, internal control committee and compliance committee. 
Mr. Lu holds a Master degree of Business Administration from Yale University and a Doctor degree from Peking Medical 
University which has merged with Peking University. He was the partner of Infinity Group (Peking) Venture Capital 
Management Co., Ltd. during June 2008 to April 2011 and the chief executive officer of AnPing Capital Management 
Limited during May 2011 to April 2012. Mr. Lu is currently the chief executive officer of Suzhou Mountain View Equity 
Investment Management Co., Ltd. and the supervising partner of Mountain View Capital PE Funds. In May 2015, Mr. Lu 

was appointed as the managing partner of 北京重山遠志醫療健康基金 (Beijing Zhongshan Medical Health Fund*).

Dr. Yuan Shumin (“Dr. Yuan”), aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in May 
2014. Dr. Yuan is the Company’s compliance officer, the chairman of the Company’s audit committee, remuneration 
committee and internal control committee, and a member of the Company’s nomination committee and compliance 
committee. Dr. Yuan was a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He obtained a doctorate 
degree in Science (part-time doctorate program) in the School of Management from Fudan University in January 1998. 
Dr. Yuan was the supervisor of teaching department, the assistant supervisor and the assistant dean of the School of 
Accountancy in Shanghai University of Finance and Economics from 1993 to 2000; and the standing assistant dean of 
the School of Adult Education in Shanghai University of Finance and Economics from 2000 to 2005, Dr. Yuan has joined 
the School of Accountancy in Shanghai Finance University since September 2005 and had been the president of that 
School of Accountancy until 2013.

Dr. Zhou Jinhuang (“Dr. Zhou”), aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company 
in June 2016. He obtained a Master of Economics from the School of Economics of the Beijing University in 1997 and 
a Doctorate degree in Economics from the Beijing Normal University (北京師範大學) in 2007. He has over 19 years of 
experience in banking and finance in the PRC. Dr. Zhou is currently the chairman of 京津冀協同票據交易中心股份有限
公司. Prior to joining 京津冀協同票據交易中心股份有限公司, Dr. Zhou has been the vice-president of Shanghai Huarui 
Bank, the deputy director of the payment system department of the People’s Bank of China (人民銀行支付結算司副司
長), the director of the general office of the payment system department of the People’s Bank of China (人民銀行支付結
算司綜合處處長) and the deputy director and secretary of the secretariat department of the general office of the People’s 
Bank of China (人民銀行辦公廳秘書處秘書、副處長).

*   English translation for identification purpose only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Lin Xiaofeng (“Mr. Lin”), aged 43, joined the Group in October 2013. He is the senior vice president of investment 
of the Company. Mr. Lin was an independent non-executive director of DX.com Holdings Limited from August 2013 to 
August 2016; a non-executive director of China Singyes Solar Technologies Holdings Limited from April 2008 to June 
2011; and an executive director of AUPU Group Holdings Company Limited (“AUPU”) from August 2011 to September 
2013 and has been redesignated as a non-executive director of AUPU since September 2013, the shares of all these 
companies are or were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lin has extensive experience in finance and 
venture capital investment.

Mrs. Lu Min (“Mrs. Lu”), aged 44, joined the Group in October 2015. She is an experienced professional in China’s 
payment and banking industry. Between 1997 and 2001, she worked in the Legal Affairs Department of People’s Bank 
of China. Between January 2005 and October 2007, Mrs. Lu served in the Business Management Department of China 
Unionpay as Director of the Pricing Office. Between October 2007 and June 2012, Mrs. Lu worked at 上海富友金融網絡
技術有限公司 (Shanghai Fuyou Financial Network Technology Limited*) as Vice President. Between October 2012 and 
September 2015, she was in charge of establishing 北京暢捷通支付技術有限公司 (Beijing Chanjet Payment Technology 
Limited*), and was appointed as its President. At Chanjet Payment, she successfully led the mission to obtain the 
Payment Service Licence for bank card acceptance and internet payment on the nationwide basis.

Mr. Tan Zhihui (“Mr. Tan”), aged 40, joined the Group in January 2015. He is the vice president of the Company and is 
in charge of internet payment, cross-border payment and e-commerce business of the Company. He is the former head 
of strategic development for Universal Technologies Holdings Limited involving in the development of various projects 
including international card security and credit card payment platform. He is the former Chief Operation Officer of DX.com 
Holdings Limited and his duty was in charge of the group supply chain and international logistic. Mr. Tan has more than 
10 years’ experience in internet payment and cross-border e-commerce.

Mr. Tang Wai Leung (“Mr. Tang”), aged 36, was appointed as the company secretary of the Company in February 2014. 
Mr. Tang holds a bachelor degree of Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. 
He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tang has over 10 years of experience in 
accounting and auditing.

*	 English translation for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
The Board of the Company is committed to establish and maintain high standards of corporate governance to safeguard 
the interest of its shareholders and enhance its corporate value. The Company’s corporate governance practices 
are based on the principles, code provisions and certain recommended best practices as set out in the Corporate 
Governance Code in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”).

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company has complied with all the code provisions in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules 
as the code of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities transactions in securities of the Company. Having made 
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance with the required standard of dealings 
as set out in the adopted code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 
2017.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board composition
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised the following five executive Directors, one non-executive 
Director and four independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Zhang Huaqiao (Chairman)
Dr. Cao Guoqi
Mr. Fung Weichang
Mr. Xiong Wensen
Mr. Song Xiangping

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Xie Zhichun (appointed on 27 April 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Yiming
Mr. Lu Dongcheng
Dr. Yuan Shumin
Dr. Zhou Jinhuang (appointed on 8 June 2016)

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives desirable 
for effective leadership of the Company and independence on decision thinking.

As at 31 March 2017, there were nine members in the Board comprising five executive Directors and four independent 
non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical Details of 
Directors and Senior Management” on page 34 to page 37 of this annual report. Their role and function are published 
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best 
knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial, business or family relationship among the Board members.
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Board Meetings
During the year ended 31 March 2017, a total of 28 Board meetings, 1 annual general meeting and 5 extraordinary 
general meetings of the Company were held. The individual attendance record of each Director at such meetings is 
tabulated as follows:

Attendance of meetings

Board meetings
Annual

general meeting

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Huaqiao (Chairman) 16/16 1/1
Dr. Cao Guoqi 16/16 1/1
Mr. Fung Weichang 16/16 0/1
Mr. Xiong Wensen 16/16 0/1
Mr. Song Xiangping 16/16 0/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Yiming 15/16 0/1
Mr. Lu Dongcheng 15/16 0/1
Dr. Yuan Shumin 16/16 1/1
Dr. Zhou Jinhuang (appointed on 8 June 2016) 4/12 0/1

Responsibility and Delegation
The Company is governed by the Board, which is responsible for overseeing the overall strategy and development of the 
Company, as well as monitoring the internal control policies and evaluating the financial performance of the Group. The 
Board sets the overall strategies and directions for the Group with a view to developing its business and enhancing the 
shareholders’ value.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management include the preparation of 
annual, interim and quarterly accounts for approval by the Board before publication, execution of business strategies and 
initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate internal control systems and risk management procedures, 
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and regulations.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company, including approval and monitoring of all policy 
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular 
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other significant financial 
and operational matters.

The Board is also responsible for developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance 
and reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of our Directors.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
In compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed sufficient 
number of INEDs with at least one of them having appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 
management expertise and that the number of INEDs must be at least one-third of the Board. The INEDs, together with 
the executive Directors and the non-executive Director, ensure that the Board prepares its financial and other mandatory 
reports in strict compliance with the relevant standards and that appropriate systems are in place to protect the interest 
of the Company and its shareholders. The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each of 
the INEDs and considers that their independence is in compliance with the Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules as at the 
date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and information to ensure that he has a proper 
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities under the relevant statues, 
laws, rules and regulations. All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Records of continuous professional development were received from the 
Directors. All of them have attended seminars and/or read materials and update relating to the latest development of the 
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements during the year ended 31 March 2017.

All Directors pursued continuous professional development and relevant details are set out below:

Attending seminars/
conferences/forums

Reading journals/
updates/articles/

materials

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Huaqiao ✓ ✓

Dr. Cao Guoqi ✓ ✓

Mr. Fung Weichang ✓ ✓

Mr. Xiong Wensen ✓ ✓

Mr. Song Xiangping ✓ ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Yiming ✓ ✓

Mr. Lu Dongcheng ✓ ✓

Dr. Yuan Shumin ✓ ✓

Dr. Zhou Jinhuang (appointed on 8 June 2016) ✓ ✓

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
The code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and the chief executive 
officer (the “CEO”) should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual, and that the division of 
responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO should be clearly stated.

The Company fully supports this division of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO in order to ensure a 
balance of power and authority. The positions of the Chairman and the CEO are segregated and are held by Mr. Zhang 
Huaqiao and Mr. Fung Weichang, an executive Director, respectively. These positions have clearly defined separate 
responsibilities.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
All Directors are appointed for a specific term. All the executive Directors of the Company are engaged on a service 
contract/letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years.

Each of the non-executive Director and INEDs was appointed by a letter of appointment with the Company which is 
for a term of one year and a period of three years respectively, subject to re-election and other requirements under the 
Company’s Articles of Association and their respective letters of appointment.

Besides, the procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are laid down in the 
Company’s Articles of Association. According to the Article 84 of the Article of Association of the Company, at each 
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the 
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be 
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Details for the re-election of Directors are set out in the “Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

COMMITTEES
As part of the corporate governance practices, the Board has established an audit committee, a nomination committee, 
a remuneration committee, an internal control committee and a compliance committee. All of the committees are 
composed of INEDs (except the compliance committee which comprises all the three INEDs and Dr. Cao) with terms 
of reference in accordance with the principles set out in the CG Code. The respective terms of reference of the audit 
committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration committee have been published on the Company’s website 
and the Stock Exchange’s website. The compositions of the various committees of the Company on 31 March 2017 
were set out below:

Audit committee
The audit committee members of the Company are as follows:

Independent Non-executive Directors Attendance at meetings

Dr. Yuan Shumin (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Wang Yiming 4/4
Mr. Lu Dongcheng 4/4

The audit committee meetings shall be held at least once every three months to consider, among others, the Company’s 
budget, revised budget and quarterly, half-yearly and annual results prepared by the Board pursuant to the Company’s 
internal control system. The audit committee held four meetings during the year. Details of the attendance by the 
members of the audit committee was set out above.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the audit committee met with the external auditor to discuss the general scope 
of their audit work and reviewed the management representation letter. It also reviewed the quarterly, interim and 
annual financial statements and reports and discussed with external auditor on any significant or unusual items before 
submission to the Board, reviewed the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the work performed by the 
auditor, their fees and terms of engagement and reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial 
reporting system, internal control system, risk management system and associated procedures. It also reviewed the 
training and continuous professional development of the Directors and the senior management and reviewed the 
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

A new Terms of Reference of the Audit committee was adopted on 9 March 2016 so as to ensure the function of 
overseeing financial reporting system, risk management system and internal control system can be properly performed 
be the Audit Committee.
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Nomination committee
The Company has established a nomination committee which considers and recommends to the Board suitably qualified 
persons to become the Company’s Directors and is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the 
Board on a regular basis. The nomination committee members are as follows:

Independent Non-executive Directors Attendance at meetings

Mr. Lu Dongcheng (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Wang Yiming 1/1
Dr. Yuan Shumin 1/1

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. 
The Company continuously seek to enhance the effectiveness of its Board and to maintain the highest standards of 
corporate governance and recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board, which can be achieved 
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to talents, skills, regional and industry 
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members of the Board. The nomination committee is 
responsible for identifying qualified candidates to become members of the Board. All appointment of members of the 
Board are based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates are likely to bring to the Board. The nomination 
committee will review the board diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its continuing effectiveness.

The meetings of the nomination committee shall be held not less than once a year. Details of the attendance by the 
members of the nomination committee are set out above.

Remuneration committee
The Company has established a remuneration committee which make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s 
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and 
transparent procedure for developing policy on such remuneration. The remuneration committee regularly monitors 
the remuneration of all of the Directors and senior management of the Group such that their remuneration is set at 
appropriate levels. The remuneration committee member are as follows:

Independent Non-executive Directors Attendance at meetings

Dr. Yuan Shumin (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Wang Yiming 1/1
Mr. Lu Dongcheng 1/1

The meetings of the remuneration committee shall be held not less than once a year. Details of the attendance by the 
members of the remuneration committee are set out above.

The remuneration committee has reviewed the current remuneration packages of the Board members. Details of the 
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. Remuneration payable to member 
of senior management (including Directors) are fell within the following bands:

Number

Nil to HK$1,000,000 6
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 –
HK$2,000,001 or above 7

13
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Internal control committee
The Company has established an internal control committee to review the Group’s internal control and risk management 
procedures on regular basis to ensure that proper and appropriate control in respect of the Group’s finance, operations 
and human resources is in place. The internal control committee is also vested with the responsibility of reviewing and 
monitoring the training and continuous professional development of the Group’s senior management.

The internal control committee members are as follows:

Independent Non-executive Directors Attendance at meetings

Dr. Yuan Shumin (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Wang Yiming 4/4
Mr. Lu Dongcheng 4/4

The meetings of the internal control committee shall be held quarterly. The internal control committee held four meetings 
during the year. Details of the attendance by the members of the internal control committee are set out above.

Compliance committee
The Company has established a compliance committee to ensure the Group’s compliance of rules and regulations 
applicable to the Group and in particular the GEM Listing Rules, and to monitor the preference share structure 
arrangement of OCG Thailand as well as the Group’s tax affairs. Further, the compliance committee is responsible for 
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable to Directors and the Group’s employees and 
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in the Company’s Corporate Governance 
Report. The compliance committee will report directly to the Board on the compliance matters of the Group. It will also 
seek advice from the Company’s legal advisers to be retained from time to time.

The compliance committee members are as follows:

Executive Director

Dr. Cao Guoqi (Chairman) 
– a compliance officer of the Company

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Yuan Shumin
Mr. Wang Yiming
Mr. Lu Dongcheng



44 China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

Corporate Governance Report

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting
The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the 
Group’s performance, position and prospects. Management shall provide sufficient explanation and information to 
the Board as will enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and other information presented 
before the Board for approval. Further, the Company also provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on 
the Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their 
duties.

The Board also acknowledges their responsibilities of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group and ensures that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirement of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance. The Board also ensures the timely publication of the financial statements of the Group.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, 
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt about 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board will continue to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements on a going concern basis.

The statement of external auditor of the Company, Mazars CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the 
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

Internal control and risk management
The Board is responsible for monitoring the risk management and internal control systems of the Company and reviewing 
their effectiveness. These risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

Assisted by the Audit Committee, the Board evaluates and determines the nature and extent of significant risks it is 
willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives. The Board lists the risks they identified and the relevant 
measures to manage or mitigate such risks. The Board also oversees the management in the design, implementation 
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. Procedures have been designed and implemented 
to safeguard the Company’s assets against unauthorised use or disposal, ensure maintenance of proper accounting 
records for provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication and ensure the Company’s 
compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Board also ensures the adequacy of resources, staff 
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting 
functions.

To ensure the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems, the Board requests the management 
to facilitate each of the departments of the Company to identify major risk events in the field it operates and assess the 
possibility of occurrence and influence of these risk events to the Company. Each department also prepares solutions 
and mitigation measures to deal with the possible risk events to the management. The management gathers the 
information from each of the departments and provide confirmations and feedbacks to the board on the effectiveness of 
the risk management and internal control system. Based on the information from the management, the Board conducted 
an annual review on the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control system for the year ended 
31 March 2017. The Board concluded that the risk management and internal control systems of the Company were 
adequate and effective during the year ended 31 March 2017.



China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

45

Corporate Governance Report

The Company does not have an internal audit function as the Board presently considers that the size, nature and 
complexity of the Group’s business does not require such function.

With respect of procedures and internal controls of the handling and dissemination of inside information, the Company 
is fully aware of its obligation under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules. 
The Board has adopted a policy which contains the guidelines of the Directors, officers and relevant employees of the 
Company to ensure that the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the public in an equal and timely 
manner in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Auditor’s remuneration
The auditor provides an objective assessment of the financial information presented by the management, and is 
considered one of the essential elements to ensure effective corporate governance. For the year ended 31 March 2017, 
the remuneration paid/payable to the auditor of the Company, Mazars CPA Limited were set out below:

Nature of services Fees paid/payable
HK$’000

Audit service 1,400

Audit related service
– Agreed-upon procedures on quarterly and interim results 440
– Other professional services 330

Total 2,170

*	 The auditor’s remuneration disclosed in note 8(d) to the consolidated financial statements included HK$310,000, which was 
paid to the statutory auditors of the overseas subsidiaries of the Company (not Mazars CPA Limited).

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting and putting forward 
proposals at general meeting
Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, any one or one more members holding at the date of deposit 
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general 
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the 
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business 
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If 
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting within twenty-one days of such deposit, the requisitionist(s) himself 
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of 
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the secretary of the Company 
by mail at Office No. 01, 31st Floor, Hong Kong Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The company secretary 
of the Company is responsible for forwarding communications relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities 
to the Board and communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions and inquiries, to the 
Directors of the Company.

Shareholders may also make enquires with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary supports the Board and Board Committees by ensuring good information flow within the Board 
and that Board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is a full time employee of the Company and 
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The company secretary is appointed by the Board and reports 
to the Chairman. The company secretary also plays an essential role in the relationship between the Company and its 
shareholders, and assists the Board in discharging its obligations to shareholders pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Tang Wai Leung is the company secretary of the Company. He is a full-time employee of the Company and 
undertook over 15 hours of relevant professional training to update his skills and knowledge during the year ended 31 
March 2017.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is 
committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and investors.

The Company updates its shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance through its 
annual, interim and quarterly reports and notices, announcements and circulars. The corporate website of the Company 
(http://www.chinasmartpay.com) provides a communication platform to the public and the shareholders.



China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

47

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental
Emissions
The Group is engaged in the prepaid cards and internet payment and prestige benefits businesses in the PRC, 
e-commerce and trading financing business among Hong Kong and the PRC, third party card acquiring business in 
Thailand and securities investment business in Hong Kong. The fields in which the Group operates are not a major 
source of environmental pollution, and the impact of the Group’s operations on the environment is minimal. During the 
year ended 31 March 2017, the Group has not been the subject of any environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or 
disciplinary actions.

The Group aims to reduce the energy consumption and carbon emissions and always seeks less harmful ways to 
the environment in the operations. The Group constantly incorporate green principles into each project, for example 
the environmental harmfulness and the capacity of energy saving of equipment used in events during the selection of 
suppliers. Furthermore, at the Group’s offices, the indoor temperature and the running time of air-conditioning system 
are controlled to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions.

Use of resources
In view of the Group’s business nature, the energy, power and water utilisation of the Group is relatively low. The Group 
is committed to building an environmental friendly working environment that conserve natural resources. The Group 
strive to minimise the environmental impact by saving electricity, encouraging recycle of office supplies and using 
environmental friendly equipments and tools in the program production and event organisation.

The water consumption of the Group is minimal. For office electricity control, the Group require employees to confirm 
that lights and electronic appliances are switched off before they leave the office. Energy consumption of any electronic 
appliances will be the priority consideration before purchase. For office consumables consumption management, the 
Group encourages its employees to handle documents electronically. When the use of paper is required, only formal 
and confidential documents can use single-sided printing, other documents are required to use double-sided printing. In 
addition, we will arrange conference calls or video conference instead of face-to-face meetings where possible.

Environment and Natural Resources
The Group seeks to work towards environmental best practices. This involves giving careful consideration to various 
operational aspects and activities within the value chain to minimise any environmental impact. Green messages and 
practical tips for green living are regularly circulated amongst employees to achieve environmental sustainability.

SOCIAL
Employment and Labour Practices
Employment
Employees are regarded as the greatest and valuable assets and core competitive advantage of the Group and also 
provide driving force for the continuous innovation of the Group. The Group rewards and recognises performing staff by 
providing a competitive remuneration package and implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate 
incentives, and to promote career development and progression by appropriate training and providing opportunities 
within the Group for career advancement. Also, in order to provide a good and fair working environment and safeguards 
the well-being of the employees, the Group seriously considers all those valuable opinions from the employees for 
enhancing workplace productivity and harmony which can help the Group to build a united and harmonious professional 
team.

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on it relating to 
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, 
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare in the PRC, Hong Kong and Thailand and the relevant administrative 
rules and measures are strictly enforced.

We strictly complied with the laws, regulations and policies regarding the social security in the PRC and Hong Kong’s 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The Group paid social insurances, housing fund and mandatory 
provident fund in a timely manner for all the staff.
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Health and Safety
The Group has been committed to protect employees’ health and safety. Sound management systems have been 
established in occupational health and safety in strict compliance with the regulations on occupational health and safety 
in Hong Kong and the PRC. It builds a solid foundation for safe operation. During the year ended 31 March 2017, 
the Group had not encountered any major accidents during the operation and had complied with relevant laws and 
regulations that have a significant impact on it relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees 
from occupational hazards.

Development and Training
Skilled employees who are capable to meet the demands of a dynamic industry is crucial to the success of the Group. 
Training is an important way to improve the overall quality and provide comprehensive development of the employees. 
The Group has continuously perfected and modified the employee training management system, established a multilevel 
training system, created various learning opportunities for the employees, in order to enhance their competence, job 
skills, knowledge and performance. The Group also encourages the employees to identify their own personal objectives 
for development, allowing them to grow together with the Group.

In daily operations, the Group provides induction training for new employees. Experienced employees will act as mentors 
to guide the new comers on jobs. Such arrangements can enhance the communication and team spirit, also improve 
their technical skills and managerial capability and encourage the learning and further development of the employees 
at all levels. The Group arranges the trainings designated according to the roles and responsibilities of the employees, 
mainly includes human resources management, managerial skills, legal affairs, risk management, project running, 
financial and auditing, technical research and development, environmental protection, occupational health and safety etc. 
The Group also updates the latest information of the industry and laws and regulations which is essential to the Group’s 
operation and their job responsibilities from time to time.

Labour Standards
The Group’s recruitment management system measures clearly on the staff’s age requirement. Review and verification 
of applicant’s identity information is required during the recruitment process, and recruitment of child labor is strictly 
prohibited. Applicant is also required to provide document proofs of academic qualifications and working experience 
for verifications, applicant who is suspected to have false academic qualifications and working experience will not be 
employed. The Group provides its staff with a safe, health, comfortable working environment with labor protection, 
reasonable remuneration, rest periods and various welfare. The Group enters employment contract with each of its 
employee in accordance with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong and also prohibits forced labor.

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management
The Group has implemented a strict selection process on its suppliers, taking into consideration such elements as 
supplier qualification, business reputation, past performance and price. The Group closely monitor and perform regular 
review on the performance of its suppliers to ensure the product quality. For those products that do not meet the 
product quality and safety requirement, they will be specifically distinguished and handled to avoid misuse and delivery.

Product and Service Responsibility
The Group aims to achieve the highest possible standard with all the services provided. The Group has established 
relevant policies which cover service quality guarantee, fair advertising and after-sale service in order to ensure relevant 
measures comply with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on it relating to health and safety, 
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
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The Group pays highly attention to the quality of services. The Group set up relevant quality inspection policies for 
different type of services, communicate and confirm the working plan with customer before the project starts and 
actively coordinate the process of the project with customer. During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group have not 
had any complaints or request to terminate projects due to poor quality. If a complaint should arise, the Company will 
immediately assess the complaint and conduct an internal investigation into the matter to identify the source of the issue. 
The Group has close connection with customers. If the customers do not satisfy the quality of the services, the Group 
arranges sufficient channels and staffs for customers to communicate and provide the solutions to the problems as soon 
as possible.

Anti-corruption
During the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of this report, all of the Group’s operations comply with local 
and national legislation on standards of conduct, such as with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance and Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions) Ordinance in Hong 
Kong and relevant legislation on anti-corruption and bribery in the PRC.

The Group requires employees to strictly conform to code of business ethics and put any corruption bribe behavior to 
an end as stipulated in the employment contracts. In the cases of conflict of interest, it must be reported to the Group’s 
management. Employees who engage in business operations and represent the Company’s professional image, are 
strictly prohibited to use business opportunities or power for personal interest or benefit.

Public tendering will be made for any project in larger sum of amount where at least three suppliers are invited for tender. 
Service contracts in different amount are required to be examined and approved by different management.

Community
Community Investment and involvement
The Group always seeks to be a positive force in the communities in which it operates and maintain close 
communications and interactions with the communities in order to contribute to local development.

The Group believes that the creation of a beautiful and peaceful community relies on the cooperation of people, 
corporations and the government. By working together with various community partners, the Group believes it can bring 
a tremendous impact on the sustainable development of the communities in which it operates.

The Group will also actively encourage staff to volunteer their time and skills to benefit local communities. It gives 
employees the opportunities to find out more about the issues about the society and environment and reinforce the 
Group’s corporate values.

The Group will consider from time to time to donate to charitable organisations when the Group records profit after tax 
and have sufficient cash flow.
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present its annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 to the shareholders.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out 
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at 
that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements which appear on page 66 to page 159 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out in the 
financial summary on page 160 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated 
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman 
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVE
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 42(a) to the 
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 March 2017, other than share premium, no other distributable reserve is available for distribution to shareholders 
by the Company.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 March 2017, the percentage of revenue and cost of goods sold/cost of services rendered 
attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are set out below:

Revenue
– The largest customer 14%
– The total of five largest customers 51%

Cost of services rendered/cost of goods sold
– The largest supplier 27%
– The total of five largest suppliers 60%

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors nor their associates nor any shareholders (which to the knowledge 
of Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five largest customers and 
suppliers of the Group.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of the report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Zhang Huaqiao (Chairman)
Dr. Cao Guoqi
Mr. Fung Weichang
Mr. Xiong Wensen
Mr. Song Xiangping

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Xie Zhichun (appointed on 27 April 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Yiming
Mr. Lu Dongcheng
Dr. Yuan Shumin
Dr. Zhou Jinhuang (appointed on 8 June 2016)

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang Huaqiao, Mr. Xiong Wensen and 
Mr. Lu Dongcheng shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Being eligible, 
Mr. Zhang Huaqiao and Mr. Xiong Wensen will offer themselves for re-election as executive Directors and Mr. Lu 
Dongcheng will offer himself for re-election as independent non-executive Director of the Company.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Company’s Article of Association, Mr. Xie Zhichun (who was appointed as a 
non-executive Director of the Company on 27 April 2017) shall hold office only until the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company and is eligible and has offered himself for re-election.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Biographic information of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on page 34 to page 37 of this 
annual report.
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DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS/LETTER OF APPOINTMENT
Mr. Zhang Huaqiao (“Mr. Zhang”), a non-executive Director of the Company, entered into a letter of appointment with the 
Company with a fixed term of services for three years commencing from 7 September 2012, subject to Article 83(3) and 
provisions for the retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with the Articles of 
Association of the Company. Mr. Zhang was re-designated as an executive Director of the Company for a term of three 
years with effect from 13 May 2015. Mr. Zhang is entitled to receive a director’s fee of HK$40,000 per month. The Board 
has also granted to Mr. Zhang, who has also accepted, 6,000,000 share options on 7 September 2012 pursuant to the 
letter of appointment to subscribe 6,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company under and subject to and 
upon the terms and conditions of the share options scheme adopted by the Company on 14 August 2009. The exercise 
price of the share options shall be HK$0.84 per share. The validity period of the share options shall be five years from 
7 September 2012. 2,000,000 share options have been vested on each of 6 March 2013, 6 March 2014 and 6 March 
2015 respectively.

Dr. Cao Guoqi (“Dr. Cao”) and Mr. Fung Weichang (“Mr. Fung”) were appointed as executive Directors of the Company 
for an initial term of three years commencing from 18 September 2013 and expired on 18 September 2016, subject 
to retirement by rotation and re-election under the Articles of Association of the Company. Dr. Cao and Mr. Fung 
shall receive a remuneration of HK$20,000 and HK$30,000 per month respectively payable monthly in arrears. The 
remuneration of Mr. Fung was adjusted to HK$10,000 per month payable monthly in arrears with effect from 1 August 
2016.

Mr. Xiong Wensen (“Mr. Xiong”) was appointed as an executive Director of the Company for an initial term of three years 
commencing from 3 June 2014 and expired on 2 June 2017, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election under 
the Articles of Association of the Company. Mr. Xiong shall receive a remuneration of HK$120,000 per month payable 
monthly in arrears. The remuneration of Mr Xiong was adjusted to HK166,667 per month payable monthly in arrears with 
effect from 1 January 2016.

Mr. Song Xiangping (“Mr. Song”) was appointed as an executive Director of the Company for an initial term of three years 
commencing 15 January 2015 and expiring on 15 January 2018, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election under 
the Articles of Association of the Company. Mr. Song shall receive a remuneration of HK$60,000 per month payable 
monthly in arrears. The remuneration of Mr. Song was adjusted to HK$100,000 per month payable monthly in arrears 
with effect from 1 May 2016.

The current basic annual salaries and bonus of the executive Directors are as follows:

Name Amount

Mr. Zhang 480,000
Dr. Cao 240,000
Mr. Fung 200,000
Mr. Xiong 2,000,000
Mr. Song 1,379,000

Mr. Wang Yiming and Mr. Lu Dongcheng were appointed as INEDs of the Company for an initial term of one year 
commencing from 2 August 2013. Their directors’ fee was HK$72,000 per annum respectively. Dr. Yuan Shumin was 
appointed as an INED of the Company for an initial term of one year commencing from 19 May 2014. His director’s fee 
was HK$72,000 per annum. Dr. Zhou Jinhuang was appointed as an INED of the Company for an initial fixed term of 
three years commencing from 8 June 2016. His director’s fee was $72,000 per annum. None of the INEDs is expected 
to receive any other remuneration (save for the share options that may be granted) for holding their offices as the INEDs.

The letter of appointment is renewable automatically until terminated by not less than three months notice in writing 
served by either party on the other expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter.
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None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into any service 
agreement with the Company which was not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 
compensation other that statutory compensation.

The Directors’ remuneration (including any share options that may be granted to the Directors) is determined with 
reference to the results of the Group and the performance of the individual Director.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
No Director had material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group 
to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the financial year ended 31 March 2017.

COMPETING INTERESTS
During the financial year ended 31 March 2017, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the Company or 
their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in any business which competes or may 
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group nor any conflicts of interest which has or may have 
with the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of 
the Directors and senior management based on the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable 
market practices.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 
EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest emoluments are set out in note 9 to 10 to the 
consolidated financial statement, respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN 
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 March 2017, the interests of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares 
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which 
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the 
SFO), or were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or were 
required, pursuant to Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
were as follows:

(a)	 Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company (“Shares”)

Name Capacity Number of shares
Percentage of
shareholding

Dr. Cao Corporate – Interest of controlled 
corporation (Note 1)

62,890,000 4.30%

Beneficial owner (Note 2) 21,000,000 1.44%

Interest of spouse (Note 3) 1,370,000 0.09%

Mr. Fung Beneficial owner (Note 2) 2,000,000 0.14%

Mr. Zhang Beneficial owner 6,460,000 0.44%

Beneficial owner (Note 2) 31,000,000 2.12%

Mr. Xiong Beneficial owner (Note 2) 13,600,000 0.93%

Mr. Song Beneficial owner (Note 2) 5,000,000 0.34%

Dr. Zhou Beneficial owner (Note 2) 1,400,000 0.10%

Notes:	 1.	 These 62,890,000 Shares were held by Probest Limited (“Probest”) which in turn is wholly owned by Dr. Cao. 
As Dr. Cao is the controlling shareholder of Probest, he is deemed to be interested in these 62,890,000 Shares 
held by Probest under the SFO.

2.	 These Shares represent the options of shares granted to Dr. Cao, Mr. Fung, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Xiong, Mr. Song 
and Dr. Zhou pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme. Accordingly, they are deemed to be interested 
in these Shares under the SFO.

3.	 These 1,370,000 Shares were held by Ms. Zheng Lu who is the wife of Dr. Cao. Accordingly, Dr. Cao is deemed 
to be interested in these 1,370,000 Shares held by Ms. Zheng Lu under the SFO.

(b)	 Associated corporation
Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, so far as is known to any of the Directors or the chief executive 
of the Company, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in 
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning 
of part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
Divisions 7 & 8 of part XV of the SFO (including interest and short positions which they were taken or deemed 
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing 
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 14 August 2009, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of recognising and 
motivating the contribution of the eligible persons to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries and/or Invested Entity (as 
defined below). Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may grant options to (i) any employee (whether full time or part time) 
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
holds an equity interest, including any executive director but excluding any non-executive director of the Company, any 
of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (ii) any non-executive director (including any independent nonexecutive director) 
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (iii) any shareholder of the Company, any of its subsidiaries 
or any Invested Entity who has, in the opinion of the Board, made contribution to the business growth of the Company, 
any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (iv) any supplier of goods and/or services to the Company, any of its 
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (v) any business collaborator, business consultant, joint venture or business partner, 
technical, financial, legal and other professional advisers engaged by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested 
Entity; or (vi) any associate of the directors or the substantial shareholders of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any 
Invested Entity who has, in the opinion of the Board, made contribution to the business growth of the Company, any of 
its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity.

The total number of the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme 
and any other scheme must not exceed 143,604,915 Shares, representing 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date 
of Annual General Meeting (i.e. 22 August 2016) approving the refreshment of 10% Limit. The total number of the 
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to a participant under the Scheme (including both 
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the last day of 
such 12-month period unless approval from the shareholders of the Company in general meeting is obtained with such 
participant and his/her associates abstaining from voting.

The exercise period of an option under the Scheme will be notified by the Board to each participant which shall not 
exceed 10 years from the date upon which the option is granted. The Scheme does not contain specific provisions on 
the minimum period during which an option must be held before it can be exercised. Upon acceptance of the option, the 
eligible person shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the grant. Subject to the early termination 
provisions of the Scheme, the Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10 years commencing from 14 August 2009.

The exercise price for Shares under the Share Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified to 
each grantee and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of grant 
and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company granted the following share options under the Scheme:

Grantee: Date of grant:

Exercise price of
the Share options

granted:

Number of
the Share Options

granted:

Closing price of
the Share on

the date of grant:
Validity period of
the Share options:

Vesting date of
the Share options:

Mr. Zhang Huaqiao 7 September 2012 HK$0.84 per share 6,000,000 HK$0.84 per share Five years 
(7 September 2012 to 
6 September 2017)

2,000,000 Share options have been vested 
on 6 March 2013; 2,000,000 Share options 
have been vested on 6 March 2014; 
2,000,000 Share options have been vested 
on 6 March 2015.

(a)	 Dr. Cao Guoqi and
(b)	 Mr. Fung Weichang

19 November 2013 HK$1.66 per share (a) 6,000,000
(b) 2,000,000

HK$1.64 per share Five years 
(19 November 2013 to 
18 November 2018)

(a)	 3,000,000 Share options have been 
vested on 19 November 2013; and 
3,000,000 Share options have been 
vested on 19 November 2014.

(b)	 2,000,000 Share options have been 
vested on 19 November 2013.

Mr. Xiong Wensen 22 September 2014 HK$1.55 per share 8,600,000 HK$1.40 per share Five years 
(22 September 2014 to 
21 September 2019)

8,600,000 Share options have been vested 
on 22 September 2014.

(a)	 Mr. Zhang Huaqiao
(b)	 Dr. Cao Guoqi
(b)	 Mr. Xiong Wensen
(b)	 Mr. Song Xiangping

21 April 2015 HK$2.22 per share 	 (a)	 20,000,000
	 (b)	 5,000,000

HK$2.20 per share Five years 
(21 April 2015 to 
20 April 2020)

(a)	 6,666,666 Share options have been 
vested on 21 April 2016; 6,666,667 
Share options have been vested on 
21 April 2017 and 6,666,667 Share 
options shall be vested on 21 April 
2018.

(b)	 1,666,666 Share options have been 
vested on 21 April 2016; 1,666,667 
Share options have been vested on 
21 April 2017 and 1,666,667 Share 
options shall be vested on 21 April 
2018.

(a)	 Mr. Zhang Huaqiao
(b)	 Dr. Cao Guoqi
(c)	 Mr. Zhou Jinhuang

1 September 2016 HK$1.68 per share 	 (a)	 5,000,000
	 (b)	 10,000,000
	 (c)	 1,400,000

HK$1.68 per share Five years 
(1 September 2016 to 
31 August 2021)

(a)	 1,666,666 Share options shall be 
vested on 1 September 2017 and 
3,333,334 shall be vested on the 
1st day of each month over a period 
of three years commencing from 1 
September 2018 in equal portions.

(b)	 3,333,333 Share options shall be 
vested on 1 September 2017 and 
6,666,667 shall be vested on the 
1st day of each month over a period 
of three years commencing from 1 
September 2018 in equal portions.

(c)	 466,666 Share options shall be vested 
on 1 September 2017 and 933,334 
shall be vested on the 1st day of each 
month over a period of three years 
commencing from 1 September 2018 
in equal portions.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Saved as disclosed above, at no time during the year, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company (including 
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) had any interest in, or had been granted, or exercised, any rights to 
subscribe for shares (or warrants or debentures, if applicable) of the Company and/or its associated corporations (within 
the meaning of the SFO).

Saved as disclosed above and in the share option scheme of the Company, at no time during the year was the 
Company, any of its subsidiaries, its associated companies, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any 
arrangements to enable the Directors or the chief executive of the Company to hold any interests or short positions in the 
shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
the SFO).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES DISCLOSEABLE 
UNDER THE SFO
As at 31 March 2017, so far as is known to the Directors, the following persons (other than a Director or chief executive 
of the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall 
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded 
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

The Company
Long positions in Shares

Name Capacity Number of Shares
Percentage of
shareholding

LJF Payment Company Limited Beneficial owner 184,210,000 12.61%

Tian Li Holdings Limited (“Tian Li”) (Note 1) Beneficial owner 174,500,000 11.94%

Cheng Nga Ming Vincent (“Mr. Cheng”) Corporate – Interest of 
controlled corporation

174,500,000 11.94%

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, according to the register of interests required to be kept by the 
Company under section 336 of the SFO, there was no person who had any interest or short position in the shares or 
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Note:	 1.	 Tian Li is a company owned as to 70% and 30% by Mr. Cheng and Ms. Cheng Ngan Yee respectively. Ms. Cheng Ngan 
Yee is the sister of Mr. Cheng. As Mr. Cheng is the controlling shareholder of Tian Li, he is deemed to be interested in 
these Shares held by Tian Li under the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE 
COMPANY
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities 
during the year ended 31 March 2017.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES
Particulars of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the 
GEM Listing Rules and considers all the INEDs to be independent.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out on page 38 to page 46 of 
this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of 
the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OF BUSINESS REVIEW
Addition information of business review is set out on page 6 under the “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this 
report.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been audited by Mazars CPA 
Limited, who will retire and a resolution to re-appoint Mazars CPA Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at 
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

PUBLICATION OF INFORMATION ON WEBSITES
This annual report is available for viewing on the website of Stock Exchange at www.hkex.com.hk and on the website of 
the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Zhang Huaqiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2017
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To the members of
China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 159, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2017, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as 
at 31 March 2017, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong 
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Consolidation of the entities under structured 
agreements (the “Relevant Entities”)
Refer to signif icant accounting policy and crit ical 
accounting estimate and judgement in Note 3 and the 
disclosures of the Relevant Entities in Note 13(b) and Note 
13(d) to the consolidated financial statements

The Group, through certain of its indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, entered into series of structured agreements 
(the “Structured Agreements”) in the People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC”) with the Relevant Entities and the 
legal owners of the Relevant Entities. The Group, through 
the Structured Agreements, has exposure and rights to 
variable returns from its involvement with the Relevant 
Entities and have the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the Relevant Entities. Therefore, the Group 
is considered to have control over the Relevant Entities.

In determining the extent of the Group’s involvement 
and control over the Relevant Entities, the management 
considers a number of factors including whether the 
Group has: (1) exercised effective financial and operational 
control over the Relevant Entities; (2) exercised equity 
holders’ voting rights of the Relevant Entities; (3) received 
substantially all of the economic interest returns generated 
by the Relevant Entities; (4) obtained an irrevocable and 
exclusive right to purchase the remaining entire equity 
interest in the Relevant Entities from the respective equity 
holders; and (5) obtained a pledge over the entire equity 
interest of the Relevant Entities from their respective equity 
holders under the Structured Agreements.

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter 
because the consolidation of the Relevant Entities involves 
a significant degree of management judgement.

Our key procedures in relation to the consolidation of the 
Relevant Entities included: 

a)	 Evaluated the terms in the Structured Agreements 
in connection with the Group’s control over the 
Relevant Entities;

b)	 Understood how the Group controls the daily 
business operation of the Relevant Entities;

c)	 Evaluated the management’s assessment in relation 
to the control over the Relevant Entities according 
to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; 
and

d)	 Obtained an updated legal opinion from the 
Company’s PRC legal counsel regarding whether 
the Structured Agreements are in compliance with 
relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally 
binding and enforceable.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Recognition of revenue from prepaid cards and 
internet payment business
Refer to significant accounting policy in Note 3 and the 
disclosures of revenue and unutilised float funds in Note 6 
and Note 25(c) to the consolidated financial statements

The Group maintains sophisticated information technology 
(“IT”) systems in prepaid cards and internet payment 
business in order to track the point of service provision 
for each transaction and also to track the issuance and 
subsequent consumption and utilisation of prepaid cards 
and the internet payment accounts. Revenue from prepaid 
cards and internet payment business highly rely on the 
information generated from such IT systems.

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter 
because revenue is one of the Group’s key performance 
indicators and it involves complicated IT systems, all of 
which give rise to an inherent risk that revenue could be 
recorded in an incorrect accounting period or could be 
subject to manipulation to meet targets or expectations.

Our key procedures in respect of the recognition of 
revenue from prepaid cards and internet payment business 
included:

a)	 With the involvement of our IT experts, assessed the 
design, implementation and operating effectiveness 
of management’s general IT controls and key 
application controls over the Group’s IT systems 
which govern revenue recognition, including access 
controls, controls over program changes, interfaces 
between different systems and key manual internal 
controls over revenue recognition;

b)	 Performed analytical procedures on revenue from 
prepaid cards and internet payment business by 
extracting each type of revenue using independent 
inputs and information generated from the Group’s 
IT systems and comparing them with recorded 
revenue;

c)	 Inspected underlying documents for any journal 
entries which were considered to be material or met 
other specified risk-based criteria; and

d)	 Inspected the key terms and conditions of contracts 
with major business partners to assess if there were 
any terms and conditions that may have affected 
the accounting treatment of the related revenue.

Key Audit Matters (continued)
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill
Refer to signif icant accounting policy and crit ical 
accounting estimate and judgement in Note 3 and the 
disclosures of goodwill in Note 16 to the consolidated 
financial statements

At 31 March 2017, the Group had goodwi l l  o f 
approximately HK$657,814,000 arising from acquisitions 
of businesses in previous years.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, goodwill were 
allocated to cash generating units (“CGUs”) and the 
recoverable amount of each CGU identified was determined 
with reference to value-in-use (the “VIU”) calculations 
using cash flow projections or business valuation under 
a market-based approach (the “Business Valuation”). 
In carrying out the impairment assessments, significant 
management judgement was used to appropriately 
identify each CGU and to determine the key assumptions 
underlying the VIU calculations and the Business Valuation. 
Management has engaged an independent professional 
valuer to estimate the recoverable amount of certain 
significant CGUs. Impairment loss of approximately 
HK$988,000 on goodwill arising from the e-commerce 
business has been recognised for current reporting period.

We have identified the above matter as a key audit 
matter because the estimation of recoverable amount of 
each CGU involved a significant degree of management 
judgement and therefore was subject to an inherent risk of 
error.

Our key procedures in relation to management assessment 
of the impairment of goodwill included:

a)	 Evaluated the independent professional valuer’s 
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

b)	 Assessed the appropriateness of the valuation 
me thodo log ies  used by  the  i ndependen t 
professional valuer and management to estimate 
recoverable amount of CGUs;

c)	 Challenged the reasonableness of key assumptions 
based on our knowledge and understanding of the 
businesses and industry; and

d)	 Evaluated the sensitivity of the impairment tests to 
changes in key assumptions.

Key Audit Matters (continued)
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Recoverability assessment of trade and other 
receivables
Refer to signif icant accounting policy and crit ical 
accounting estimate and judgement in Note 3, the 
disclosures of trade and other receivables in Note 22 
and the disclosures of the financial risk management – 
credit risk in Note 38(a)(iii) to the consolidated financial 
statements.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had trade and other 
receivables of approximately HK$664,454,000, net of 
impairment allowance of approximately HK$531,000.

The recoverability assessment of these receivables 
involves significant judgement based on a number of 
factors, including the debtors’ current creditworthiness, 
past collection history, subsequent settlement and ageing 
analysis and the guarantees obtained.

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter 
because the recoverability assessment of these receivables 
involves a significant degree of management judgement 
and therefore is subject to an inherent risk of error.

Our key procedures in relation to the recoverability 
assessment of trade and other receivables included:

a)	 Evaluated the adequacy and appropriateness of the 
Group’s credit risk assessment policies to limit the 
exposure of credit risk of these receivables;

b)	 Tested the set t lement o f t rade and other 
receivables throughout the year, on a sample basis, 
to ensure the reliability of past collection history for 
management’s recoverability assessment;

c)	 Tested the accuracy of the ageing analysis of trade 
receivables, on a sample basis; and

d)	 Assessed the reasonableness of recoverability of 
trade and other receivables with reference to credit 
history including default or delay in payments, 
settlement records, subsequent settlements and 
ageing analysis.

Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in this annual report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Key Audit Matters (continued)
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or 
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements (continued)
•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 23 June 2017

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is:
She Shing Pang
Practising Certificate number: P05510
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2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 6 489,121 598,300

Cost of services rendered and cost of goods sold (268,071) (394,074)

Gross profit 221,050 204,226

Other income 7 1,881 2,553
General administrative expenses (234,837) (176,810)
Selling and distribution costs (52,149) (38,129)
Finance costs 8 (31,095) (10,601)
Fair value loss on contingent consideration 

– consideration shares 26 (5,763) (32,187)
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments 29 8,617 –
Fair value (loss) gain on financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (68,580) 139,700
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 34 570 –
Gain on disposal of equity interest in an associate – 48
Impairment loss on goodwill 16 (988) –
Share of results of joint ventures 265 6
Share of results of associates (1,874) (991)

(Loss) Profit before tax 8 (162,903) 87,815

Income tax expenses 11 (9,817) (17,384)

(Loss) Profit for the year (172,720) 70,431

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (174,396) 63,820
Non-controlling interests 1,676 6,611

(172,720) 70,431

(Loss) Earnings per share for (loss) profit 
attributable to equity holders of the Company

Basic 12 (12.07) HK cents 5.06 HK cents

Diluted 12 (12.07) HK cents 4.80 HK cents
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) Profit for the year (172,720) 70,431

Other comprehensive loss
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates 

– exchange difference on translation (2,054) –
Share of other comprehensive loss of joint ventures 

– exchange difference on translation (686) –
Exchange difference on translation of foreign subsidiaries (59,824) (38,497)

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year (235,284) 31,934

Total comprehensive (loss) income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (235,764) 26,797
Non-controlling interests 480 5,137

(235,284) 31,934
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2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Interests in joint ventures 14 10,433 10,854
Interests in associates 15 29,539 75,562
Goodwill 16 657,814 690,170
Property, plant and equipment 17 49,276 46,104
Intangible assets 18 34,461 36,603
Other investments 19 44,030 –
Other receivables – deposits on investments 22 302,921 18,041
Deferred tax assets 27 – 1,170

1,128,474 878,504

Current assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 139,700 208,280
Inventories 21 3,444 9,925
Other investments 19 – 9,622
Tax recoverable 1,869 –
Trade and other receivables 22 361,533 277,148
Restricted funds 23 451,560 556,930
Cash held by a security broker – 12,554
Cash and bank balances 24 264,572 230,509

1,222,678 1,304,968

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 519,235 652,969
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured – 20,206
Tax payables 9,327 16,364
Current portion of contingent consideration 

– consideration shares 26 64,313 36,089

592,875 725,628

Net current assets 629,803 579,340

Total assets less current liabilities 1,758,277 1,457,844
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2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 27 4,239 2,477
Other long-term liabilities 28 1,747 1,690
Contingent consideration – consideration shares 26 – 63,903
Derivative financial instruments 29 18,205 –
Bonds payables 29 368,140 –
Convertible bonds 29 70,284 –

462,615 68,070

NET ASSETS 1,295,662 1,389,774

Capital and reserves
Share capital 30 14,611 14,526
Reserves 1,220,645 1,352,735

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 1,235,256 1,367,261

Non-controlling interests 60,406 22,513

TOTAL EQUITY 1,295,662 1,389,774

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2017 and signed on its behalf by

Zhang Huaqiao Cao Guoqi
Director Director
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
reserve

Exchange
reserve

Statutory
reserve

Capital
redemption

reserve

Share
option

reserve

Convertible
bonds

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
(Note 30) (Note 31(a)) (Note 31(b)) (Note 31(c)) (Note 31(d)) (Note 31(e)) (Note 32)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2015 10,368 583,562 6,996 (940) 766 – 63,930 – (102,284) 562,398 21,970 584,368

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 63,820 63,820 6,611 70,431

Total other comprehensive loss:
Item that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on translation of 

foreign subsidiaries – – – (37,023) – – – – – (37,023) (1,474) (38,497)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – (37,023) – – – – 63,820 26,797 5,137 31,934

Transaction with owners:
Contributions and distributions
Recognition of share-based 

compensation cost – – – – – – 66,487 – – 66,487 – 66,487
Issue of convertible bonds – – – – – – – 130,690 – 130,690 – 130,690
Conversion of convertible bonds issued 

under the subscription agreements 
(Note 30(a)) 838 154,404 – – – – – (65,340) – 89,902 – 89,902

Conversion of convertible bonds issued 
under the placing agreements 
(Note 30(b)) 838 155,050 – – – – – (65,350) – 90,538 – 90,538

Consideration shares issued upon 
subscription in July 2015 (Note 30(c)) 640 74,670 – – – – – – – 75,310 – 75,310

Shares issued upon subscription 
in January 2016 (Note 30(d)) 1,842 348,142 – – – – – – – 349,984 – 349,984

Transfer to statutory reserve – – – – 1,779 – – – (1,779) – – –
Repurchase of issued shares (Note 31(e)) – – – – – (27,379) – – – (27,379) – (27,379)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  

of non-wholly owned subsidiaries – – – – – – – – – – (6,938) (6,938)

4,158 732,266 – – 1,779 (27,379) 66,487 – (1,779) 775,532 (6,938) 768,594

Changes in ownership interests
Non-controlling interests arising from 

incorporation of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – – – 5,952 5,952
Acquisition of additional interest in 

a subsidiary – – – – – – – – 2,534 2,534 (3,608) (1,074)

– – – – – – – – 2,534 2,534 2,344 4,878

At 31 March 2016 14,526 1,315,828 6,996 (37,963) 2,545 (27,379) 130,417 – (37,709) 1,367,261 22,513 1,389,774
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
reserve

Exchange
reserve

Statutory
reserve

Capital
redemption

reserve

Share
option

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
(Note 30) (Note 31(a)) (Note 31(b)) (Note 31(c)) (Note 31(d)) (Note 31(e)) (Note 32)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2016 14,526 1,315,828 6,996 (37,963) 2,545 (27,379) 130,417 (37,709) 1,367,261 22,513 1,389,774

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (174,396) (174,396) 1,676 (172,720)

Total other comprehensive loss:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to  

profit or loss
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates – 

exchange difference on translation – – – (2,054) – – – – (2,054) – (2,054)
Share of other comprehensive loss of joint ventures 

– exchange difference on translation – – – (686) – – – – (686) – (686)
Exchange difference on translation of  

foreign subsidiaries – – – (58,628) – – – – (58,628) (1,196) (59,824)

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (61,368) – – – (174,396) (235,764) 480 (235,284)

Transaction with owners:
Contributions and distributions
Recognition of share-based compensation cost – – – – – – 62,330 – 62,330 – 62,330
Cancellation of repurchased shares (Note 30(e)) (166) (27,213) – – – 27,379 – – – – –
Consideration shares issued upon fulfilment of 

performance target in January 2017 (Note 30(f)) 251 41,191 – – – – – – 41,442 – 41,442
Transfer to statutory reserve – – – – 3,711 – – (3,711) – – –

85 13,978 – – 3,711 27,379 62,330 (3,711) 103,772 – 103,772

Changes in ownership interests
Non-controlling interests arising from incorporation of 

subsidiaries – – – – – – – – – 37,413 37,413

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) – – – (13) – – – – (13) – (13)

At 31 March 2017 14,611 1,329,806 6,996 (99,344) 6,256 – 192,747 (215,816) 1,235,256 60,406 1,295,662
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2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash used in operations 33 (38,235) (84,821)
Interest paid (19,177) (5,286)
Interest received 1,179 682
Income tax paid (14,997) (5,380)

Net cash used in operating activities (71,230) (94,805)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of subsidiaries – (74,030)
Disposal of subsidiaries 34 (977) –
Investment in associates – (47,911)
Investment in joint ventures – (3,165)
Additions in property, plant and equipment 17 (14,634) (10,145)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 95
Additions in intangible assets 18 (12,784) (31,020)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – (68,580)
Purchase of other investments (44,030) (9,622)
Proceeds from disposal of other investments 9,019 1,860
Deposits on investments paid (279,753) (12,027)
Acquisition of additional interests in a subsidiary – (1,074)
Proceeds from disposal of interest in an associate – 1,351

Net cash used in investing activities (343,146) (254,268)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of new preference shares 

by a subsidiary – 1,690
Payment for cancellation of old preference shares of 

a subsidiary – (364)
Proceeds from issuance of shares upon 

placings and subscriptions – 349,984
New interest-bearing borrowings raised – 26,941
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings (18,940) (90,926)
Repurchase of issued shares – (27,379)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests – (6,938)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests for 

incorporation of a subsidiary 3,163 –
Proceeds from issuance of bonds 29 367,052 –
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 29 91,763 305,695

Net cash from financing activities 443,038 558,703

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 28,662 209,630

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the reporting period 243,063 37,577

Effect on exchange rate changes (7,153) (4,144)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the reporting period 264,572 243,063

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash held by a security broker – 12,554
Cash and bank balances 24 264,572 230,509

264,572 243,063
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2017

1.	 CORPORATE INFORMATION
China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 12 
December 2007 as an exempted company with limited liability. The Company’s shares are listed on the Growth 
Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The 
Company’s registered office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, 
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment holding company and the principal activities of its 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out in Note 13, Note 14 and Note 15 to the consolidated 
financial statements respectively.

The Company and its subsidiaries are herein collectively referred to as the “Group”.

2.	 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, 
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also comply with 
the applicable disclosure requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the 
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting policies 
adopted in the 2015/2016 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs 
that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current year as set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out in Note 3 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs
Amendments to HKAS 1: Disclosure Initiative
The amendments include changes in the following five areas: (1) materiality; (2) disaggregation and subtotals; (3) 
structure of notes; (4) disclosure of accounting policies; (5) presentation of items of other comprehensive income 
arising from investments accounted for using equity method. It is considered that these amendments are clarifying 
amendments that do not directly affect an entity’s accounting policies or accounting estimates. The adoption of 
the amendments did not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)
Amendments to HKASs 16 and 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 both establish the principle for the basis of depreciation and amortisation as being 
the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits of an asset. The amendments to HKAS 
16 clarify that the use of revenue-based methods to calculate the depreciation of an asset is not appropriate 
because revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors other than 
the consumption of the economic benefits embodied in the asset.

The amendments to HKAS 38 clarify that revenue is generally presumed to be an inappropriate basis for 
measuring the consumption of the economic benefits embodied in an intangible asset. This presumption, 
however, can be rebutted in certain limited circumstances. The adoption of the amendments did not have any 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 27 (2011): Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
The amendments allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. The adoption of the amendments did not have any 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 (2011): Investment Entities - Applying the 
Consolidation Exception
The amendments:

(1)	 introduce relief to permit a non-investment entity investor, that has an interest in an associate or joint 
venture that is an investment entity, to retain the fair value through profit or loss measurement applied by 
the associate or joint venture to its interests in its subsidiaries.

(2)	 amend HKAS 28 (2011) and HKFRS 10 respectively so that the exemption from applying the equity 
method and preparing consolidated financial statements as set out in paragraph 17 of HKAS 28 (2011) 
and paragraph 4(a) of HKFRS 10 is available to an entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity which 
measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 10.

(3)	 amend HKFRS 10 to clarify that only subsidiaries of an investment entity that are not themselves 
an investment entity and whose main purpose and activities are providing services that relate to the 
investment entity’s investment activities are consolidated by the investment entity.

(4)	 amend HKFRS 12 to clarify that the relevant disclosure requirements therein apply to an investment entity.

The adoption of the amendments did not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
The amendments add new guidance on how to account for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation that 
constitutes a business. The amendments specify that the acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the 
activity constitutes a business, as defined in HKFRS 3, shall apply all of the principles on business combinations 
accounting in HKFRS 3 and other HKFRSs except for those principles that conflict with the guidance in HKFRS 
11. In addition, the acquirer shall disclose the information required by HKFRS 3 and other HKFRSs in relation to 
business combinations. The adoption of the amendments did not have any significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

Annual Improvements Project: 2012-2014 Cycle
(1)	 HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: Changes in Methods of Disposal

These amendments clarify the accounting for a change in an entity’s disposal plan from a plan to sell to a 
plan to distribute a dividend in kind to its shareholders (or vice versa). Such a reclassification shall not be 
treated as a change to a plan of sale (or distribution to owners) and accounted for as such. Consequently, 
such a change in classification is considered as a continuation of the original plan of disposal and the 
entity will not follow the accounting for a change to the plan. Besides, to address the lack of guidance 
in circumstances when an asset no longer meets the criteria for held for distribution to owners, the 
amendments clarify that an entity should cease to apply held-for-distribution accounting in the same 
way as it ceases to apply the held-for-sale accounting when the asset no longer meets the held-for-sale 
criteria. The adoption of the amendments did not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

(2)	 HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing contracts
These amendments clarify what kind of servicing contracts may constitute continuing involvements for the 
purposes of applying the disclosure requirements for transferred financial assets that are derecognised in 
their entirety. The adoption of the amendments did not have any significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

Basis of measurement
The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements is historical cost 
except for certain financial instruments which were stated at fair value as explained in the accounting policies set 
out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Company 
using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.
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3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from equity holders of the Company, in consolidated income 
statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present ownership interests 
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured 
initially either at fair value or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value, unless another measurement 
basis is required by HKFRSs.

Allocation of total comprehensive income
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the equity holders of 
the Company and the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

Changes in ownership interests
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to 
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the 
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly 
in equity and attributed to the equity holders of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest 
determined at the date when the control is lost and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and 
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the date when the control is lost. The amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for 
on the same basis as would be required if the holding company had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities. Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary 
are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from the date when the 
control is lost.

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented in Note 42 to the consolidated financial 
statements, an investment in subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amount of the 
investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. 
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control of those 
policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the arrangement. A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have 
joint control. Joint control is a contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The Group 
reassesses whether it has joint control of an arrangement and whether the type of joint arrangement in which it is 
involved has changed, if facts and circumstances change.

The Group’s investment in associate or joint venture is accounted for under the equity method of accounting, 
except when the investment or a portion thereof is classified as held for sale. Under the equity method, the 
investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s 
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment. Except to the extent that 
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee, the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses when the Group’s share of losses of the investee equals 
or exceeds the carrying amount of its interest in the investee, which includes any long term interests that, in 
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the investee.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate or a joint venture is measured as the excess of the cost of 
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired 
associate or joint venture. Such goodwill is included in interests in associates or joint ventures. On the other hand, 
any excess of the Group’s share of its net fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of investment 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as an income.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures 
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investees, except where unrealised losses provide 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in profit or 
loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate or vice versa, any retained interest is 
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other 
cases, on the loss of significant influence or joint control, the Group remeasures any retained interest in the 
former investee at fair value. The difference between the fair value of any retained investment and proceeds 
from disposing of the partial interest in the investee and the carrying amount of the investment at the date when 
significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, all amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of the former investee are accounted for on the same basis 
as would be required if the former investee had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. The fair value 
of the retained interests on the date of ceasing to be an associate or joint venture is regarded as the fair value on 
initial recognition as a financial asset.
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3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contingent consideration
Contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group as the acquirer in a business combination is recognised 
at acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised against goodwill only 
to the extent that they arise from new information obtained within the measurement period (a maximum of 12 
months from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for 
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments 
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity 
is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates 
with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is measured at the excess of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of any previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree over the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of 
the acquired subsidiary.

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary is recognised as a separate asset and is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses, which is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment test and 
determination of gain or loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. An impairment loss on 
goodwill is not reversed.

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed of the acquired subsidiary over the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any 
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree, 
if any, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss as an income from bargain purchase.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost 
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of 
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged 
to profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

As the Group’s lease payments for its leasehold land and buildings cannot be allocated reliably between the land 
and buildings elements at the inception of the lease because similar land and buildings are not sold or leased 
separately, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of the leasehold land and buildings as a finance 
lease in property, plant and equipment.
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3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and 
equipment, over their estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on which they are available for use and 
after taking into account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of 
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis 
and depreciated separately:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of unexpired term of lease and 
their estimated useful life

Leasehold improvements 3 years
Furniture and office equipment 3 – 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included 
in profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets
Licence rights
Licence rights for the transaction processing system are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred on development activities, which involve the application 
of research findings to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and 
processes, are capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and the Group has 
sufficient resources to complete the development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, 
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit 
or loss as an expense as incurred. When the asset is available for use, the capitalised development costs are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 5 years.

Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from 
the financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the 
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 
received.
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3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement 
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation 
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement
Financial assets or financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets 
or financial liabilities not carried at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of the financial assets or financial liabilities.

1)	 Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for 
trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss, and 
financial assets or financial liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement in a business 
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss 
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are (i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
in the near future; (ii) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together 
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or (iii) derivatives that are not financial guarantee 
contracts or not designated and effective hedging instruments.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss only if (i) the 
designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from 
measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on a different basis; or (ii) they are part 
of a group of financial assets and/or financial liabilities that are managed and their performance evaluated 
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) they contain 
embedded derivatives that would need to be separately recorded.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be 
designated as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, except where the embedded derivative 
does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is 
prohibited.

2)	 Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and are not held for trading. They are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, except where receivables are interest-free loans and without any fixed repayment 
term or the effect of discounting would be insignificant. In such case, the receivables are stated at cost 
less impairment loss. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition over the period to maturity. Gains and losses arising from derecognition, impairment or through 
the amortisation process are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Classification and measurement (continued)
3)	 Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated at this 
category or not classified in any of the other categories of financial assets. They are measured at fair value 
with changes in value recognised as a separate component of equity until the assets are sold, collected 
or otherwise disposed of, or until the assets are determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss previously reported in other comprehensive income shall be reclassified to profit or loss as a 
reclassification adjustment.

Available-for-sale financial assets that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose 
fair value cannot be reliably measured are stated at cost less impairment loss.

4)	 Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities, except for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are 
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using effective interest 
method, unless the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period respectively. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the 
financial asset or liability respectively, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Impairment of financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets, 
other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are impaired. The impairment loss of financial assets carried 
at amortised cost is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flow discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. Such impairment loss 
is reversed in subsequent periods through profit or loss when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the 
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost 
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, a cumulative loss comprising the difference between its 
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any previously 
recognised impairment loss in profit or loss, is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity instrument are 
not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value of available-for-sale equity instrument 
after recognition of impairment loss is recognised in equity. Reversal of impairment loss of available-for-sale debt 
instruments are reversed through profit or loss, if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.

For an available-for-sale financial asset that is carried at cost, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss shall not be 
reversed.
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Convertible bonds
(a)	 Convertible bonds that contain an equity component

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share capital at the option of the holders, where the 
number of shares that would be issued on conversion and the value of the consideration that would be 
received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial instruments which contain both 
a liability component and an equity component.

At initial recognition, the liability component of the convertible bonds is measured as the present value 
of the future interest and principal payments, discounted at the market rate of interest applicable at the 
time of initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds 
over the amount initially recognised as the liability component is recognised as the equity component. 
Transactions costs that related to the issue of a compound financial instrument are allocated to the liability 
and equity components in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised cost. The interest expenses recognised 
in profit or loss on the liability component is calculated using the effective interest method. The equity 
component is recognised in a separate reserve until either the convertible bonds are converted or 
redeemed.

If the convertible bonds are converted, the amount previously recognised in equity, together with the 
carrying amount of the liability component at the time of conversion, are transferred to share capital and 
share premium as consideration for the shares issued.

If the convertible bonds are redeemed, any difference between the amount paid and the carrying amount 
of the liability component is recognised in profit or loss and the amount previously recognised in equity is 
released directly to accumulated profits or losses.

(b)	 Other convertible bonds
Convertible bonds that do not contain an equity component are accounted for as follows:

At initial recognition, the derivative component of the convertible bonds is measured at fair value and 
presented as part of derivative financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially 
recognised as the derivative component is recognised as the liability component. Transaction costs that 
relate to the issue of convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and derivative components in proportion 
to the allocation of proceeds. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the liability component is 
recognised initially as part of the liability. The portion relating to the derivative component is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

The derivative component is subsequently re-measured in accordance with the accounting policies 
applicable to “Derivative financial instruments” set out below. The liability component is subsequently 
carried at amortised cost. The interest expenses recognised in profit or loss on the liability component is 
calculated using the effective interest method.

If the convertible bonds are converted, the carrying amounts of the derivative and the liability components, 
at the time of conversion, are transferred to share capital and share premium as consideration for the 
shares issued.

If the convertible bonds are redeemed, any difference between the amount paid and the carrying amounts 
of both components is recognised in profit or loss.
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Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts are entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, 
in which case the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and 
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Preference shares are classified as liabilities if they are redeemable at a 
specific date or at the shareholders’ option; or if dividend payments are not discretionary. Preference shares that 
are not redeemable, or are redeemable only at the Group’s option; and any dividend payments are discretionary, 
are classified as equity.

Cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid 
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of change in value.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably and on the following basis.

Card issuing service fee income is recognised when the prepaid cards are delivered to customers and issued 
cards are activated.

Management fee income of prepaid cards represents service fee charged by the Group to the holders of prepaid 
cards at specific rate on the unutilised float funds which has been inactive over three years which is recognised 
on an agreed percentage over the unutilised float funds outstanding.

Merchant service fee income represents service fee charged by the Group to merchants at specific rates on the 
monetary value of consumptions made by the prepaid cards’ holders/internet payment accounts users of the 
merchants’ stores which is recognised when the transactions occur.

Interest income from the accumulated unutilised float funds generated from the operation of the prepaid cards 
business and the internet payment business is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding 
and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Software development income, service fee income of point of sales (“POS”) machines and hotel booking agency 
service income are recognised when services are rendered.

Issuance income of prestige benefits cards is recognised when the prestige benefits cards are delivered to 
customers.
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Sales of goods from e-commerce business and sales of POS machines are recognised on transfer of risks and 
rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to customers and 
the title is passed.

Loan interest income from financial asset is accrued on a timely basis, by reference to the principal outstanding 
and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Card acquiring transaction fee income is generally recognised on an accruals basis when the service has been 
provided, which generally coincides with the time when the transactions are approved and executed.

Foreign exchange rate discount income is recognised when the foreign currency denominated funds are received 
from the third party card acquiring business partner who offered a favourable exchange rate in settling its 
outstanding payable to the Group and converted into local currency which is usually on every business day.

Foreign currency translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in the currency of Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency, and rounded to the nearest thousands unless otherwise stated.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

–	 Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented and, where applicable, goodwill and 
fair value adjustments on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on an acquisition of a foreign 
operation which are to be treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation, are translated at the 
closing rate at the end of the reporting period;

–	 Income and expenses for each income statement and statement of comprehensive income are translated 
at average exchange rates;

–	 All resulting exchange differences arising from the above translation and exchange differences arising from 
a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a 
separate component of equity;

–	 On the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign 
operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or 
a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation 
of which the retained interest is no longer equity-accounted for, the cumulative amount of the exchange 
differences relating to the foreign operation that is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the separate component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain 
or loss on disposal is recognised;



China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

85

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2017

3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued)
–	 On the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which 

does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative 
amount of the exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is re-attributed to the 
non-controlling interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

–	 On all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not 
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control, the proportionate share of the cumulative 
amount of exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit or 
loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase 
and, where applicable, other costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition, is calculated using the first in, first out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value 
and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period of the write-down or loss occurs. The 
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Impairment of non-financial assets, other than goodwill
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and external sources of information to assess 
whether there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment, intangible assets or interests in joint 
ventures and associates may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be 
reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of 
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that generates 
cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit (the “CGU”)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an 
expense immediately.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the carrying amount of the asset or CGU that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. Reversal of impairment losses is recognised 
as income in profit or loss immediately.

The accounting policy for recognition of the impairment loss for goodwill is stated in the accounting policy for 
goodwill in the earlier part of this note.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. Expenditures for which a 
provision has been recognised are charged against the related provision in the period in which the expenditures 
are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount provided is the present value of 
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. Where the Group expects a provision to be 
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain.
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Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease.

Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the net consideration agreed for 
the use of the leased asset.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of 
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans
The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as 
expense in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group’s 
entities established in Hong Kong in an independently administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Thailand, the 
employees of the Group’s entities established in the PRC and Thailand are required to participate in defined 
contribution retirement plans organised by local governments. Contributions to those plans are expensed as 
incurred and other than these monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the payment of 
retirement benefits to its employees.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions
The Group’s employees, including directors, receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby the employees rendered services in exchange for shares or rights over shares. The cost 
of such transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at 
the grant date. The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a 
corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The fair value is determined using the binomial model, taking 
into account any market conditions and non-vesting conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which the entitlement of relevant 
employees to the award is no longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-market vesting conditions (the 
“vesting date”). During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest ultimately is 
reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior periods is charged/credited to profit or 
loss for the period of the review, with a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount 
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to accumulated profit or losses.



China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

87

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2017

3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)
Equity-settled transactions (continued)
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards conditional on a market 
condition or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of whether or not the market condition 
or non-vesting conditions satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied. Where the terms 
of an equity-settled award are modified, an additional expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the 
transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled 
award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised 
for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if 
they were a modification of the original award, as described above.

Share-based compensation cost payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at fair 
value of the goods or services received, except where the fair value cannot be reliably estimated, in which case 
they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted. In all cases, the fair value is measured at the 
date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the services.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of 
the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready 
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they 
are incurred.

Taxation
The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are 
non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment in subsidiaries, except where the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a)	 A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of the holding company of the 
Group.

(b)	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each holding 
company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)	 both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also 
related to the Group.

(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii)	 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a)	 that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)	 children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c)	 dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes 
subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management 
for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of 
business and geographical locations.

Operating segments that meet the quantitative thresholds are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes 
unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products 
and services, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, 
and the nature of the regulatory environment. Other operating segments may be aggregated if they share a 
majority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management in the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going 
basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future periods.

(a)	 Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies
(i)	 Subsidiary – Oriental City Group (Thailand) Company Limited (“OCG Thailand”)

According to the relevant laws and regulations in Thailand, in particular the Foreign Business Act (the 
“FBA”), OCG Thailand, being a company engaged in third party card acquiring business in Thailand, 
must be owned as to more than 50% by Thai citizens.

With reference to the preference shares structure arrangement (the “Preference Shares Structure”) 
of OCG Thailand as described in Note 13(a) to the consolidated financial statements, majority of 
OCG Thailand’s issued capital, including ordinary and preference share capital, is owned by Thai 
citizens. However, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Oriental City Group Thailand 
Limited, is able to exercise more than 50% voting power in any shareholders’ meeting of OCG 
Thailand.

The Company’s legal advisors as to Thai laws have confirmed that the Preference Shares Structure 
is in compliance with all existing laws and regulations in Thailand, in particular the FBA. In light of no 
previous supreme court judgement ruling the invalidity of similar capital structure of OCG Thailand 
as opposed to the FBA and related interpretations, after due and careful consideration of all 
relevant factors together with the legal opinion obtained, the management assesses and concludes 
that the Preference Shares Structure is valid, legal and enforceable in Thailand.

Based upon the management’s judgement on the Preference Shares Structure, the Company 
accounts for OCG Thailand as a subsidiary on the ground that it is able to control the operations 
of OCG Thailand by exercising its majority voting power in any shareholders’ meeting of OCG 
Thailand.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
(a)	 Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies (continued)

(ii)	 Subsidiary –上海雍勒信息技術有限公司  (Shanghai Yongle Information Technology Limited*, 
“Shanghai Yongle”)
By implementation of a series of structured agreements entered between an indirect wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company, 深圳前海雍勒信息技術服務有限公司 (Shenzhen Qianhai Yongle 
Information Services Limited*, “Shenzhen Yongle”), Shanghai Yongle and the legal owners of 
Shanghai Yongle (the “Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements”) as described in Note 13(b) 
to the consolidated financial statements, Shenzhen Yongle had obtained control over Shanghai 
Yongle and Shenzhen Yongle is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
Shanghai Yongle and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over Shanghai Yongle.

The Company’s legal advisors as to the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC have confirmed 
that the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements are in compliance with all existing laws and 
regulations in the PRC. After due and careful consideration of all relevant factors together with 
the legal opinion obtained, the management assesses and concludes that the Shenzhen Yongle 
Structured Agreements are valid, legal and enforceable in the PRC.

Based upon the management’s judgement on the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements, the 

Company accounts for Shanghai Yongle and its subsidiaries, 微科睿思在綫(北京)科技有限公司 (Wei 
Ke Rui Si Online (Beijing) Technology Company Limited*, “Beijing Weike”) and 開聯通支付服務有限
公司 (Open Union Payment Services Limited*, “Open Union”), as subsidiaries in accordance with 
HKFRS 10.

As the Group holds no equity interests in Shanghai Yongle but is subject to the Shenzhen Yongle 
Structured Agreements, significant judgement is necessary as to whether these contracts give the 
Group the ability to exercise control over Shanghai Yongle, including consideration of the PRC legal 
and regulatory requirements, foreign exchange control, or other influences, such as, force majeure 
etc.

(iii)	 Subsidiary –上海靜元信息技術有限公司  (Shanghai Jingyuan Message Technology Limited*, 
“Shanghai Jingyuan”)
By implementation of a series of structured agreements entered between an indirect wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company, 客樂芙信息技術(上海)有限公司 (Colourful Message Technology 
(Shanghai) Limited*, “Colourful”), Shanghai Jingyuan and the legal owners of Shanghai Jingyuan 
(the “Colourful Structured Agreements”) as described in Note 13(d) to the consolidated financial 
statements, Colourful had obtained control over Shanghai Jingyuan and Colourful is exposed, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with Shanghai Jingyuan and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over Shanghai Jingyuan.

The Company’s legal advisors as to the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC have confirmed 
that the Colourful Structured Agreements are in compliance with all existing laws and regulations in 
the PRC. After due and careful consideration of all relevant factors together with the legal opinion 
obtained, the management assesses and concludes that the Colourful Structured Agreements are 
valid, legal and enforceable in the PRC.

*	 English translation for identification purpose only.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
(a)	 Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies (continued)

(iii)	 Subsidiary –上海靜元信息技術有限公司  (Shanghai Jingyuan Message Technology Limited*, 
“Shanghai Jingyuan”) (continued)
Based upon the management’s judgement on the Colourful Structured Agreements, the Company 

accounts for Shanghai Jingyuan and its subsidiary, 上海遨樂網絡科技有限公司 (Shanghai Aole 
Internet Technology Limited*, “Shanghai Aole”), as subsidiaries in accordance with HKFRS 10.

As the Group holds no equity interests in Shanghai Jingyuan but is subject to the Colourful 
Structured Agreements, significant judgement is necessary as to whether these contracts give the 
Group the ability to exercise control over Shanghai Jingyuan, including consideration of the PRC 
legal and regulatory requirements, foreign exchange control, or other influences, such as, force 
majeure etc.

*	 English translation for identification purpose only.

(b)	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(i)	 Allowance for inventories

The Group’s management reviews the condition of inventories, as stated in Note 21 to the 
consolidated financial statements, at the end of each reporting period, and makes allowance for 
inventories that are identified as obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable. The Group carries 
out the inventory review on a product-by-product basis and makes allowances by reference to the 
latest market prices and current market conditions.

(ii)	 Impairment of investments and receivables
The Company assesses annually if its interests in subsidiaries/associates/joint ventures suffered 
any impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 and follows the guidance of HKAS 39 in determining 
whether amounts due from these entities are impaired. Details of the approach are stated in 
the respective accounting policies. The assessment requires an estimation of future cash flows, 
including expected dividends, from the assets and the selection of appropriate discount rates. 
Future changes in financial performance and position of these entities would affect the estimation of 
impairment loss and cause in the adjustments of their carrying amounts.

(iii)	 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
The management determines the estimated useful lives of the Group’s property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of the 
relevant assets of similar nature and functions. The estimated useful lives could be different as a 
result of technical innovations which could affect the related depreciation charges included in profit 
or loss.

(iv)	 Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
The management determines whether the Group’s property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets are impaired when an indication of impairment exists. This requires an estimation of the 
recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, which is equal to 
the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal or the value in use. Estimating the value in use 
requires the management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate the present value of those cash flows. Any impairment will be charged to profit or loss.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
(b)	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(v)	 Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an 
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating 
the recoverable amount requires the management to choose a suitable valuation model and make 
estimation of the key valuation parameter and other relevant business assumptions. Details of 
the estimates used to calculate the recoverable amount are given in Note 16 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

(vi)	 Impairment of financial assets
The management determines the provision for impairment of the Group’s financial assets based on 
the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer and other debtors and 
the current market condition. If the financial conditions of the Group’s customers and other debtors 
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, provision may be 
required.

(vii)	 Contingent consideration – consideration shares
The Group’s contingent consideration – consideration shares has been valued based on the 
forecasted profits of the acquired entities for the future periods and the share price of the Company 
at measurement date. The valuation requires the Group to make estimates about future period’s 
profits of the acquired entities with reference to their business plan to be implemented and future 
market conditions, and hence they are subject to uncertainty.

(viii)	 Provision of hotel and catering expenses
The management estimates the provision of hotel and catering expenses on the Group’s 
prestige benefit cards with consideration of the current unclaimed hotel and catering benefits 
entitlements (the “Entitlements”), the historic redemption rates on the Entitlements, the estimates 
and assumptions on future redemption rates on the Entitlements and estimates of costs to fulfill 
the Entitlements. Differences between actual and estimated redemption rates generally affect the 
recognised expense and provision in future periods.

(ix)	 Derivative financial instruments
The management uses their judgements in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for 
financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly used by 
market practitioners are applied. In determining the fair value of derivative financial instruments, 
assumptions are made based on quoted market rates adjusted for specific features of the 
instrument. Details of the valuation technique adopted and inputs for fair value measurements are 
given in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

(x)	 Allowance for bad and doubtful debts
The provisioning policy for bad and doubtful debts of the Group is based on the evaluation 
by management of the collectability of trade and other receivables. A considerable amount of 
judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including assessing 
the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each debtor. If the financial conditions 
of these debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, 
additional allowance will be required.
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3.	 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
(b)	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(xi)	 Income tax
There are certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
In addition, the realisation of the future income tax assets is dependent on the Group’s ability to 
generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to utilise income tax benefits and income tax 
loss carry-forwards, as appropriate. Deviations of future profitability from estimates or in the income 
tax rate would result in adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and liabilities that could 
have a significant effect on results and financial position of the Group.

4.	 FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs
At the date of authorisation on of the consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new/
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative 1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 1

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle 2

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property 3

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of 
Share-based Payment Transactions 3

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts3

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments 3

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 3

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 3

HKFRS 16 Leases 4

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture 5

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or 2018 where applicable
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
5	 The effective date of the amendments which was originally intended to be effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2016 has been deferred/removed

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are in the process of assessing the possible impact on the future 
adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs, but are not yet in a position to reasonably estimate their impact on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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5.	 SEGMENT REPORTING
The Directors have been identified as the chief operating decision makers to evaluate the performance of 
operating segments and to allocate resources to those segments. Based on risks and returns and the Group’s 
internal financial reporting, the Directors consider that the operating segments of the Group comprise:

(i)	 prepaid cards and internet payment business in the PRC;
(ii)	 prestige benefits business in the PRC;
(iii)	 e-commerce and trade financing business among Hong Kong and the PRC;
(iv)	 third party card acquiring business in Thailand; and
(v)	 securities investment business in Hong Kong.

In addition, the Directors consider that the Group’s place of domicile is Hong Kong, where the central 
management and control is located.

Segment results, which are the measures reported to the chief operating decision makers for the purposes of 
resources allocation and assessment of segment performance, represent the profit earned or loss incurred by 
each segment without allocation of other income, gain or loss, finance costs, general administrative expenses 
incurred by corporate office, share of results of joint ventures and associates and income tax.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenue is attributed to the segments based on the location 
where services are provided, assets and capital expenditure are attributed to the segments based on the location 
of the assets. The geographical segment information is reflected within operating segment information as the 
Group’s five distinctive business activities are provided in three different locations.
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5.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is also reflected within the 
operating segment information.

Year ended 31 March 2017

Prepaid
cards and

internet
payment
business

Prestige
benefits

business

E-commerce
and trade
financing
business

Third party
 card

acquiring
business

Securities
investment

business Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue
  Major customer A – 66,892 – – – 66,892
  Major customer B – 58,161 – – – 58,161
  Other customers 119,592 55,217 91,832 97,427 – 364,068

119,592 180,270 91,832 97,427 – 489,121

Segment results 22,406 28,049 (28,446) 14,341 (68,677) (32,327)

Unallocated other income 1,881
Unallocated finance costs (31,095)
Unallocated other expenses and losses (102,189)
Fair value loss on contingent consideration 

– consideration shares (5,763)
Fair value gain on derivative 

financial instruments 8,617
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 570
Impairment loss on goodwill (988)
Share of results of joint ventures 265
Share of results of associates (1,874)

Loss before tax (162,903)

Income tax expenses (9,817)

Loss for the year (172,720)
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5.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2016

Prepaid
cards and

internet
payment
business

Prestige
benefits

business

E-commerce
and trade
financing
business

Third party
 card

acquiring
business

Securities
investment

business Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue
Major customer C – – 96,914 – – 96,914
Other customers 140,135 77,208 182,793 101,250 – 501,386

140,135 77,208 279,707 101,250 – 598,300

Segment results 46,077 11,862 8,574 15,960 139,700 222,173

Unallocated other income 2,553
Unallocated finance costs (10,601)
Unallocated other expenses and losses (93,186)
Fair value loss on contingent consideration 

– consideration shares (32,187)
Gain on disposal of equity interest in 

an associate 48
Share of results of joint ventures 6
Share of results of associates (991)

Profit before tax 87,815

Income tax expenses (17,384)

Profit for the year 70,431
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5.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities
An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating segments is set out below:

At 31 March 2017

Prepaid
card and
internet

payment
business

Prestige
benefits

business

E-commerce
and trade
financing
business

Third party
 card

acquiring
business

Securities
investment

business Unallocated Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

<Note>

Property, plant and equipment 39,947 543 230 7,909 – 647 49,276
Intangible assets 27,212 73 6,313 863 – – 34,461
Goodwill 465,397 192,417 – – – – 657,814
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss – – – – 139,700 – 139,700
Other assets 627,226 73,225 401,013 28,959 9,574 329,904 1,469,901

Total assets 1,159,782 266,258 407,556 37,731 149,274 330,551 2,351,152

Total liabilities 464,564 90,984 14,952 15,268 – 469,722 1,055,490

Additional segment information:
Amortisation 6,444 69 336 45 – – 6,894
Depreciation 5,410 246 66 2,450 – 340 8,512
Fair value loss on contingent 

consideration – 
consideration shares – – – – – 5,763 5,763

Fair value loss on financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss – – – – 68,580 – 68,580

Fair value gain on derivative 
financial instruments – – – – – 8,617 8,617

Share-based compensation cost – – – – – 62,330 62,330
Additions to intangible assets 5,567 – 6,798 419 – – 12,784
Additions to property, 

plant and equipment 6,184 613 220 7,531 – 86 14,634
Impairment loss on goodwill – – 988 – – – 988
Impairment loss on intangible assets – – 4,160 – – – 4,160
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5.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

At 31 March 2016

Prepaid
card and

internet
payment
business

Prestige
benefits

business

E-commerce
and trade
financing
business

Third party
 card

acquiring
business

Securities
investment

business Unallocated Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

<Note>

Property, plant and equipment 36,843 329 80 2,805 – 6,047 46,104
Intangible assets 31,641 150 4,338 474 – – 36,603
Goodwill 496,765 192,417 988 – – – 690,170
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss – – – – 208,280 – 208,280
Other assets 869,199 23,097 165,254 37,709 – 107,056 1,202,315

Total assets 1,434,448 215,993 170,660 40,988 208,280 113,103 2,183,472

Total liabilities 638,977 118,761 4,767 26,792 – 4,401 793,698

Additional segment information:
Amortisation 1,371 49 492 – – – 1,912
Depreciation 4,594 138 37 1,411 – 408 6,588
Fair value loss on contingent 

consideration – 
consideration shares – – – – – 32,187 32,187

Fair value gain on financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss – – – – 139,700 – 139,700

Share-based compensation cost – – – – – 66,487 66,487
Additions to intangible assets 31,020 206 4,820 474 – – 36,520
Additions to property, 

plant and equipment 8,193 479 – 1,337 – 670 10,679

<Note>
At 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group’s non-current assets (other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets) under 
e-commerce and trade financing business segment were physically located in the PRC.
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6.	 REVENUE
Revenue is analysed by category as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepaid cards and internet payment business
Card issuing service fee income 648 2,528
Management fee income of prepaid cards 76,801 73,066
Merchant service fee income 25,051 12,530
Interest income from accumulated unutilised float funds 10,549 22,832
Software development income 1,388 26,643
Sales and service fee income of POS machines 5,155 2,536

Prestige benefits business
Issuance income of prestige benefits cards 139,294 74,528
Hotel booking agency service income 40,976 2,680

E-commerce and trade financing business
Sales of goods 84,308 277,707
Loan interest income 7,524 2,000

Third party card acquiring business
Card acquiring transaction fee income 74,688 77,491
Foreign exchange rate discount income 22,739 23,759

489,121 598,300

7.	 OTHER INCOME

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank interest income from self-owned funds 1,179 682
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 30
Government grants – 369
Investment income arising from other investments 412 1,318
Exchange gain, net 10 –
Sundry income 277 154

1,881 2,553
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8.	 (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX
This is stated after charging (crediting):

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

(a)	Finance costs
Effective interest expense on convertible bonds 7,245 5,315
Finance costs on other long-term liabilities 163 33
Interest on bonds 23,687 –
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings – 5,253

31,095 10,601

(b)	Staff costs, including key management remuneration
Salaries, allowances and other short-term employee benefits 77,753 30,822
Contributions to defined contribution plans 14,091 5,212
Share-based compensation cost 43,965 33,735

135,809 69,769

(c)	Key management remuneration, including 
directors’ remuneration
Salaries, allowances and other short-term employee benefits 10,549 6,965
Contributions to defined contribution plans 90 91
Share-based compensation cost 33,225 24,583

43,864 31,639

(d)	Other items
Auditor’s remuneration 1,710 1,337
Amortisation of intangible assets (included in 

“General administrative expenses” and 
“Selling and distribution costs”) 6,894 1,912

Cost of goods sold 82,342 250,064
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,512 6,588
Exchange (gain) loss, net (10) 60
Operating lease charges on premises 13,980 10,673
Impairment loss on intangible assets (included in 

“General administrative expenses”) 4,160 –
Impairment loss on loan receivables 543 –
Share-based compensation cost to service providers 18,365 32,752
Write off of intangible assets 1,554 –
Write off of other receivables 1,741 –
Write off of property, plant and equipment 656 –
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9.	 INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS
(a)	 Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and receivable by the Directors are as follows:

Directors’
fees

Salaries,
allowances

and other
short-term
employee

benefits

Contributions
to defined

contribution
plans

Share-based
compensation

cost Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2017

Executive directors
Dr. Cao Guoqi – 240 – 4,627 4,867
Mr. Fung Weichang – 200 – – 200
Mr. Xiong Wensen – 2,000 – 1,873 3,873
Mr. Song Xiangping – 1,379 – 1,873 3,252
Mr. Zhang Huaqiao – 480 18 8,870 9,368

– 4,299 18 17,243 21,560

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Wang Yiming 72 – – – 72
Mr. Lu Dongcheng 72 – – – 72
Dr. Yuan Shumin 72 – – – 72
Dr. Zhou Jinhuang 1 59 – – 385 444

275 – – 385 660

275 4,299 18 17,628 22,220

1	 Appointed during the year
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9.	 INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)	 Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Directors’
fees

Salaries,
allowances

and other
short-term
employee

benefits

Contributions
to defined

contribution
plans

Share-based
compensation

cost Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2016

Executive directors
Dr. Cao Guoqi – 240 – 3,512 3,752
Mr. Fung Weichang – 360 – – 360
Mr. Xiong Wensen – 1,580 – 3,512 5,092
Mr. Song Xiangping – 1,329 35 3,512 4,876
Mr. Zhang Huaqiao 1 – 440 17 – 457
Mr. Cheng Nga Ming Vincent 2 – 30 1 – 31

– 3,979 53 10,536 14,568

Non-executive director
Mr. Zhang Huaqiao 1 – 40 – 14,047 14,087

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Wang Yiming 72 – – – 72
Mr. Lu Dongcheng 72 – – – 72
Dr. Yuan Shumin 72 – – – 72

216 – – – 216

216 4,019 53 24,583 28,871

1	 Re-designated to executive director during the year

2	 Vacated during the year

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration for the 
years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016. In addition, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the 
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office for 
the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.
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9.	 INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(b)	 Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors
There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the Directors that were entered into or 
subsisted during the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

(c)	 Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts
No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business to 
which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company, or an entity connected with the 
Directors, had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the year or at any time during 
the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

10.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2016: four) Directors, Dr. Cao Guoqi, Mr. Xiong 
Wensen and Mr. Zhang Huaqiao (2016: Dr. Cao Guoqi, Mr. Song Xiangping, Mr. Xiong Wensen and Mr. Zhang 
Huaqiao), whose remuneration are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of the 
remuneration of the remaining two (2016: one) non-directors, highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and other short-term employee benefits 2,917 1,277
Contributions to defined contribution plans 18 37
Share-based compensation cost 8,161 6,102

11,096 7,416

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands:

Number of employees

2017 2016

Band
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1 –
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 1 –
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 – 1

2 1

During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, no remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the five 
highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which any of the five highest paid employees waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.
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11.	 TAXATION

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax
Hong Kong Profits Tax – 1,018
PRC Enterprise Income Tax 4,490 13,202
Thailand Enterprise Income Tax 2,300 3,216
Withholding tax on dividend declared by a foreign subsidiary – 741

6,790 18,177

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary difference 3,027 (1,194)
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings of a foreign subsidiary – 401

3,027 (793)

Income tax expenses for the year 9,817 17,384

(i)	 Hong Kong Profits Tax
Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group incurred a loss for taxation purpose in Hong 
Kong for the year ended 31 March 2017. Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% 
on the Group’s estimated assessable profits arising from Hong Kong for the year ended 31 March 2016.

(ii)	 Income taxes outside Hong Kong
The Company and its subsidiaries established in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) are exempted from the 
payment of income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI respectively.

The Group’s operations in the PRC are subject to enterprise income tax (“PRC Enterprise Income Tax”) 
of the PRC at 25% (2016: 25%), except for Open Union and Shanghai Jingyuan (2016: Open Union) 
which is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at a preferential rate of 15% (2016: 15%) for high and new 
technology enterprises.

The Group’s operations in Thailand are subject to Thailand Enterprise Income Tax at 20% (2016: 20%).

The Group’s operation in Singapore is subject to Singapore income tax at 17% (2016: 17%).

The Group’s operation in Korea is subject to Korea Corporate Income Tax ranged from 10% to 22%.

Dividends payable by a foreign invested enterprise in the PRC or Thailand to its foreign investors are 
subject to a 10% withholding tax, unless any foreign investor’s jurisdiction of incorporation has a tax treaty 
with the PRC or Thailand that provides for a different withholding arrangement.
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11.	 TAXATION (continued)

Reconciliation of income tax expenses

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) Profit before tax (162,903) 87,815

Income tax at applicable tax rate (25,882) 17,401
Non-deductible expenses 35,436 26,687
Tax exempt revenue (890) (25,691)
Unrecognised tax losses 2,421 578
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (920) (2,732)
Withholding tax on dividends declared by a foreign subsidiary – 741
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings of a foreign subsidiary – 401
Others (348) (1)

Income tax expenses for the year 9,817 17,384

The applicable tax rate is the weighted average of rates prevailing in the territories in which the Group’s entities 
operate against profit or loss before tax. The change in applicable tax rate is caused by changes in the taxable 
results of the Group’s subsidiaries in the respective countries as well as new countries in which the Group 
operates.

12.	 (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic (loss) earnings per share is calculated based on the loss for the year ended 31 March 2017 attributable 
to the equity holders of the Company of approximately HK$174,396,000 (2016: profit of approximately 
HK$63,820,000) and on the weighted average number of 1,444,599,384 ordinary shares (2016: 1,260,177,157 
ordinary shares) in issue during the year ended 31 March 2017.

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share as the effect of potential ordinary shares is anti-dilutive 
during the year ended 31 March 2017. For the year ended 31 March 2016, diluted earnings per share is 
calculated based on the profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company and on the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares adjusted as follows:

2017 2016
number of shares number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for 
calculation of basic (loss) earnings per share 1,444,599,384 1,260,177,157

Effect of dilutive potential shares (excluding share options 
with anti-dilutive effect) N/A 68,752,668

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
for calculation of diluted (loss) earnings per share 1,444,599,384 1,328,929,825
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13.	 SUBSIDIARIES
In the opinion of the Directors, a complete list of the particular of all subsidiaries will be of excessive length and 
therefore the table below lists the principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period, which principally 
affected the result for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group:

Name

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

Particulars of issued
and paid up capital/
registered capital

Effective ownership
interests indirectly

held by the Company
Principal activities/
place of operation

重慶市眾網小額貸款有限公司 
Massnet Microcredit Company 
(Chongqing) Limited 
(“Massnet Microcredit”)

The PRC, 
8 August 2016

Paid up capital, 
Renminbi (“RMB”) 
RMB300,000,000

90.20% Internet micro-credit 
business/The PRC

Joy Grand Investment Limited Hong Kong, 
30 March 2016

Ordinary, HK$1 100% Securities investment/ 
Hong Kong

浙江捷盈金融服務外包有限公司 
Zhejiang Jie Ying Financial Contracting 
Service Limited* (“Zhejiang Jie Ying”)

The PRC, 
16 December 2015

Paid up capital, 
RMB6,500,000

65% Leasing of POS machines/ 
The PRC

Pan-Asia Payment Company Limited Hong Kong, 
1 June 2015

Ordinary, HK$1 100% Internet payment clearing 
services/Hong Kong

Union Evernew Investment Limited 
(“Union Evernew”)

Hong Kong, 
29 May 2015

Ordinary, HK$1 100% Investment holding/ 
Hong Kong

上海啟峻信息科技有限公司 
Qijun Information Technology Limited* 
(“Qijun Information Technology”)

The PRC, 
11 August 2014

Paid up capital, 
RMB20,000,000

100% Prepaid cards and 
internet payment 
business/The PRC

深圳市融易付電子商務有限公司 
Shenzhen Rongyifu Electronic 
Business Limited* (“Rongyifu”)

The PRC, 
29 January 2014

Paid up capital, 
RMB3,000,000

100% Internet payment clearing 
services/The PRC

上海啟峻投資咨詢有限公司 
Shanghai Qijun Investments 
Consultancy Service Limited* 
(“Qijun Investments Consultancy”)

The PRC, 
20 December 2013

Paid up capital, 
RMB44,149,034

100% Software development 
and internet payment 
business/The PRC

Goodgate Limited Hong Kong, 
9 July 2013

Ordinary, HK$1 100% Investment holding/ 
Hong Kong

Million Promise Travel Limited Hong Kong, 
9 July 2013

Ordinary, HK$1 100% Trade financing/ 
Hong Kong
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13.	 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

Particulars of issued
and paid up capital/
registered capital

Effective ownership
interests indirectly

held by the Company
Principal activities/
place of operation

Shanghai Jingyuan The PRC, 
15 January 2013

Paid up capital, 
RMB10,000,000

100%
<Note d>

Prestige benefits business/
The PRC

MCONE (HONGKONG) LIMITED 
(“MCONE”)

Hong Kong, 
19 March 2012

Ordinary, 
HK$10,000

100% E-commerce business/
Hong Kong

Open Union The PRC, 
8 November 2010

Paid up capital, 
RMB100,000,000

90%
<Note b>
<Note c>

Prepaid cards and 
internet payment 
business/The PRC

Shanghai Aole The PRC, 
16 August 2010

Paid up capital, 
RMB1,000,000

100%
<Note d>

Hotel booking agency 
services/The PRC

OCG Thailand Thailand, 
27 September 2004

Ordinary, Thai Baht 
(“Baht“) 7,500,000

Preference, 
Baht7,650,000, 
<Note a>

70%

–

Third party card acquiring 
business/Thailand

*	 English translation for identification purpose only.

Except for the preference share capital as issued by OCG Thailand, none of the subsidiaries had any debt 
securities outstanding at the end of the reporting period, or at any time during the reporting period.

<Note a>
OCG Thailand’s share capital is comprised of ordinary share capital of Baht 7,500,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$1,561,000) and preference share capital of Baht 7,650,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,747,000). The holders of 
ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share on any 
resolution of OCG Thailand.

The holders of preference shares have the following rights:

•	 one vote for every ten shares held on any resolution of OCG Thailand;
•	 the right to receive cumulative dividend declared by OCG Thailand at the rate of 9.5% per annum on paid up value of 

the shares issued, prior to the ordinary shares; and
•	 the right to receive the distribution of the share capital, in the case of the winding up of the OCG Thailand, prior to the 

ordinary shares, but limited to the paid up amount of the preference shares.

The preference shares as issued by OCG Thailand are classified as liabilities instead of equity in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with applicable accounting standards because, although they are not redeemable, the 
holders of which are entitled to receive 9.5% per annum cumulative dividend on the paid up value of the preference shares 
issued, which is treated as cost of financing, and are only entitled to OCG Thailand’s residual assets limited to the nominal value 
of their paid-up capital.
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13.	 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
<Note a> (continued)
Therefore, the results and financial position of OCG Thailand are included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements, 
after accounting for the paid up value of the preference shares issued and its related cumulative dividend, to the extent of 
70% ordinary equity interests attributable to the equity holders of the Company according to the proportion of ordinary shares 
indirectly held by the Company.

<Note b>
The Group’s indirect wholly owned subsidiary, Shenzhen Yongle, entered into the Shenzhen Yongle Structured Agreements with 
Shanghai Yongle and the legal owners of Shanghai Yongle which enables Shenzhen Yongle to:

•	 exercise effective financial and operational control over Shanghai Yongle;
•	 exercise the entire owners’ voting rights of Shanghai Yongle;
•	 receive and be exposed to substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by Shanghai Yongle;
•	 have an irrevocable option to purchase the entire equity interest in Shanghai Yongle when and to the extent permitted 

under the PRC laws; and
•	 obtain pledges over the entire equity interest of Shanghai Yongle from the legal owners of Shanghai Yongle.

The Directors are of the opinion that, notwithstanding the lack of the equity ownership, the Shenzhen Yongle Structured 
Agreements give Shenzhen Yongle control over Shanghai Yongle in substance under the principles as set out in HKFRS 10 
where Shenzhen Yongle is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with Shanghai Yongle and has the 
ability to affect those returns through power over Shanghai Yongle. Therefore, the Group regards Shanghai Yongle together with 
its subsidiaries (i.e. Beijing Weike and Open Union) as indirect subsidiaries under HKFRSs and Shanghai Yongle, Beijing Weike 
and Open Union are consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

<Note c>
On 8 December 2015, Beijing Weike and 開聯信息技術有限公司 (Open Union Message Technology Limited* “Open Union 
Message”), a non-controlling shareholder of Open Union, entered into an agreement for Beijing Weike to acquire from Open 
Union Message the remaining 10% equity interests of Open Union at the aggregate consideration of RMB52 million (equivalent 
to approximately HK$58.6 million). As at 31 March 2017, deposits of RMB30 million (equivalent to approximately HK$33.8 
million) (2016: RMB10 million (equivalent to HK$12 million)) had been paid and reported as “Deposits on investments” as set 
out in Note 22(c) to the consolidated financial statements. Such transaction is not yet completed at the date of approving the 
consolidated financial statements.

<Note d>
The Group’s indirect wholly owned subsidiary, Colourful, entered into the Colourful Structured Agreements with Shanghai 
Jingyuan and the legal owners of Shanghai Jingyuan which enables Colourful to:

•	 exercise effective financial and operational control over Shanghai Jingyuan;
•	 exercise the entire owners’ voting rights of Shanghai Jingyuan;
•	 receive and be exposed to substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by Shanghai Jingyuan;
•	 have an irrevocable option to purchase the entire equity interest in Shanghai Jingyuan when and to the extent permitted 

under the PRC laws; and
•	 obtain pledges over the entire equity interest of Shanghai Jingyuan from the legal owners of Shanghai Jingyuan.

The Directors are of the opinion that, notwithstanding the lack of the equity ownership, the Colourful Structured Agreements 
give Colourful control over Shanghai Jingyuan in substance under the principles as set out in HKFRS 10 where Colourful is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with Shanghai Jingyuan and has the ability to affect those 
returns through power over Shanghai Jingyuan. Therefore, the Group regards Shanghai Jingyuan together with its subsidiary 
(i.e. Shanghai Aole) as indirect subsidiaries under HKFRSs and Shanghai Jingyuan and Shanghai Aole are consolidated into the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

*	 English translation for identification purpose only.
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13.	 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Financial information of subsidiaries with individually material non-controlling interests 
(“NCI”)
The following table shows the information relating to each of the non-wholly owned subsidiaries that has material 
NCI. The summarised financial information represents amounts before inter-company eliminations.

OCG
Thailand

Open
Union

Zhejiang
Jie Ying

Massnet
Microcredit

At 31 March 2017

Proportion of NCI’s ownership interests 30% 10% 35% 9.8%

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 28,959 571,396 13,777 337,497
Non-current assets 8,772 47,001 1,045 6,665
Current liabilities (12,110) (452,543) (4,184) (11,920)
Non-current liabilities (1,747) – – –

Net assets 23,874 165,854 10,638 332,242

Carrying amount of NCI 7,162 16,585 3,723 32,560

Year ended 31 March 2017 
(or since incorporation) HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 97,427 103,437 6,158 4,174
Expenses (89,050) (79,462) (6,600) (19,223)

Profit (Loss) 8,377 23,975 (442) (15,049)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 601 (9,804) (730) (2,199)

Total comprehensive income (loss) 8,978 14,171 (1,172) (17,248)

Profit (Loss) attributable to NCI 2,513 2,398 (155) (1,475)

Total comprehensive income (loss) 
attributable to NCI 2,693 1,417 (410) (1,690)

Net cash flows from (used in):
Operating activities 14,049 (44,063) (4,096) (140,755)
Investing activities (7,950) (3,129) (148) (6,865)
Financing activities – (28,591) – 338,218

Total cash inflows (outflows) 6,099 (75,783) (4,244) 190,598
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13.	 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Financial information of subsidiaries with individually material NCI (continued)

OCG 
Thailand

Open 
Union

Zhejiang
Jie Ying

At 31 March 2016

Proportion of NCI’s ownership interests 30% 10% 35%

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 35,713 671,423 11,278
Non-current assets 3,248 60,196 1,400
Current liabilities (22,386) (579,936) (868)
Non-current liabilities (1,690) – –

Net assets 14,885 151,683 11,810

Carrying amount of NCI 4,465 15,168 4,133

Year ended 31 March 2016 (or since incorporation) HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 101,250 105,881 156
Expenses (88,452) (75,264) (378)

Profit (Loss) 12,798 30,617 (222)
Other comprehensive (loss) income (1,563) (6,617) 5

Total comprehensive income (loss) 11,235 24,000 (217)

Profit (Loss) attributable to NCI 5,229 3,062 (78)

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to NCI 4,604 2,400 (76)

Dividends paid to NCI (6,938) – –

Net cash flows from (used in):
Operating activities 8,022 6,219 (4,088)
Investing activities (1,337) (13,272) (1,423)
Financing activities (11,051) 20,206 12,027

Total cash (outflows) inflows (4,366) 13,153 6,516
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14.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets 10,433 10,854

Details of the joint ventures at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of joint ventures

Principal place 
of business 
and place of 
incorporation

Registered and
 paid-up capital

Proportion 
of value of 

registered and 
paid-up capital 
indirectly held 

by the Company Principal activities

上海東方網通信技術有限公司 
Shanghai Eastern Net Communication 
Technology Company Limited*  
(“Eastern Net”)

The PRC RMB20,000,000 40% Promotion of prepaid cards 
and provision of related 
customer service

神州融金(北京)信息科技有限公司  
Shenzhou Rongjin (Beijing) Message 
Technology Limited*  
(“Shenzhou Rongjin”)

The PRC RMB6,000,000 49% Smart cards business

*	 English translation for identification purpose only.

The above joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements. 
There are no capital commitment and contingent liabilities in relation to the joint venture themselves.

Arrangements with joint venture partners
Open Union, the first joint venture partner and the second joint venture partner are entitled to appoint 2, 2 and 1, 
respectively, out of 5 board members of Eastern Net. Because certain strategic financial and operating decisions 
in relation to Eastern Net’s operation require the consent of 4 out of 5 board members, Open Union and the first 
joint venture partner are considered to have joint control of Eastern Net under the arrangements and Eastern Net 
is regarded as a joint venture of Open Union.

Open Union and the joint venture partner is entitled to appoint 2 and 3, respectively, out of 5 board members of 
Shenzhou Rongjin. Because certain strategic financial and operating decisions in relation to Shenzhou Rongjin’s 
operation require the consent of two-thirds (at least 4 members) of board members, Open Union and the joint 
venture partner are considered to have joint control of Shenzhou Rongjin under the arrangements and Shenzhou 
Rongjin is regarded as a joint venture of Open Union.

Relationship with joint ventures
Eastern Net is engaged in the promotion of prepaid cards and the provision of related customer services in 
Shanghai, the PRC, which could allow the Group to benefit from Eastern Net’s operations.

Shenzhou Rongjin is engaged in smart cards business in the PRC, which could allow the Group to benefit from 
Shenzhou Rongjin’s operations.

Fair value of investments
All of the above joint ventures are not listed and there is no quoted market price available for the investments.
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14.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Financial information of individually material joint ventures
Summarised financial information of each of the material joint ventures of the Group is set out below, which 
represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and 
adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes including any differences in accounting policies and fair 
value adjustments.

Eastern 
Net

Shenzhou 
Rongjin

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2017

Gross amounts
Non-current assets 30 160
Current assets 18,998 6,032
Current liabilities (470) (49)

Equity 18,558 6,143

Included in above:
Cash and cash equivalents 17,785 6,032

Reconciliation
Gross amount of equity 18,558 6,143

Group’s ownership interests and voting rights 40% 49%*

Group’s share of equity and carrying amount of interests 7,423 3,010

Year ended 31 March 2017 HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross amounts
Revenue 4,355 –

Profit (Loss) 870 (171)
Other comprehensive loss (1,203) (418)

Total comprehensive loss (333) (589)

Group’s share of:
Profit (Loss) 348 (83)
Other comprehensive loss (481) (205)

Total comprehensive loss (133) (288)

Included in above: 
Depreciation and amortisation 54 40
Interest income 270 51
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14.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Financial information of individually material joint ventures (continued)

Eastern 
Net

Shenzhou 
Rongjin

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2016

Gross amounts
Non-current assets 119 209
Current assets 19,207 6,595
Current liabilities (436) (73)

Equity 18,890 6,731

Included in above:
Cash and cash equivalents 14,746 6,595

Reconciliation
Gross amount of equity 18,890 6,731

Group’s ownership interests and voting rights 40% 49%*

Group’s share of equity and carrying amount of interests 7,556 3,298

Year ended 31 March 2016 (or since incorporation) HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross amounts
Revenue 3,161 –

Profit (Loss) and total comprehensive income (loss) 622 (495)

Group’s share of profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (loss) 249 (243)

Included in above: 
Depreciation and amortisation 130 3
Interest income 535 10

*	 Voting rights at the meeting of shareholders and directors are 49% and 40% respectively.
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15.	 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets 9,316 53,989
Goodwill 20,223 21,573

29,539 75,562

Details of the associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of the associates

Principal place 
of business 

and place of 
incorporation

Registered and 
paid-up capital

Proportion of value 
of registered and 

paid-up capital 
indirectly held 

by the Company Principal activities

上海商酷網絡科技有限公司  
Shanghai Koolcloud Technology Co. Limited*  
(“Koolcloud”)

The PRC RMB29,500,000 22.21% Sales of POS machines

無錫酷銀科技有限公司  
Wuxi Kuyin Technology Limited* (“Kuyin”)

The PRC RMB2,000,000 22.21% Manufacturing and sales 
of POS machines

廈門市民生通電子商務有限公司  
Xiamen Minshengtong E-commerce Limited* 
(“Minshengtong”)

The PRC RMB10,000,000 38% E-commerce business

啟峻電子支付(武漢)有限公司  
Qijun Electronic Payment (Wuhan) Limited*  
(“Qijun Wuhan”)

The PRC RMB100,000,000 35% 
<Note a>

Inactive

游娃娃(大連)網絡科技有限公司  
Dalian Youwawa Business Service Limited*  
(“Dalian Youwawa”)

The PRC RMB1,500,000 20% Smart tourism solutions 
services

游娃娃(上海)網絡科技有限公司  
Shanghai Youwawa Business Service Limited*  
(“Shanghai Youwawa”)

The PRC RMB10,000,000 20% Smart tourism solutions 
services

蘇州百濟文化旅遊有限公司  
Suzhou Baiji Cultural Travel Limited*  
(“Suzhou Baiji”)

The PRC RMB2,000,000 20% Smart tourism solutions 
services

*	 English translation for identification purpose only.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements. 
There are no capital commitment and contingent liabilities in relation to the associates themselves.
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15.	 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Relationship with associates
Koolcloud and its wholly owned subsidiary, Kuyin (together “Koolcloud Group”), are engaged in the manufacturing 
and trading of cutting-edge smart POS machines and related hardware, which could facilitate the expansion of 
the prepaid cards and internet payment business of the Group.

Minshengtong, which is principally engaged in e-commerce business, could allow the market penetration of the 
Group to several geographical segments, mainly Fujian Province, the PRC.

Qijun Wuhan, which has been inactive upon the completion of acquisition. The management decided to deregister 
Qijun Wuhan in March 2017 (see Note 15(a)).

Dalian Youwawa and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Shanghai Youwawa and Suzhou Baiji (together “Youwawa 
Group”), which are principally engaged in provision of smart tourism solutions in the PRC, could allow the Group 
to expand the smart tourism solution business to particular geographical segments, mainly Liaoning Province and 
Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

Fair value of investments
All of the above associates are not listed and there is no quoted market price available for the investments.
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15.	 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Financial information of individually material associates
Summarised financial information of each of the material associates of the Group is set out below, which 
represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and 
adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes including any differences in accounting policies and fair 
value adjustments.

Youwawa Group Minshengtong Qijun Wuhan Koolcloud Group 
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

<Note a>

At 31 March 2017
Gross amounts
Non-current assets 2,106 1,644 – 11,481
Current assets 9,192 4,743 – 30,603
Current liabilities (3,587) (174) (1,607) (17,713)

Equity 7,711 6,213 (1,607) 24,371

Reconciliation
Gross amount of equity 7,711 6,213 (1,607) 24,371

Group’s ownership interests and voting rights 20% 38% N/A 22.21%

Group’s share of equity 1,542 2,361 – 5,413
Goodwill 5,187 – – 15,036

Carrying amount of interests 6,729 2,361 – 20,449

Year ended 31 March 2017  
(or since incorporation) HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross amounts
Revenue 98,260 – – 19,053

Profit (Loss) 466 (2,737) (117,193) (4,176)
Other comprehensive loss (495) (532) (4,933) (1,809)

Total comprehensive loss (29) (3,269) (122,126) (5,985)

Group’s share of:
Profit (Loss) 93 (1,040) – (927)
Other comprehensive loss (99) (202) – (402)

Total comprehensive loss (6) (1,242) – (1,329)
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15.	 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Financial information of individually material associates (continued)

Youwawa Group Minshengtong Qijun Wuhan Koolcloud Group 
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2016
Gross amounts
Non-current assets 987 892 – 5,605
Current assets 8,110 8,744 120,273 39,070
Current liabilities (1,357) (154) – (14,321)

Equity 7,740 9,482 120,273 30,354

Reconciliation
Gross amount of equity 7,740 9,482 120,273 30,354

Group’s ownership interests and voting rights 20% 38% 35% 22.21%

Group’s share of equity 1,548 3,603 42,096 6,742
Goodwill 5,532 – – 16,041

Carrying amount of interests 7,080 3,603 42,096 22,783

Year ended 31 March 2016  
(or since incorporation) HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross amounts
Revenue 3,648 – – 32,116

Loss and total comprehensive loss (692) (2,166) – (132)

Group’s share of loss and total  
comprehensive loss (138) (823) – (30)

<Note a>
In March 2017, Qijun Wuhan had filed an application for deregistration to the local authority. All assets of Qijun Wuhan were 
written-off during current year, included the amount due from the Group of RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$40,369,000), and the loss of approximately RMB101,607,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$117,193,000) was 
recognised during the current reporting period. In view of the deregistration of Qijun Wuhan, the Group reversed the amount due 
to Qijun Wuhan of approximately RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$40,369,000) and offset against the share of 
loss of Qijun Wuhan of RMB35,562,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$41,018,000).

The unrecognised share of loss of Qijun Wuhan for the current reporting period amounted to approximately HK$649,000 (2016: 
Nil) and the related share of loss cumulatively up to 31 March 2017 amounted to approximately HK$649,000 (2016: Nil).



118 China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2017

16.	 GOODWILL

E-commerce 
CGU

Prepaid Cards 
and Internet 

Payment CGU
Prestige 

Benefits CGU

Internet 
Payment 

Clearing CGU Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) (Note (d))

Reconciliation of carrying 
amount

At 1 April 2015 988 474,043 – – 475,031
Additions – – 192,417 46,477 238,894
Exchange realignments – (23,104) – (651) (23,755)

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 988 450,939 192,417 45,826 690,170
Impairment loss (988) – – – (988)
Exchange realignments – (28,497) – (2,871) (31,368)

At 31 March 2017 – 422,442 192,417 42,955 657,814

Cost 988 422,442 192,417 42,955 658,802
Accumulated impairment loss (988) – – – (988)

At 31 March 2017 – 422,442 192,417 42,955 657,814

16(a)	 E-commerce CGU
Goodwill arising from the e-commerce business (the “E-commerce CGU”) represented the acquisition 
of 100% equity interests in MCONE at an aggregate consideration of HK$2,500,000 in January 2014. 
The excess of the consideration transferred over the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable 
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of approximately HK$988,000 is recognised as goodwill. 
The Group assessed that the recoverable amount of the E-commerce CGU (with reference to a 
value-in-use calculation) was zero in light of keen competition in the market of e-commerce business and 
continuous reduction in the customer portfolio maintained by such CGU. Accordingly, impairment loss of 
approximately HK$988,000 was made on goodwill associated with the E-commerce CGU for the current 
reporting period.

16(b)	Prepaid Cards and Internet Payment CGU
On 23 September 2014 and 27 January 2015, Shanghai Yongle acquired 33% and 67% interest in Beijing 
Weike, respectively, at an aggregate consideration of RMB468 million (equivalent to approximately HK$588 
million). Beijing Weike, through its subsidiary, Open Union, is engaged in the issuance and acceptance 
of prepaid cards and the provision of internet payment service (the “Prepaid Cards and Internet Payment 
CGU”). The excess of the consideration transferred and the amount of non-controlling interests over the 
acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of approximately 
RMB375,073,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$471,429,000) was recognised as goodwill.

At 31 March 2017, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of the Prepaid Cards and Internet 
Payment CGU with reference to a business valuation of Open Union determined under a market-based 
approach based on the multiples of price-to-annual prepaid cards issuing amount as stated in a valuation 
report issued by an independent professional valuer and determined that no impairment for goodwill was 
required.
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16.	 GOODWILL (continued)

16(b)	Prepaid Cards and Internet Payment CGU (continued)
Key assumptions and inputs used for the business valuation are as follows:

2017 2016

Estimated annual issuing amount ^ RMB904,064,000 RMB815,314,000
Price-to annual issuing amount multiple # 0.68–2.87 0.68–2.87

^	 Estimated annual issuing amount was estimated by the trailing 12-month issuing amount of Open Union at 31 
March 2017.

#	 Price-to-annual issuing amount multiple was estimated by the consideration of comparable transactions 
divided by the trailing 12-month issuing amount of the comparable companies whose principal business was 
comparable to that of Open Union.

The Directors believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the 
recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying amount of the Prepaid Cards and Internet 
Payment CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

Other information on fair value measurement of the Prepaid Cards and Internet Payment CGU
The description of valuation technique used in fair value measurement for the Prepaid Cards and Internet 
Payment CGU containing goodwill is as follow:

Fair value hierarchy	 Valuation technique

Level 3	 Market-based approach

16(c)	Prestige Benefits CGU
On 8 July 2015, Firm Idea Limited (“Firm Idea”) acquired the entire equity interest in AE Investment 
Consultancy Limited (“AE Investment”) and its subsidiaries (i.e. Colourful and Shanghai Jingyuan) 
at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$192,968,000. The excess of the consideration 
transferred over the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed of approximately HK$190,721,000 was recognised as goodwill. Further in September 2015, 
Shanghai Jingyuan acquired the entire equity interest in Shanghai Aole at an aggregate consideration of 
approximately HK$765,000. The excess of the consideration transferred over the acquisition-date fair 
values of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of approximately HK$1,696,000 
was recognised as goodwill. AE Investment, through its subsidiaries, Colourful, Shanghai Jingyuan and 
Shanghai Aole, is engaged in the issuance of prestige benefits card to premium consumers and financial 
institutions (the “Prestige Benefits CGU”).

At 31 March 2017, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of the Prestige Benefits CGU with 
reference to a value-in-use calculation based on cash flow projection of AE Investment and its subsidiaries. 
The calculation uses cash flow projection based on financial budgets approved by the Directors covering a 
5-year period. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period have been extrapolated using a 3% long-term growth 
rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average 
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.
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16.	 GOODWILL (continued)

16(c)	 Prestige Benefits CGU (continued)
The recoverable amount of the Prestige Benefits CGU based on value-in-use calculation exceeded its 
carrying amount. Accordingly, goodwill was not impaired.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:

2017 2016
% %

Gross profit margin 45.5% 36.9%
Average growth rate 25.0% 24.2%
Long-term growth rate 3% 3%
Discount rate 20.4% 18.7%

Management determined the budgeted gross profit margin and growth rate based on past performance 
and the expectation of market development. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks 
relating to the Prestige Benefits CGU.

Apart from the considerations described above in determining the recoverable amount of the Prestige 
Benefits CGU, the Company’s management is not aware of any other probable changes that would 
necessitate changes in the key assumptions.

16(d)	 Internet Payment Clearing CGU
On 21 August 2015, Qijun Information Technology acquired the entire equity interest in Rongyifu at an 
aggregate consideration of RMB37,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$45,743,000). Rongyifu is 
engaged in the provision of internet payment clearing services (the “Internet Payment Clearing CGU”). 
The excess of the consideration transferred over the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed of approximately RMB38,102,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$46,477,000) was recognised as goodwill.

At 31 March 2017, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of the Internet Payment Clearing CGU 
with reference to a value-in-use calculation based on a cash flow projection of Rongyifu. The calculation 
uses cash flow projection based on financial budgets approved by the Directors covering a 5-year period. 
Cash flows beyond the 5-year period have been extrapolated using a 3% long-term growth rate. This 
growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term 
growth rate for the relevant industry.

The recoverable amount of the Internet Payment Clearing CGU based on the value-in-use calculation 
exceeded its carrying amount. Accordingly, goodwill was not impaired.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:

2017 2016
% %

Average growth rate 44% 54%
Long-term growth rate 3% 3%
Discount rate 22.2% 18.7%

Management determined the growth rate based on past performance and its expectation of market 
development. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the Internet Payment 
Clearing CGU.

Apart from the considerations described above in determining the recoverable amount of the Internet 
Payment Clearing CGU, the Company’s management is not aware of any other probable changes that 
would necessitate changes in the key assumptions.
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17.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold land 

and buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Furniture and 

office equipment
Motor 

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2015 35,214 988 13,237 1,356 50,795
Additions – 1,637 7,593 915 10,145
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – 321 213 534
Disposals – – (286) – (286)
Exchange realignments (1,457) (42) (825) (73) (2,397)

At 31 March 2016 and  
at 1 April 2016 33,757 2,583 20,040 2,411 58,791

Additions – 1,748 12,395 491 14,634
Disposal of subsidiaries  

(Note 34) – – (55) – (55)
Disposals – – (11) – (11)
Write off – (562) (346) (193) (1,101)
Exchange realignments (1,798) (81) (421) (162) (2,462)

At 31 March 2017 31,959 3,688 31,602 2,547 69,796

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2015 291 259 6,192 116 6,858
Charges 1,699 674 3,659 556 6,588
Disposals – – (221) – (221)
Exchange realignments (49) (20) (452) (17) (538)

At 31 March 2016  
and at 1 April 2016 1,941 913 9,178 655 12,687

Charges 1,536 1,038 5,234 704 8,512
Disposal of subsidiaries  

(Note 34) – – (12) – (12)
Disposals – – (1) – (1)
Write off – (284) (94) (67) (445)
Exchange realignments (156) (43) 33 (55) (221)

At 31 March 2017 3,321 1,624 14,338 1,237 20,520

Net carrying amount
At 31 March 2017 28,638 2,064 17,264 1,310 49,276

At 1 April 2016 31,816 1,670 10,862 1,756 46,104

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were situated in the PRC under original lease term of 50 years.
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18.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer 

software
Licence 

rights Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2015 – 2,120 2,120
Additions 36,314 – 36,314
Acquisition of subsidiaries 206 – 206
Exchange realignments (7) (102) (109)

At 31 March 2016 and at 1 April 2016 36,513 2,018 38,531
Additions 12,784 – 12,784
Write off – (1,908) (1,908)
Exchange realignments (2,520) (83) (2,603)

At 31 March 2017 46,777 27 46,804

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 April 2015 – 57 57
Charges 1,586 326 1,912
Exchange realignments (32) (9) (41)

At 31 March 2016 and at 1 April 2016 1,554 374 1,928
Charges 6,892 2 6,894
Impairment loss 4,160 – 4,160
Write off – (354) (354)
Exchange realignments (270) (15) (285)

At 31 March 2017 12,336 7 12,343

Net carrying amount 
At 31 March 2017 34,441 20 34,461

At 1 April 2016 34,959 1,644 36,603

Computer software represents costs incurred for the development of the technology systems which are under 
the prepaid cards and internet payment business and e-commerce and trade financing business. The costs 
are capitalised and amortised under the straight-line method over 5 years. All intangible assets are tested for 
impairment where an indicator of impairment appears.

Management had decided to suspend the operation of the e-commerce integration platform during the year 
and assessed that the recoverable amount of the associated computer software which is its fair value less 
costs of disposal was zero. Accordingly, impairment loss of approximately HK$4,160,000 was made on the 
computer software during the year ended 31 March 2017. The impairment loss has been included in the “General 
administrative expenses”.
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19.	 OTHER INVESTMENTS
2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investments, at cost
Equity securities (a) 9,460 –
Equity-linked structured note (b) 34,570 –
Principal unguaranteed funds (c) – 9,622

(d) 44,030 9,622

Analysed as:
Current – 9,622
Non-current 44,030 –

44,030 9,622

Notes:

(a)	 At 31 March 2017, the Group held 15% interest in the ordinary share capital of Nexion Technologies Limited (“Nexion”), 
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its principal subsidiaries engaged in the business of provision of 
cyber infrastructure solutions and research and development and provision of cyber security solutions services.

On 16 June 2017, Nexion completed its public offer and was listed on the GEM by issuing 150,000,000 ordinary shares 
of HK$0.48 each. After completion of the public offer together with the capitalisation issue, the equity interest in Nexion 
(Stock code: 8420) held by the Group decreased to 11.3%, which represented 67,500,000 ordinary shares held. The 
fair values of the equity interest in Nexion upon listing on 16 June 2017 and the date of approving the consolidated 
financial statements were approximately HK$32,400,000 and HK$37,125,000 respectively.

In the opinion of the Director, as a strategic investor, the Group has no significant influence on Nexion before or after 
listing and the Group does not appoint any representative in the board of directors of Nexion. Accordingly, the equity 
investments in Nexion continue to be accounted for as available-for-sale investment.

(b)	 At 31 March 2017, the Group held an unlisted investment in equity-linked structured note (the “Structured Note”), with 
the underlying investment related to certain assets held by a minority shareholder, issued by a subsidiary of an entity 
listed in Hong Kong (the “Issuer”). The Structured Note is interest-free and will mature in a maximum period of 5 years. 
The Structured Note is secured by corporate guarantee provided by the ultimate holding company of the Issuer. The 
Structured Note can be redeemed from time to time prior to five business days before maturity date, subject to sole 
discretion of the Issuer.

(c)	 At 31 March 2016, the unlisted investments in principal unguaranteed funds (the “Funds”) were placed with banks in the 
PRC. The Funds can be redeemed from time to time. The Funds are unlisted investment funds which mainly invested in 
treasury bonds, bank debentures, central bank bills, enterprise/corporate bonds and other investments in the PRC with 
high credit rating. The Funds bear interest at floating rate with expected return ranging from 3.75% to 5.2% per annum 
during the year ended 31 March 2016.

(d)	 In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of above-mentioned other investments cannot be reliably measured 
because (i) the investments do not have quoted market price in an active market; (ii) the range of reasonable fair value 
estimates is significant for the investments; and (iii) the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reasonably 
assessed and used in estimating the fair value. As such, the investments are measured at cost less any impairment 
losses.
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20.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Designated upon initial recognition
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong 139,700 208,280

The fair values of the listed investments are determined on the basis of quoted market price at the end of the 
reporting period.

The details of the listed investments at 31 March 2017 are as follows:

Company name
Stock 
Code

Number of 
shares held

% of 
shareholding

in equity 
investment

Cost of 
acquisition

Unrealised 
gain on fair 
value since 
acquisition

Fair value 
as at 31 

March 2017

% of net 
assets of 

the Group Principal activities
HK$ HK$ HK$

Zhi Cheng Holdings  
Limited (“Zhi Cheng”)

8130 508,000,000 18.29% 
<Note>

68,580,000 71,120,000 139,700,000 10.78% Provision of consultancy 
services, advertising 
and media related 
services, project 
management services, 
travel agency and 
related operation, 
financial leasing 
and other financial 
services.

During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, there was no dividend income received from the above 
investment.

<Note>
In the opinion of the Directors, the Group has no significant influence on the investee and the Group does not appoint any 
representative in the board of directors of Zhi Cheng. The equity investments are accounted for as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss.

21.	 INVENTORIES
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods 3,444 9,925
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22.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and bills receivables (a) 86,763 57,044

Loan receivables, net of allowances (b) 136,672 52,511

Other receivables
Deposits on investments (c) 302,921 18,041
Deposits paid to merchants (d) 19,921 22,215
Deposits, prepayments and other debtors (e) 106,903 133,351
Due from an associate (f) 11,274 12,027

441,019 185,634

664,454 295,189

Analysed by:
Non-current 302,921 18,041
Current 361,533 277,148

664,454 295,189

Included in trade and other receivables is the following amount denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the Group’s entities:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 50,315 –
US$ 10,265 16,624

60,580 16,624
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22.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

22(a)	 Trade and bills receivables
The Group allows a credit period up to 90 days to its trade debtors. At the end of the reporting period, the 
ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables by invoice date or bills issuance date is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Less than 1 month 61,922 39,592
1 month to 3 months 14,199 4,196
Over 3 months 10,642 13,256

86,763 57,044

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables by due date is as 
follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current 65,450 41,348

Past due:
Less than 1 month 6,496 3,676
1 month to 3 months 6,692 4,270
Over 3 months 8,125 7,750

21,313 15,696

86,763 57,044

The trade and bills receivables (including past due receivables) are assessed not to be impaired as there 
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the Directors believe that the amounts are fully 
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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22.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

22(b)	Loan receivables, net of allowances
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loan receivables, gross 137,203 52,511
Impairment allowance (531) –

136,672 52,511

At the end of the reporting period, loan receivables (1) include an aggregate amount of approximately 
HK$59,855,000 (2016: Nil) which are secured by personal guarantee provided by equity holder of the 
borrowers and the remaining balances are unsecured; (2) carry fixed interest rates ranging from Nil to 12% 
per annum (2016: 8% per annum); (3) are within the respective maturity dates.

Movements of impairment loss on loan receivables are as follows:

HK$’000

At 1 April 2016 –
Impairment loss 543
Exchange realignments (12)

At 31 March 2017 531

Impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting purposes only for losses that have incurred at 
the end of reporting period based on objective evidence of impairment.

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of loan receivables (net of allowances) prepared 
based on loan commencement or renewal date set out in the relevant contracts is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Less than 1 month 24,296 –
1 month to 3 months 24,119 52,511
Over 3 months 88,257 –

136,672 52,511
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22.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

22(b)	Loan receivables, net of allowances (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of loan receivables (net of allowances) prepared 
based on contractual due date is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Not yet past due 135,353 52,511

Past due:
Less than 1 month 752 –
1 month to 3 months 564 –
Over 3 months 3 –

1,319 –

136,672 52,511

Loan receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of borrowers for whom 
there was no recent history of default.

Loans receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to borrowers that have good track record 
with the Group. Based on past experience, the Directors are of the opinion that no impairment is necessary 
in respect of these balances as there has not been significant change in credit quality of the borrowers and 
the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

22(c)	 Deposits on investments
2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits on acquisition of the  
remaining interest in Open Union 13(c) 33,822 12,027

Deposits on potential acquisitions 41(a) 236,899 –
Deposits on potential investments in  

equity interest in other entities 41(b)/(c) 20,307 –
Deposits on potential investments in equity interest 

and acquisition of assets from other entities 37 5,636 6,014
Other deposits on investments 6,257 –

302,921 18,041

22(d)	Deposits paid to merchants
The amounts represented deposits paid to merchants as guarantees for the settlement of the spending 
made by prepaid cards’ holders and internet payment accounts’ holders.
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22.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

22(e)	Deposits, prepayments and other debtors

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Funds prepaid to merchants <Note> 7,495 6,742
Other deposits, prepayments and other debtors 57,477 41,852
Trade deposits and prepayments 41,931 84,757

106,903 133,351

Note:	 The amounts represented funds remitted to the merchants in advance for the settlement of the spending to be 
made by the prepaid cards’ holders and internet payment accounts’ holders. The prepaid amounts are based 
on the historical spending pattern and expected transaction value with individual merchants.

22(f)	 Due from an associate
The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

23.	 RESTRICTED FUNDS
2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank deposits in:
Thailand (a) 616 1,583
The PRC (b) 450,944 555,347

451,560 556,930

23(a)	 Thailand
Pursuant to the agreements signed with a third party card acquiring business partner, the amounts 
represent bank balances in banks in Thailand maintained solely for the purpose of settlement of 
outstanding trade payables for the third party card acquiring business and are restricted for use by the 
Group for any other purposes. The restricted bank balances are denominated in Baht.

23(b)	The PRC
Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the funds are maintained solely for the purpose 
of settlement of outstanding payable to merchants when the prepaid cards holders/internet payment 
accounts’ holders make purchase transactions with respective merchants and are not allowed to be used 
by the Group for any other purpose. The deposits are denominated in RMB and represented savings/
current/fixed deposits accounts maintained with banks. They bear interest rate of 2.9% to 3.30% (2016: 
0.35% to 3.30%) per annum.



130 China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2017

24.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank balances and cash are denominated in:
HK$ 190,639 97,892
RMB 50,223 117,297
Baht 14,685 9,202
Korean Won 5,221 –
US$ 3,484 3,961
Singapore Dollar 320 2,157

264,572 230,509

25.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables (a) 31,744 47,938

Prestige benefits cards – provision of hotel  
and catering expenses (b) 14,215 9,659

Unutilised float funds (c) 421,389 519,610

467,348 577,207

Other payables
Accruals and other payables 46,348 28,491
Due to an associate (d) – 42,096
Due to a joint venture (d) 4,707 4,288
Due to ex-shareholder of a subsidiary (d) 832 887

51,887 75,762

519,235 652,969
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25.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

25(a)	Trade payables
The credit periods of trade payables ranged from 30 to 60 days. At the end of the reporting period, the 
ageing analysis of the trade payables by invoice date is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Less than 1 month 31,145 46,895
1 month to 3 months 198 864
Over 3 months 401 179

31,744 47,938

25(b)	Prestige benefits cards – provision of hotel and catering expenses

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the reporting period 9,659 –
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 3,739
Additions 14,215 9,659
Utilised (9,659) (3,739)

At the end of the reporting period 14,215 9,659

25(c)	Unutilised float funds
The balances represented amounts prepaid by the prepaid cards’ holders and internet payment accounts’ 
holders to the Group and unutilised at the end of the reporting period. The Group is required to pay to 
the merchants from these funds when the prepaid cards’ holders and internet payment accounts’ holders 
make purchase transactions with respective merchants. The settlement terms with merchants vary and 
are dependent on the negotiation between the Group and individual merchants and number of purchase 
transactions.

25(d)	Due to an associate/a joint venture/ex-shareholder of a subsidiary
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand.
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26.	 CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION – CONSIDERATION SHARES
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Reconciliation of carrying amount
At the beginning of the reporting period 99,992 –
Initial recognition – 67,805
Consideration shares issued upon fulfilment  

of performance target in January 2017 (41,442) –
Fair value changes 5,763 32,187

At the end of the reporting period 64,313 99,992

Current portion 64,313 36,089
Non-current portion – 63,903

64,313 99,992

On 20 April 2015, the Group entered into sale and purchase agreements (the “Agreements”) with certain 
independent third parties (the “Vendors”) pursuant to which the Group/the Vendors both agree to acquire/sell the 
entire equity interests of AE Investment and its subsidiaries (together the “AE Group”) (the “AE Acquisition”). The 
AE Group is primarily engaged in the issuance of prestige benefits cards to premium consumers and financial 
institutions.

Pursuant to the Agreements, the maximum nominal consideration for the AE Acquisition is HK$312 million, which 
comprises of an initial and additional consideration of HK$175 million and HK$12 million, respectively, together 
with a contingent consideration.

The contingent consideration in a maximum amount of HK$125 million is to be settled by the allotment and issue 
of a maximum of 58,139,534 new ordinary shares of the Company at an issue price of HK$2.15 per share (the 
“Issue Price”) to the Vendors as follows:

(i)	 HK$54 million to be settled by the allotment of the consideration shares of the Company at a price of 
HK$2.15 per share within one month after the issuance of the audited consolidated financial statements for 
the period from 1 August 2015 to 31 July 2016 of AE Investment (the “Second Tranche Consideration”); 
and

(ii)	 HK$71 million to be settled by the allotment of the consideration shares of the Company at a price of 
HK$2.15 per share within one month after the issuance of the audited consolidated financial statements 
for the period from 1 August 2016 to 31 July 2017 of AE Investment (the “Third Tranche Consideration”).

The Second Tranche Consideration and the Third Tranche Consideration (together as the “Contingent 
Consideration”) are subject to adjustments on the basis of the following performance targets as stated in the 
Agreements in respect of the AE Acquisition:

(i)	 the audited operating profit after tax of the AE Group for the period from 1 August 2015 to 31 July 2016 
(“2015 Net Profit”) shall not be less than RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$36,082,000, 
the “2015 Performance Target”); and
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26.	 CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION – CONSIDERATION SHARES (continued)
(ii)	 the audited operating profit after tax of the AE Group for the period from 1 August 2016 to 31 July 2017 

(“2016 Net Profit”) shall not be less than RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$48,109,000, the 
“2016 Performance Target” and together with the 2015 Performance Target, the “Performance Targets”).

In the event that the 2015 Net Profit and the 2016 Net Profit shall be less than the 2015 Performance Target 
and the 2016 Performance Target, respectively, the above mentioned consideration shares shall be adjusted in 
accordance with formula as set out in the Agreements. In the event that there is a shortfall between the 2015 
Net Profit and the 2015 Performance Target and the Second Tranche Consideration is adjusted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of the Agreements and that subsequently, there is a surplus between the 2016 Net 
Profit and the 2016 Performance Target, the Group shall reimburse the Vendors a sum calculated in accordance 
with formula as set out in the Agreements.

In the event that the price of the Company’s share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the business day prior 
to the proposed date of issue of the shares for the Second Tranche Consideration and/or the Third Tranche 
Consideration is less than the Issue Price, the Vendors shall have an option to elect an amount equal to the 
shortfall of such share price multiplied by the number of the shares for the Second Tranche Consideration 
and/or the Third Tranche Consideration to be settled in cash, in addition to the allotment and issue of shares 
for the Second Tranche Consideration and/or the Third Tranche Consideration to the Vendors, provided that 
such amount shall only be paid at such time when the Company is satisfied that it has sufficient cash for such 
settlement.

Further details of the AE Acquisition and the Contingent Consideration are set out in the Company’s circular dated 
12 June 2015.

On 8 July 2015, the AE Acquisition was completed. The Directors engaged an independent professional valuer to 
determine the fair value of the Contingent Consideration at the completion date, in accordance with HKFRS 13 
“Fair Value Measurement” issued by the HKICPA. Fair value is defined in HKFRS 13 as “the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date”. The independent professional valuer has reviewed the methodologies and the key valuation 
parameters and business assumptions adopted. At 8 July 2015, the fair value of the Contingent Consideration is 
estimated to be approximately HK$67,805,000.

At 31 March 2016, the Directors have engaged the independent professional valuer to determine the fair value 
of the Contingent Consideration. The independent professional valuer has reviewed the methodologies and the 
key valuation parameters and business assumptions adopted. For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group 
recognised a fair value loss on the Contingent Consideration of approximately HK$32,187,000 in profit and 
loss increasing the contingent consideration to approximately HK$99,992,000 as a result of the change in the 
expected performance of the AE Group in relation to the 2015 Net Profit and the 2016 Net Profit.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, based on the guaranteed profit reconciliation statement of the AE Group 
audited by Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”) and the associated report of the 2015 Net Profit issued by Mazars 
on 30 December 2016, the 2015 Net Profit exceeded the 2015 Performance Target and thus, the Group is 
required to settle the Second Tranche Consideration in full. The final settlement value of the Second Tranche 
Consideration of approximately HK$54,000,000 was determined with reference to the subscription price of the 
Company’s shares of HK$2.15 per share as set out in the Agreements and the numbers of new shares confirmed 
to be allotted and a fair value change of approximately HK$17,911,000 was recognised to the profit or loss for 
the year. The Second Tranche Consideration was partly settled by issuance of 25,116,279 consideration shares 
of the Company on 11 January 2017 of approximately HK$41,442,000, which was measured in accordance 
with the published share price at the date of issuance of the shares (Note 30(f)), and the remaining balances of 
approximately HK$12,558,000 was unsettled at the end of the reporting period.
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26.	 CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION – CONSIDERATION SHARES (continued)
In addition, the Directors have engaged the independent professional valuer to determine the fair value of the Third 
Tranche Consideration with reference to the latest financial information of AE Group, the AE Group’s financial 
performance forecast and other relevant indicators. The independent professional valuer has reviewed the 
methodologies and the key valuation parameters and business assumptions adopted. The estimated settlement 
value of the Third Tranche Consideration was approximately HK$51,755,000, a fair value change of approximately 
HK$12,148,000 was recognised to the profit or loss for the current year, as a result of the change in the expected 
performance of the AE Group in relation to the 2016 Net Profit.

27.	 DEFERRED TAXATION
The movement for the year in the Group’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) was as follows:

Provisions
Undistributed 

earnings
Fair value 

adjustments Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2015 – (812) (1,264) (2,076)
Credit (Charge) to profit or loss 1,194 (401) – 793
Exchange realignment (24) – – (24)

At 31 March 2016 and at 1 April 2016 1,170 (1,213) (1,264) (1,307)
Charge to profit or loss (3,027) – – (3,027)
Exchange realignment 95 – – 95

At 31 March 2017 (1,762) (1,213) (1,264) (4,239)

Recognised deferred tax liabilities at the end of the reporting period represent the following:

Assets Liabilities

2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Provisions – 1,170 (1,762) –
Fair value adjustments – – (1,264) (1,264)
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings 

of a non-wholly owned subsidiary – – (1,213) (1,213)

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) – 1,170 (4,239) (2,477)

Amount expected to be secured  
(settled) after more than 12 months – 1,170 (4,239) (2,477)

At the end of the reporting period, deferred tax liabilities of approximately HK$1,213,000 (2016: approximately 
HK$1,213,000) has been recognised for the future withholding tax implications of the undistributed earnings of 
OCG Thailand. In the opinion of the Directors, based on the existing dividend policy of OCG Thailand, certain 
retained earnings, at the present time, are required for financing the continuing operations and no distribution 
would be made in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, no additional provision for deferred taxation has been 
made in the current reporting period.
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27.	 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Unrecognised deferred taxation
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of the tax losses, as set out below, because it is not 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits therefrom. The 
unrecognised tax losses will expire as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Year 2017 – 46
Year 2018 84 22
Year 2019 105 244
Year 2020 3,063 7,876
Year 2021 7,898 11,453
Year 2022 903 –
No expiry 9,673 6,326

21,726 25,967

In addition to OCG Thailand, the accumulated profits of certain subsidiaries in the PRC would be subject 
to additional taxation if they are distributed. At 31 March 2017, the estimated withholding tax effect on the 
distribution of accumulated profits of these entities was approximately of HK$6,076,000 (2016: approximately 
HK$2,016,000). In the opinion of the Directors, these accumulated profits, at the present time, are required for 
financing the continuing operations of the entities and no distribution would be made in the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly, no provisions for additional deferred taxation have been made.

28.	 OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Other long-term liabilities represent preference shares issued by OCG Thailand as detailed in Note 13(a) to the 
consolidated financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had an outstanding amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of 
Baht 7,650,000 (equivalent to HK$1,747,000) (2016: Baht 7,650,000 (equivalent to HK$1,690,000)) in respect of 
the issued and paid up preference share capital of OCG Thailand, which carries cumulative dividend at 9.5% per 
annum (2016: 9.5% per annum), with an accrued dividend payable of approximately Baht 727,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$164,000) (31 March 2016: HK$Nil) as included in “Trade and other payables”.
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29.	 BONDS/CONVERTIBLE BONDS
In July 2016, the Company entered into subscription agreements with three independent third parties to 
subscribe:

(i)	 bonds with coupon interest rate of 9% per annum (the “First Bonds”) in the principal amount of US$32 
million (equivalent to approximately HK$248 million) which will mature on the third anniversary of the issue 
date; and

(ii)	 convertible bonds with coupon interest rate of 4% per annum (the “First Convertible Bonds”) in the 
principal amount of US$8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$62 million) which will mature on the third 
anniversary of the issue date. Based on the initial conversion price of HK$1.90 per share, the holder of the 
First Convertible Bonds could convert into a maximum of 32,631,578 ordinary shares of the Company in 
any time on or after the date of issuance of the First Convertible Bonds up to and inclusive of the maturity 
date. The net price per conversion share under the First Convertible Bonds to be issued is approximately 
HK$1.87.

The issuance of the First Bonds and the First Convertible Bonds were completed on 1 August 2016 and 
12 August 2016, respectively. The net proceeds from the First Bonds and the First Convertible Bonds were 
approximately US$39.3 million (equivalent to approximately HK$305 million).

Details of the subscription of the First Bonds and the First Convertible Bonds including their major terms (including 
covenants, undertaking and security) are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 31 July 2016.

In August 2016, the Company entered into further subscription agreements with an independent third party to 
subscribe:

(i)	 bonds with coupon interest rate of 9% per annum (the “Second Bonds”) in the principal amount of US$16 
million (equivalent to approximately HK$124 million) which will mature on the third anniversary of the issue 
date; and

(ii)	 convertible bonds with coupon interest rate of 4% per annum (the “Second Convertible Bonds”) in the 
principal amount of US$4 million (equivalent to approximately HK$31 million) which will mature on the third 
anniversary of the issue date. Based on the initial conversion price of HK$1.90 per share, the holder of the 
Second Convertible Bonds could convert into a maximum of 16,315,789 ordinary shares of the Company, 
in any time on or after the date of issuance of the Second Convertible Bonds up to and inclusive of the 
maturity date. The net price per conversion share under the Second Convertible Bonds to be issued is 
approximately HK$1.87.

The issuance of the Second Bonds and the Second Convertible Bonds were completed on 4 August 2016 and 
12 August 2016, respectively. The net proceeds from the Second Bonds and the Second Convertible Bonds were 
approximately US$19.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$154 million).

Details of the subscription of the Second Bonds and the Second Convertible Bonds including their major terms 
(including covenants, undertaking and security) are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 2 August 
2016.
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29.	 BONDS/CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
The Company may redeem the First Convertible Bonds and/or the Second Convertible Bonds (collectively the 
“Convertible Bonds”), in whole but not in part, (i) on the first anniversary of the issue date of the Convertible 
Bonds, at a redemption price equals to 102% of the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds 
or (ii) on the second anniversary of the issue date of the Convertible Bonds, at a redemption price equals to 
105% of the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds, in each case together with accrued and 
unpaid interest, default interest and costs and expenses reasonably incurred and are due and payable under the 
instruments of the Convertible Bonds to the redemption date.

The conversion price will be subject to the adjustment in certain circumstances. In the case of (i) offer of new 
shares for subscription by way of rights, or grant of options or warrants to subscribe for new shares; (ii) issuance 
of any securities, which are convertible into or exchangeable for or carrying rights of subscription of new shares, 
by the Company wholly for cash; (iii) modification of the rights of conversion or exchange or subscription attached 
to any of (ii); (iv) issuance of shares wholly for cash; and (v) issuance of shares by the Company for the acquisition 
of asset, the adjustment to the conversion price of the Convertible Bonds will take place only where the issue 
price or total effective consideration per share for shares to be allotted and issued by the Company upon 
conversion of the Convertible Bonds is less than 95% of the current market price per share.

At the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds, the embedded derivative components (i.e. early redemption 
option by the Company and conversion option by the bonds holders) of the Convertible Bonds (the “Derivative 
Component”) were recognised at fair value and the excess of proceeds over the Derivative Component is 
recognised as the liability component. The Group has engaged an independent professional valuer to estimate the 
fair value of the Derivative Component on the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds.

The Directors also engaged the independent professional valuer to determine the fair value of the Derivative 
Component at 31 March 2017 on the same basis as above. The independent professional valuer has reviewed 
the methodologies and the key valuation parameters and business assumptions adopted.

The fair value of the Derivative Component is valued using the Binomial Option Pricing Model, with the following 
key inputs:

12 August 2016
(Date of issue) 31 March 2017

Stock price 1.36 1.41
Exercise price 1.90 1.90
Volatility 71.45% 74.62%
Option life 36 months 29 months
Risk-free interest rate 0.49% 0.95%
Discount rate 17.10% 12.76%
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29.	 BONDS/CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
The movement of the Convertible Bonds is as follows:

Derivative Component, classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Conversion 
option

Early
redemption

option Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At the issue date 32,821 (5,999) 26,822
Fair value changes (3,820) (4,797) (8,617)

At 31 March 2017 29,001 (10,796) 18,205

Liability Component, classified as financial liability at amortised costs

HK$’000

Nominal value of the Convertible Bonds issued 93,000
Derivative Component (26,822)
Transaction costs allocated (1,237)

At the issue date 64,941

Effective interest expenses 5,343

At 31 March 2017 70,284

30.	 SHARE CAPITAL
2017 2016

Number of 
shares

Nominal 
value

Number of 
shares

Nominal 
value

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised 2,000,000,000 20,000 2,000,000,000 20,000

Issued and fully paid
At the beginning of the reporting period 1,452,639,159 14,526 1,036,800,000 10,368
Conversion of convertible bonds issued under 

the subscription agreements (Note (a)) – – 83,837,836 838
Conversion of convertible bonds issued under 

the placing agreements (Note (b)) – – 83,837,835 838
Consideration shares issued upon the 

subscription in July 2015 (Note (c)) – – 63,953,488 640
Shares issued upon the subscription  

in January 2016 (Note (d)) – – 184,210,000 1,842
Cancellation of shares in June 2016 (Note (e)) (16,590,000) (166) – –
Allotment of shares in January 2017 (Note (f)) 25,116,279 251 – –

At the end of the reporting period 1,461,165,438 14,611 1,452,639,159 14,526
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30.	 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Note:

(a)	 In April 2015, the Company entered into the subscription agreements with two independent third parties to subscribe 
6% convertible bonds in the principal amount of US$10 million (equivalent to approximately HK$77.55 million) (the 
“First Subscription”) and US$10 million (equivalent to approximately HK$77.55 million) (the “Second Subscription”), 
respectively, which are due on 30 April 2018 and could be converted into a maximum of 41,918,918 and 41,918,918 
ordinary shares of the Company, respectively, in any time on or after 41 days after the date of issuance of convertible 
bonds until 10 days prior to the maturity date. Also, the convertible bonds would be mandatorily converted when the 
closing price of the shares of the Company of each of 5 consecutive trading days is at least HK$3.00 per share. The 
First Subscription and the Second Subscription were completed on 27 April 2015. The net prices per conversion share 
under the First Subscription and the Second Subscription to be issued are approximately HK$1.846 and HK$1.822, 
respectively. On 12 June 2015, pursuant to the conversion notices from the bondholders to exercise their conversion 
rights in the First Subscription and the Second Subscription, those convertible bonds were fully converted into 
41,918,918 and 41,918,918 ordinary shares of the Company, respectively.

(b)	 In April 2015, the Company entered into the placing agreements with not less than six placees, who are independent 
third parties, to place 6% convertible bonds in the principal amount of US$20 million (equivalent to approximately 
HK$155.1 million) (the “April 2015 Placing”) which are due on 30 April 2018 and could be converted into a maximum 
of 83,837,835 ordinary shares of the Company in any time on or after 41 days after the date of issuance of convertible 
bonds until 10 days prior the maturity date. Also, the convertible bonds would be mandatorily converted when the 
closing price of the shares of the Company for each of 5 consecutive trading days is at least HK$3.00 per share. The 
April 2015 Placing was completed on 30 April 2015. The net price per conversion share under the April 2015 Placing 
to be issued is approximately HK$1.817. On 17 June 2015, pursuant to the conversion notices form the bondholders 
to exercise their conversion rights under the April 2015 Placing in respect of the principal amount of US$8.5 million 
(equivalent to approximately HK$65.9 million), the related convertible bonds were converted into 35,631,081 ordinary 
shares of the Company. For the remaining convertible bonds of the principal amount of US$11.5 million (equivalent to 
approximately HK$89.2 million), upon fulfillment of the mandatory conditions as set out in the placing agreements, the 
Company had issued notices to the bondholders to mandatorily convert all remaining convertible bonds into 48,206,754 
ordinary shares of the Company on 22 June 2015.

(c)	 On 17 July 2015, the Company completed a subscription agreement with the Vendors to issue and subscribe 
63,953,488 ordinary shares of the Company at the subscription price of HK$2.15 per share, amounting to proceeds of 
approximately HK$137.5 million, to settle part of the initial consideration of the AE Acquisition (See Note 26).

(d)	 On 20 October 2015, the Company, 上海陸家嘴金融發展有限公司 (Shanghai Lujiazui Financial Development Limited*, 
“LJF”), 上海陸家嘴股權投資基金合夥企業(有限合夥) (Shanghai Lujiazui Equity Investment Fund (Limited Partnership)*, 
“LJZ Fund”) and Dr. Cao Guoqi entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant to which LJF and LJZ Fund have 
conditionally agreed to (or agreed to procure the designated subsidiary to) subscribe for, and the Company has 
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total number of 422,809,720 new ordinary shares (the “Subscription Shares”) 
at the subscription price of HK$1.90 per Subscription Share (the “LJF Subscription”).

On 8 January 2016, a total of 184,210,000 Subscription Shares were issued in accordance with the terms of the 
subscription agreement of LJF Subscription at a price of HK$1.90 per share since all the conditions precedent to 
the Completion of the LJF Subscription have been fulfilled, and that with the first tranche of the payment for the LJF 
Subscription made by LJF to the Company (the “First Completion”). The Company raised proceeds of approximately 
HK$349,999,000 to finance the Group’s future potential investments or otherwise as general working capital of 
the Group. The expenses of approximately HK$15,000 arising from the First Completion of LJF Subscription were 
recognised in the share premium account of the Company.

(e)	 On 7 June 2016, the Company cancelled a total of 16,590,000 shares of the Company which had been repurchased on 
the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 March 2016. Upon the completion of cancellation of shares, the issued 
shares of the Company were decreased by 16,590,000 shares. The share capital of the Company was decreased by 
approximately HK$166,000 and the share premium was decreased by approximately HK$27,213,000.

(f)	 On 11 January 2017, the Company issued 25,116,279 shares of which approximately HK$251,000 was credited to 
share capital and the remaining balance of approximately HK$41,191,000 was credited to share premium account in 
relation to the settlement of the Second Tranche Consideration for the AE Acquisition (Note 26).

All shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

*	 English translation for identification purpose only.
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31.	 RESERVES
31(a)	 Share Premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from issuance of the Company’s shares 
over its par value. Under the law of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association, it is 
distributable to the Company’s shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall 
due in the ordinary course of business.

31(b)	Capital Reserve
The capital reserve represents the aggregate amount of the nominal value of the registered capital of the 
companies comprising the Group less consideration paid to acquire the relevant interests, after adjusting 
the registered capital held by those attributable to the non-controlling interests, and the deemed capital 
contribution from the former controlling party prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of 
the Stock Exchange.

31(c)	 Exchange Reserve
Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from translation of 
the financial statements of the Group’s subsidiaries. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the 
accounting policies as set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

31(d)	Statutory Reserve
In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in Thailand, OCG Thailand is required to appropriate 
not less than 5% of its net profit to the statutory reserve upon each dividend distribution, until the statutory 
reserve reaches 10% of its registered authorised capital. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend 
distribution.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and the relevant articles of association 
of the group entities incorporated in the PRC (the “PRC Subsidiaries”), it is required to appropriate 10% 
of the annual statutory net profits of the PRC Subsidiaries, after offsetting any prior years’ losses as 
determined under the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory surplus reserve fund before distributing 
the net profit. When the balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund reaches 50% of the paid-up capital 
of the PRC subsidiaries, any further appropriation is at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory surplus 
reserve fund can be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into paid-up capital 
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund after such conversion is no less 
than 25% of the paid-up capital.

31(e)	 Capital Redemption Reserve
Capital redemption reserve has been set up and is dealt with repurchases and cancellations of the 
Company’s own shares. The application of the capital redemption reserve is governed by Section 37(3)(f) 
of Companies Law, Cap.22 of the Cayman Islands.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company, through a subsidiary, repurchased 16,590,000 shares 
of its own shares on the Stock Exchange but not yet cancelled. The nominal value of these shares was 
not deducted from the issued share capital of the Company. The total consideration paid for these 
repurchased shares was included in “Capital redemption reserve”. In June 2016, all of the repurchased 
shares were cancelled. The nominal value of cancelled shares was credited to the capital redemption 
reserve and the aggregate consideration was deducted against the share capital and share premium of the 
Company.
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32.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 14 August 2009, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of recognising 
and motivating the contribution of the eligible persons to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries and invested 
entities.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme 
and any other schemes must not exceed 10% of the shares in issue at the date of adoption of the Scheme (the 
“10% Limit”) or the date of any shareholders’ meeting in refreshing the 10% Limit, if applicable. The total number 
of the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to a participant under the Scheme 
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares in 
issue on the last day of such 12-month period unless approval from the shareholders of the Company in general 
meeting is obtained with such participant and his/her associates abstaining from voting.

The exercise period of an option under the Scheme will be notified by the Board of Directors to each participant, 
which shall not exceed 10 years from the date upon which the option is granted. The Scheme does not contain 
specific provisions on the minimum period during which an option must be held before it can be exercised. Upon 
acceptance of the option, the eligible person shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the 
grant. Subject to the early termination provisions of the Scheme, the Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10 
years commencing from 14 August 2009.

The exercise price for shares under the Scheme will be a price determined by the Board of Directors and notified 
to each grantee and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing 
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately 
preceding the date of grant and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) on 22 August 2016, the 
refreshment of the 10% Limit (the “Refreshment”) was proposed and passed by shareholders. The total number 
of the shares which may be issued upon exercise of the options to be granted under the Refreshment must not 
exceed 143,604,915 shares, representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the 
AGM approving the proposed Refreshment. No further refreshment of the 10% Limit was proposed and passed 
up to the date of the consolidated financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, options of 50,204,915 (2016: Nil) of the Company, represent 3.5% (2016: Nil) 
of its issued share capital, are available for issue.
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32.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Movements on the number of share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

Number of options

Note 2017 2016

At the beginning of the reporting period (i) 235,680,000 132,000,000
Granted during the year (ii) 93,400,000 103,680,000

At the end of the reporting period 329,080,000 235,680,000

Weighted average exercise price
At the beginning of the reporting period HK$1.85 HK$1.56

Granted during the year HK$1.68 HK$2.22

At the end of the reporting period HK$1.80 HK$1.85

Exercisable HK$1.80 HK$1.85

Weighted average remaining contractual life 3.04 years 3.49 years

Exercisable option at the end of the reporting period 166,560,000 132,000,000

Range of exercise price for option outstanding HK$0.84-HK$2.22 HK$0.84-HK$2.22

Note:

(i)	 On 7 September 2012, options of 6,000,000 shares were granted to Mr. Zhang Huaqiao, a non-executive director of 
the Company appointed on 7 September 2012 (who was re-designated as an executive director with effect from 13 
May 2015), under the Scheme to subscribe the Company’s ordinary shares at an exercise price of HK$0.84. The validity 
period of the share options is five years from 7 September 2012, subject to the following vesting conditions:

•	 2,000,000 share options: vested on 6 March 2013;
•	 2,000,000 share options: vested on 6 March 2014; and
•	 2,000,000 share options: vested on 6 March 2015.

On 19 November 2013, options of 6,000,000 and 2,000,000 shares were granted to Dr. Cao Guoqi and Mr. Fung 
Weichang respectively, who are executive directors of the Company appointed on 18 September 2013. In addition, 
options of 7,500,000 shares were granted to the Group’s employees and options of 38,500,000 shares were granted to 
the Group’s service providers. The share options were granted under the Scheme to subscribe the Company’s ordinary 
shares at an exercise price of HK$1.66. The validity period of the share options is five years from 19 November 2013, 
subject to the following vesting conditions:

•	 11,000,000 share options: vested on 19 November 2013
•	 4,500,000 share options: vested on 19 November 2014; and
•	 38,500,000 share options: vested on 27 January 2015 which represented the date when the services are 

provided and certain performance conditions are achieved.
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32.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Note:
(i)	 (continued)

On 22 September 2014, options of 8,600,000 shares were granted to Mr. Xiong Wensen, who is an executive director 
of the Company appointed on 3 June 2014. In addition, options of 63,400,000 shares were granted to the Group’s 
employees and service providers. The share options were granted under the Scheme to subscribe the Company’s 
ordinary shares at an exercise price of HK$1.55 per share. These share options are immediate vested upon grant date 
on 22 September 2014.

On 21 April 2015, options of 103,680,000 shares were granted to certain eligible persons, of which options of 
35,000,000 shares were granted to executive directors of the Company. In addition, options of 15,000,000 and 
53,680,000 shares were granted to the Group’s employees and service providers, respectively. The share options were 
granted under the Scheme to subscribe the Company’s ordinary shares at the exercise price of HK$2.22. Details of 
number of share options granted to executive directors are set out below:

Name of executive directors
Number of share 
options granted

Mr. Zhang Huaqiao 20,000,000
Dr. Cao Guoqi 5,000,000
Mr. Xiong Wensen 5,000,000
Mr. Song Xiangping 5,000,000

The validity period of the share options is five years from 21 April 2015, subject to the following vesting conditions:

•	 34,560,000 share options: vested on 21 April 2016;
•	 34,560,000 share options: vested on 21 April 2017; and
•	 34,560,000 share options: will be vested on 21 April 2018.

(ii)	 On 1 September 2016, options of 93,400,000 shares (the “Share Options”) were granted to certain eligible persons, of 
which 15,000,000 and 1,400,000 Share Options were granted to executive directors and an independent non-executive 
director of the Company, respectively, under the Scheme to subscribe the Company’s ordinary shares at the exercise 
price of HK$1.68. Details of number of Share Options granted to executive directors are set out below:

Name of executive directors/independent non-executive director
Number of Share 
Options granted

Mr. Zhang Huaqiao 5,000,000
Dr. Cao Guoqi 10,000,000
Mr. Zhou Jinhunag 1,400,000

The validity period of the Share Options is five years from 1 September 2016, subject to the following vesting conditions:

•	 31,133,333 Share Options will be vested on 1 September 2017; and
•	 62,266,667 Share Options will be vested on the 1st day of each month over a period of three years 

commencing from 1 September 2018 in equal portions.
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32.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
<Remark>
The fair values of (i) share options granted on 7 September 2012, 19 November 2013, 22 September 2014, 21 
April 2015 and 1 September 2016 and (ii) the fulfillment of the performance conditions on 22 September 2014, 
27 January 2015 and 21 April 2015 are calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing Model, with the following key 
inputs:

Date of grant Date of performance conditions fulfilled

7 September 
2012

19 November 
2013

22 September 
2014

21 April 
2015

1 September 
2016

22 September 
2014

27 January 
2015

21 April 
2015

Fair value (HK$) HK$0.4285 HK$0.56- HK$0.4736- HK$0.96- HK$0.86- HK$0.4736 HK$0.375 HK$0.96-
HK$0.83 HK$0.6959 HK$1.31 HK$0.93 HK$1.24

Share price immediately before  
the grant/fulfilment date (HK$)

HK$0.84 HK$1.64 HK$1.40 HK$1.99 HK$1.68 HK$1.40 HK$1.13 HK$1.99

Share price at grant/fulfillment date (HK$) HK$0.84 HK$1.64 HK$1.40 HK$2.20 HK$1.68 HK$1.40 HK$1.13 HK$2.20
Exercise price (HK$) HK$0.84 HK$1.66 HK$1.55 HK$2.22 HK$1.68 HK$1.55 HK$1.66 HK$2.22
Expected volatility 58.78% 70.00% 78.34% 77.17% 67.40% 78.34% 58.09% 77.17%
Risk-free interest rate 0.291% 1.087% 0.642% 1.021% 0.631% 0.642% 0.893% 1.021%
Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Voluntary exercise boundary multiple 2.47 1.60-2.47 1.60-2.47 1.60-2.47 2.47 1.60 1.00 1.60

The expected volatility was determined using the historical volatility of the Company’s share prices. The values of 
above share options vary with different variables of certain subjective assumptions in regards to the limitation of 
calculation model applied.

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the services provided by the service providers cannot be estimated 
reliably because those services provided are contingent to the occurrence of certain specific events of the Group 
without comparable transaction values in the market. Accordingly, the Group measured the services provided 
by reference to the fair value of the share options granted, at the date of services provided and performance 
conditions fulfilled on 22 September 2014 and 27 January 2015, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, with reference to the fair value of the share options at grant date, the 
Group recognised approximately HK$62,330,000 (2016: approximately HK$66,487,000) as the share-based 
compensation cost.
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33.	 CASH USED IN OPERATIONS
2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) Profit before tax (162,903) 87,815
Share of results of joint ventures (265) (6)
Share of results of associates 1,874 991
Amortisation 18 6,894 1,912
Depreciation 17 8,512 6,588
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (3) (30)
Write off of property, plant and equipment 656 –
Write off of intangible assets 1,554 –
Write off of other receivables 1,741 –
Impairment loss on intangible assets 18 4,160 –
Impairment loss on goodwill 16 988 –
Impairment loss on loan receivables 22(b) 543 –
Fai value gain on derivative financial instruments 29 (8,617) –
Fair value loss (gain) on financial assets at fair  

value through profit or loss 68,580 (139,700)
Fair value loss on contingent consideration –  

consideration shares 26 5,763 32,187
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 34 (570) –
Gain on disposal of equity interest in an associate – (48)
Foreign exchange differences (4,192) (1,274)
Finance costs 31,095 10,601
Interest income (1,179) (682)
Share-based compensation cost 62,330 66,487
Changes in working capital:

Inventories 5,896 (9,925)
Restricted funds 70,639 189,095
Trade and other receivables (150,015) (228,300)
Trade and other payables 18,284 (100,532)

Cash used in operations (38,235) (84,821)
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34.	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 14 March 2017, the Group transferred its 100% equity interests in Keen Grand Limited (“Keen Grand”), and 

its wholly-owned subsidiary, 博銳互聯網科技有限公司 (Bo Rui Internet Technology Limited*, “Bo Rui”), at zero 
consideration to an independent third party. The principal activities of Keen Grand and Bo Rui are investment 
holding and provision of internet payment business, respectively. The disposal transaction was completed on 14 
March 2017.

The following summarises the consideration and the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities at the date of 
disposal:

HK$’000

Net assets disposed of
Property, plant and equipment 43
Other receivables 79
Bank balances and cash 977
Trade and other payables (1,656)

(557)

Derecognition of exchange reserve upon disposal of subsidiaries (13)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 570

–

Net cash flow on disposal of subsidiaries
Cash consideration –
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (977)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents (977)

*	 English translation for identification purpose only.

35.	 CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, during the year, the 
Group had the following transactions with related parties:

Related party relationship Nature of transaction
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Associates Cost of services 17 –
Sales of POS machines 824 –
Service fee income of POS machines 452 53
Purchase of POS machines 1,830 1,538

Joint venture Management fee expenses 4,355 –
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36.	 MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group had entered the following major non-cash transactions:

(a)	 The issuance of 25,116,279 shares of the Company of approximately HK$41,442,000 to settle the 
Contingent Consideration (see Note 26).

(b)	 Capital injection for incorporation of a subsidiary of approximately HK$34,250,000 was settled against the 
current account with minority shareholder of the subsidiary.

(c)	 Amount due to Qijun Wuhan of RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$40,369,000) was 
reversed and offset against the share of loss from Qijun Wuhan.

37.	 COMMITMENTS
Commitments under operating leases
The Group leases a number of office premises under operating leases, which typically run for a period of 1 to 3 
years. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which are payable as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 11,333 5,960
In the second to fifth years inclusive 10,910 2,332

22,243 8,292

Capital expenditure commitments
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for, net of deposits paid:
– Acquisition of intangible assets – 521
– Acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries/associates 38,331 –

38,331 521

In addition, on 8 October 2014, Qijun Investments Consultancy and an independent third party entered into 

an agreement to acquire 10% equity interests of 中鈔海思信息技術(北京)有限公司 (Zhongchao Hismart 
Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd*, “Zhongchao Hismart”) together with the system development on 
customer consumption behaviour analysis at the aggregate consideration of no more than RMB18 million 
(equivalent to approximately HK$22 million). In February 2017, the agreement lapsed and the deposits paid by 
Qijun Investments Consultancy would be refunded. At 31 March 2017, deposits of RMB5 million (equivalent to 
approximately HK$5.6 million) (2016: RMB5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$6.1 million)) had been paid 
but not yet refunded and reported as “Deposits on investments” as set out in Note 22(c) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

*	 English translation for identification purpose only.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
restricted funds, other investments, cash and bank balances, interest-bearing borrowings, preference 
shares issued by a subsidiary, contingent consideration, derivative financial instruments, bonds payables 
and convertible bonds. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise and maintain finance 
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial instruments such as trade and other 
receivables and trade and other payables, which arise directly from its business activities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are (i) foreign currency risk, (ii) interest 
rate risk, (iii) credit risk, (iv) liquidity risk and (v) price risk. The Group does not have any written risk 
management policies and guidelines. However, the executive directors meet regularly and co-operate 
closely with key management to identify and evaluate risks and generally adopt conservative strategies on 
its risk management and limit the Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum as follows:

(i)	 Foreign currency risk
The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC and Thailand with majority of business 
transactions being denominated and settled in HK$, RMB and Baht.

Certain financial assets of the Group are denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currency of the respective group entities and therefore, exposed to foreign currency risk. The 
carrying amounts of those financial assets are analysed as follows:

2017 2016
Financial assets HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 50,315 –
US$ 10,265 16,624

The Group’s trade receivables arising from the operation of the third party card acquiring business 
in Thailand are mainly denominated in US$. The Directors and the management monitor the 
related foreign currency risk exposure closely and, pursuant to a written foreign currency hedging 
policy as approved by the Directors, the Group would only enter into foreign currency forward 
contracts should needs arise. At 31 March 2017, the Group had outstanding foreign currency 
forward contracts for the exchange of US$ with Baht of US$3,600,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$27,974,000) (2016: US$1,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$11,631,000)). No material 
fair value gain or loss has been recognised for the foreign currency forward contracts.

The Group had loan receivables of approximately HK$50,315,000 denominated in RMB. The Group 
currently does not have a formal currency hedging policy in relation to such foreign currency risk. 
The management monitors the related foreign currency risk exposure on an ongoing basis and will 
consider hedging the currency risk should the need arise.

In addition, as detailed in Note 23 and Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements, part of 
the restricted and unrestricted bank balances and cash are denominated either in RMB or Baht. 
The conversion of RMB and Baht into foreign currencies, including HK$, is subject to the rules 
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC and Thailand government, 
respectively.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(i)	 Foreign currency risk (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the following table indicates the approximate change in the 
Group’s loss before tax (2016: profit before tax) if exchange rate of US$ and RMB had changed 
against the functional currencies of the respective group entities by 5% (2016: 5%) and all other 
variables were held constant:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 2,516 –
US$ 513 831

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rate 
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to each of the Group’s 
exposure to currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other 
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in 
foreign exchange rates over the year until the end of the next reporting period.

(ii)	 Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates is related primarily to its 
interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities including other investments, restricted funds, cash 
and bank balances and interest-bearing borrowings.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all 
other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss before tax (2016: profit before tax) for the year 
would have been approximately HK$3,890,000 (2016: approximately HK$3,784,000) lower/higher 
(2016: higher/lower).

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates would change in the same direction as the changes in its 
interest-bearing balances of financial assets and liabilities as mentioned above.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates 
had occurred throughout the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest 
rate risk for the average balances of the interest-bearing financial assets in existence during the 
reporting period. The 50 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of 
a reasonably possible change in interest rates.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(iii)	 Credit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from other investments, trade and other receivables, restricted funds, cash 
held by a security broker and cash and bank balances. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk 
by rigorously selecting the counterparties with reference to their past credit history and/or market 
reputation. The Group’s exposure to the maximum credit risk is summarised as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other investments 34,570 9,622
Trade and other receivables 664,454 295,189
Restricted funds 451,560 556,930
Cash held by a security broker – 12,554
Cash and bank balances 264,572 230,509

The credit risk on other investments, restricted funds, cash held by a security broker and cash and 
bank balances is limited because the counterparties are financial institutions with high credit ratings 
or recognised and creditworthy third parties and the transactions with them, and any significant 
transactions with other parties, are approved by the Directors. Management does not expect any 
counterparty to fail to meet its obligation.

For trade and other receivables, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual 
debtor, including related and third parties, at the end of each reporting period to ensure adequate 
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as 23% (2016: 48%) 
and 45% (2016: 87%) of the total trade and loan receivables were made up by the Group’s largest 
customer’s and the five largest customers’ outstanding balances respectively.

None of the Group’s financial assets are securitised by collateral or other credit enhancements at 
the end of the reporting period.

(iv)	 Liquidity risk
Management of the Group aims at maintaining sufficient level of cash and cash equivalents to 
finance the Group’s operations and expected expansion. The Group’s primary cash requirements 
include payments for operating expenses and additions or upgrades of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets. The Group finances its working capital requirements mainly by the 
funds generated from operations, public fund raisings and inception of interest-bearing borrowings.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(iv)	 Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on 
contractual undiscounted payments are summarised below:

Within 
one year or 
on demand

After 
one year 

but within 
three years

Upon 
winding up 

of OCG 
Thailand Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2017
Trade and other payables 519,235 – – 519,235
Bonds payables 33,480 417,291 – 450,771
Convertible bonds 3,720 98,146 – 101,866
Other long-term liabilities 

<Remark> – – 1,747 1,747
Contingent consideration  

– consideration shares 64,313 – – 64,313

620,748 515,437 1,747 1,137,932

At 31 March 2016
Trade and other payables 652,969 – – 652,969
Interest-bearing borrowings, 

secured 20,909 – – 20,909
Other long-term liabilities 

<Remark> – – 1,690 1,690
Contingent consideration  

– consideration shares 36,089 63,903 – 99,992

709,967 63,903 1,690 775,560

<Remark>
The estimated annual finance cost of other long-term liabilities approximates to Baht 726,750 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$163,000) (2016: Baht 726,750 (equivalent to approximately HK$161,000)), which is not 
included in the above summary.

(v)	 Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk arising from listed equity investments held under financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to price risk. At the end of the 
reporting period, if the market price had been 5% (2016: 5%) higher/lower while all other variables 
were held constant, the Group’s loss before tax (2016: profit before tax) would be decreased/
increased (2016: increased/decreased) by HK$6,985,000 (2016: HK$10,414,000) due to change in 
the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(v)	 Price risk (continued)

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in 
relevant market price over the year until the end of the next reporting period.

In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent price 
risk because the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during 
the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

(b)	 Categories of financial instruments
Categories of financial instruments of the Group are set out as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loans and receivables:
Trade and other receivables 664,454 295,189
Restricted funds 451,560 556,930
Cash held by a security broker – 12,554
Cash and bank balances 264,572 230,509

1,380,586 1,095,182

Available-for-sales financial assets measured  
at cost less impairment loss:
Other investments 44,030 9,622

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong 139,700 208,280

Financial liabilities measured at amortised costs:
Trade and other payables 519,235 652,969
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured – 20,206
Bonds payables 368,140 –
Convertible bonds 70,284 –
Other long-term liabilities 1,747 1,690

959,406 674,865

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Contingent consideration – consideration shares 64,313 99,992
Derivative financial instruments 18,205 –

82,518 99,992



China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

153

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2017

39.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in 
these financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 
13, “Fair Value Measurement” with the fair value measurement categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

•	 Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Group can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly;

•	 Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

(i)	 Assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Level 1

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets measured at fair value
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong (Note 20) 139,700 208,280

Level 2

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative financial instruments (Note 29) 18,205 –

Level 3

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Contingent consideration – consideration shares (Note 26) 64,313 99,992

During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, there were no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 fair 
value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value measurements
The fair value of derivative financial instruments in Level 2 is calculated using binomial option pricing model. 
The fair value is determined based on main inputs of the quoted market price, observable dividend yields 
and volatility of the underlying listed equities investments and in consideration of contract terms, including 
the exercise price and maturity date.
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39.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(i)	 Assets and liabilities measured at fair value (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
The details of the movements of the recurring fair value measurements categorised as level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy are as follows:

Contingent 
consideration – 

consideration 
shares 

HK$’000

As at 1 April 2015

Initial recognition 67,805
Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss during the year 32,187

As at 1 April 2016 99,992

Settlement (41,442)
Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss during the year 5,763

As at 31 March 2017 64,313

Changes in unrealised loss for the year included in profit or loss for  
liabilities held as at 31 March 2017 5,763

The description of sensitivity of changes in unobservable inputs for recurring level 3 fair value 
measurements, are as follows:

Liability
Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Relationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value

Contingent consideration  
– consideration shares

Income approach Forecasted income The higher the forecasted income, 
the higher the fair value

Forecasted expense The higher the forecasted expense, 
the lower the fair value

The descriptions of the valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value measurement for contingent 
consideration - consideration shares were detailed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

(ii)	 Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value
Except for other investments which fair value cannot be reliably measured, the above financial assets and 
financial liabilities not measured at fair value are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair 
values at 31 March 2017 and 2016.
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40.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital and to support the Group’s stability and growth. The Directors consider the 
total equity as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position as the Group’s capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and 
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the Group. In order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares 
or return capital to shareholders. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

41.	 OTHER AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Group has had the following other and subsequent events:

(a)	 On 5 July 2016, 上海啟峻投資有限公司(Shanghai Qijun Investment Limited*, “Qijun Investment”) and 上
海誠富創業投資有限公司(Shanghai Chengfu Chuangye Investment Limited*, “Chengfu Investment”), an 
independent third party, entered into two loan agreements (the “Previous Loan Agreements”), pursuant 
to which Qijun Investment agreed to grant to Chengfu Investment loans of approximately RMB31 million 
(equivalent to approximately HK$36 million) (the “Previous Loan A”) and approximately RMB9 million 
(equivalent to approximately HK$10.5 million) (the “Previous Loan B”) respectively, which bear an interest 
rate of 12.5% per annum for a term of one year from the date of drawdown.

Prior to entering into the Previous Loan Agreements, on 15 May 2016, Chengfu Investment entered into 

share transfer agreements with (i) 深圳市長亮科技股份有限公司(Shenzhen Changliang Technology Co., 
Limited*, “Changliang Technology”) (the “SPA One”) and (ii) 深圳市鼎恒瑞祥投資企業(有限合夥) (Shenzhen 
Dinghengruixiang Investment Limited (Limited Partnership)*, “Dingheng Investment”) (the “SPA Two”) 
respectively, pursuant to which Changliang Technology and Dingheng Investment agreed to sell and 

Chengfu Investment agreed to acquire 31.63% and 9.25% shareholding interest in 上海銀商資訊有限公司
(China Union Loyalty Co., Limited*, “China Union Loyalty”), a service provider of single-merchant prepaid 
cards in the PRC, at consideration of approximately RMB155 million (equivalent to approximately HK$180 
million), plus accrued interest arising from the SPA One (the “Accrued Interest A”), and approximately 
RMB45 million (equivalent to approximately HK$52.5 million), plus accrued interest arising from the SPA 
Two (the “Accrued Interest B”). After completion of the acquisition of shares in the SPA One and the SPA 
Two, Chengfu Investment’s shareholding in China Union Loyalty will increase from 8.01% to 48.89%.

On 18 August 2016, Qijun Investment and Chengfu Investment further entered into two loan agreements, 
pursuant to which Qijun Investment agreed to grant to Chengfu Investment further loans of approximately 
RMB124 million (equivalent to approximately HK$144 million) plus the Accrued Interest A (collectively the 
“Loan A”) and approximately RMB36 million (equivalent to approximately HK$42 million) plus the Accrued 
Interest B (collectively the “Loan B”) respectively, which bear an interest rate of 12.5% per annum for a 
term of one year from the date of drawdown.

*  English translation for identification purpose only.



156 China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2017

41.	 OTHER AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)
(a)	 (continued)

Further on 18 August 2016, Qijun Investment entered into an agreement (the “Capital Injection Agreement”) 
with Chengfu Investment and the equity holders of Chengfu Investment pursuant to which Qijun Investment 
shall capitalise a sum equivalent to the aggregate amount of the Previous Loan A, the Previous Loan B, 
the Loan A and the Loan B (collectively the “Total Loan”) as equity interest in Chengfu Investment (the 
“Chengfu Capital Injection”). Upon the completion of the Chengfu Capital Injection, approximately RMB55 
million (equivalent to approximately HK$63.5 million) will be recognised as the registered capital of Chengfu 
Investment and the remaining balance of the Total Loan will be recognised as the capital reserve of the 
Chengfu Investment. Accordingly, the Group, via Qijun Investment, will hold approximately 83.6% of the 
enlarged equity interests of Chengfu Investment. Chengfu Investment will become a subsidiary of the 
Group and China Union Loyalty will become an associate of the Group.

At 31 March 2017, approximately RMB210 million (equivalent to approximately HK$237 million) of the 
Total Loan had been paid and was included in “Deposits on investments” as set out in Note 22(c) of the 
consolidated financial statements.

(b)	 On 23 November 2016, Qijun Information Technology entered into a subscription agreement with 廣州
盈通信息科技有限公司 (Guangzhou Yingtong Information Technology Limited*, “Yingtong Information 
Technology”) a company registered in the PRC and an independent third party, pursuant to which Qijun 

Information Technology agreed to subscribe 23.08% of the enlarged issued share capital of 廣州盈通電子
科技有限公司 (Guangzhou Yingtong Electronic Technology Limited*, “Yingtong Electronic Technology”), 
a wholly owned subsidiary of Yingtong Information Technology, for a consideration of RMB15,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$16.9 million). The principal activity of Yingtong Electronic Technology 
is provision of system development services. At 31 March 2017, deposits of RMB3 million (equivalent to 
approximately HK$3.4 million) had been paid and was included in “Deposits on investments” as set out 
in Note 22(c) to the consolidated financial statements. Upon completion of the transaction, the Group 
will hold 23.08% equity interest in Yingtong Electronic Technology. Yingtong Electronic Technology will 
become an associate of the Group. The transaction is not yet completed at the date of approving the 
consolidated financial statements.

(c)	 On 30 August 2016, Shanghai Yongle entered into a term sheet with an independent third party, pursuant 
to which Shanghai Yongle intends to acquire non-controlling stake of a company established in the PRC 
(the “PRC Entity”) for a consideration of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$16.9 million). 
The PRC Entity is principally engaged in financial technology business in the PRC. At 31 March 2017, such 
consideration had been fully paid and was included in “Deposits on investments” as set out in Note 22(c) 
to the consolidated financial statements. Upon completion of the transaction, the PRC Entity will become 
an associate of the Group. The transaction is not yet completed at the date of approving the consolidated 
financial statements.

*  English translation for identification purpose only.
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41.	 OTHER AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)
(d)	 On 14 June 2017, Keen Best Investments Limited (“Keen Best”), the wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company, entered into a memorandum of understanding (the “MOU”) with i) China Minsheng Financial 
Holding Corporation Limited (“China Minsheng”), an independent third party and the issued shares of 
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and ii) four management personnel of Massnet 
Microcredit (the “Massnet Microcredit Management”), pursuant to which:

i)	 Keen Best shall dispose 74.33% and 6.67% of the issued shares of Union Evernew, an immediate 
holding company of Massnet Microcredit, to China Minsheng and the Massnet Microcredit 
Management at consideration of RMB278,750,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$314,262,000) 
and RMB21,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$24,352,000), respectively (together as the 
“Proposed Disposal”); and

ii)	 Pursuant to the MOU, as a condition precedent to the completion of final agreement on the 
Proposed Disposal, Union Evernew shall acquire 9.8% equity interest of Massnet Microcredit from 
Haitong International Financial Solutions Limited, the minority shareholder of Massnet Microcredit, 
at a consideration not more than RMB31,752,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$35,797,000) (the 
“Share Purchase”).

Upon completion of the Share Purchase and the Proposed Disposal, the Group’s equity interests in Union 
Evernew will be decreased to 19%. Accordingly, Union Evernew and its subsidiary, Massnet Microcredit, 
will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company and become associates of the Group. Details of the 
transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 14 June 2017. These transactions are not 
yet completed at the date of approving the consolidated financial statements.
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42.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets   
Interests in subsidiaries 1,686,311 1,189,607
Property, plant and equipment 328 543

1,686,639 1,190,150

Current assets
Other receivables 2,431 552
Cash and bank balances 6,017 91,295

8,448 91,847

Current liabilities
Other payables 10,537 2,551

Net current (liabilities) assets (2,089) 89,296

Non-current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 18,205 –
Bonds payable 368,140 –
Convertible bonds 70,284 –

456,629 –

NET ASSETS 1,227,921 1,279,446

Capital and reserves
Share capital 30 14,611 14,526
Reserves 42(a) 1,213,310 1,264,920

TOTAL EQUITY 1,227,921 1,279,446

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 23 June 2017 and signed on its behalf by

Zhang Huaqiao Cao Guoqi
Director Director
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42.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(a)	 Movements of the reserves

Share 
premium

Share 
option 

reserve

Convertible 
bonds 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Note (Note 31(a)) (Note 32)

At 1 April 2015 583,562 63,930 – (97,654) 549,838

Loss for the year and total  
comprehensive loss for the year – – – (83,671) (83,671)

Transactions with owners:
Contribution and distribution
Issue of convertible bonds – – 130,690 – 130,690
Recognition of share-based compensation cost – 66,487 – – 66,487
Conversion of convertible bonds issued  

under the subscription agreements 30(a) 154,404 – (65,340) – 89,064
Conversion of convertible bonds issued  

under the placing agreements 30(b) 155,050 – (65,350) – 89,700
Consideration shares issued upon  

the subscription in July 2015 30(c) 74,670 – – – 74,670
Shares issued upon subscription in January 2016 30(d) 348,142 – – – 348,142

Total transactions with owners 732,266 66,487 – – 798,753

At 31 March 2016 1,315,828 130,417 – (181,325) 1,264,920

At 1 April 2016 1,315,828 130,417 – (181,325) 1,264,920

Loss for the year and total  
comprehensive loss for the year – – – (127,918) (127,918)

Transactions with owners:
Contribution and distribution
Recognition of share-based compensation cost – 62,330 – – 62,330
Cancellation of repurchased shares 30(e) (27,213) – – – (27,213)
Consideration shares issued upon fulfillment  

of performance target in January 2017 30(f) 41,191 – – – 41,191

Total transactions with owners 13,978 62,330 – – 76,308

At 31 March 2017 1,329,806 192,747 – (309,243) 1,213,310

At 31 March 2017, other than share premium as stated in Note 31(a) to the consolidated financial 
statements, no other distributable reserve is available for distribution to shareholders by the Company.
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Financial Summary

A summary of the Group’s results for the last five financial years and the assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 
March 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013, as extracted from the published audited financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2017, 31 March 2016, 31 March 2015, 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013 without any adjustments, is 
set out below.

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULTS

Revenue 489,121 598,300 333,388 148,475 84,575

Cost of services rendered and 
cost of goods sold (268,071) (394,074) (270,289) (112,536) (57,356)

Gross profit 221,050 204,226 63,099 35,939 27,219

Other income 1,881 2,553 858 128 60
General administrative expenses (234,837) (176,810) (113,972) (34,428) (14,130)
Selling and distribution costs (52,149) (38,129) (7,522) (2,900) (2,884)
Finance costs (31,095) (10,601) (2,534) (37) (33)
Fair value loss on contingent 

consideration – consideration shares (5,763) (32,187) – – –
Fair value gain on derivative financial 

instruments 8,617 – – – –
Fair value (loss) gain on financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss (68,580) 139,700 – – –
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 570 – – – –
Gain on disposal of equity interest in 

an associate – 48 – – –
Impairment loss on goodwill (988) – – – –
Share of result of joint ventures 265 6 (1,167) – –
Share of result of associates (1,874) (991) (1,519) – –

(Loss) Profit before tax (162,903) 87,815 (62,757) (1,298) 10,232

Income tax expense (9,817) (17,384) (7,740) (6,403) (5,166)

(Loss) Profit for the year (172,720) 70,431 (70,497) (7,701) 5,066

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company (174,396) 63,820 (78,232) (17,762) (500)
Non-controlling interest 1,676 6,611 7,735 10,061 5,566

(172,720) 70,431 (70,497) (7,701) 5,066

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets 2,351,152 2,183,472 1,483,749 184,116 97,545
Total liabilities (1,055,490) (793,698) (899,381) (41,525) (79,074)

Net assets 1,295,662 1,389,774 584,368 142,591 18,471
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